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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBEEE

Operating results (RMB’'000) #EX&(AR%¥ T )
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For the year ended 31 December

BE12A3MALEE
2024 2023 Increase/(Decrease)
20245 2023% EA/(TE)
%
966,816 919,684 47,132 5.1
115,262 74,144 41,118 55.5
(50,147) (80,950) 30,803 38.1
11.9 8.1 3.8 46.9
(5.2) (8.8) 3.6 40.9
(22.7) (28.9) 6.2 215
(5.4) (8.7) 3.3 37.9
1.0 1.1 0.1 (9.1
1.0 1.1 0.1 (9.1
92.3 96.5 4.2) (4.4)
55.7 55.9 (0.2) (0.4)
102.8 61.6 41.2 66.9%
Net cash Net cash
position position N/A N/A
FEREMR FReMNR i A i A
(0.13) (0.19) 0.06 31.6



DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise RAFHAP  BNXESEFEIN  THAE
requires, the following terms and expressions shall have RFAZBEBUWTRE - ZF X[ FCHE
the meanings set out below. The English translation of fEEM RG] BMREEZERBFZH -
company names in Chinese or another language which

are marked with “*" for identification purposes only.

“Anhui Bund”

“Audit Committee”
[EZZES

“Bengbu Zhi Xin”

[ B (E ]

“Board” or “Board of
Directors”

[Exg

Anhui Bund Property Management Company Limited* (%2 9N gk ¥ %
ER AR AR, a limited liability company established in the PRC on
26 December 2005, which was a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to
49% by Anhui Wan Tou Property Company Limited* (& #ft% & %
BREMEAF) a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level until the Company disposed of its entire interest in December 2020.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 22 December 2020
for further details

TRINEMEEBER AT - —HMR2005F12 268 FEF R W B R
BEERA BRAXRRRAEZEMBAR  AARAIRLZBRRKRE X
EREFTAAB(RRARAMBARIEENBEAL) D RIBEEESI% R
49% ° AR 20205 NR2ALERAELRBIINE 2 28R - £—FH
BASHESHAAB00FN2ANA% B2 AE

the audit committee of the Company

RRAREMEZES

Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company Limited* (BT EEWEBR A
Al), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 13 September
2004 and a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is indirectly
owned as to 58% by the Company, as to 12% by an Independent Third
Party and as to 30% by Bengbu Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (¥ 1B & &
B BR 72 7]), a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level
HIETEFEYWEBRLDA - —MR2004FIABAEFRBEK I FR
BERRA AEARGINETEMBAR  AXRAIEEEAFSE%S  —
EBIUFE=ZFHEANNLHEEREEEAFR AT (RARAIMEBARER
WEEAL)HEE30%

the board of Directors of the Company

AKRARMEESE

SEITHREERARAR F82024 3



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“BVI"
[RBRAES] |

“CG Code”
[ & A58l i1

“"Company”
/NI 5

“connected person”

[ AL 15
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”
[ 12 % A% 3R it

“Director(s)”

[E%] i1
“Group”
(A& E | i1

U

"Hebei Puhehang’

[A 4L om0 17 ] tC

“HK$” Or “HK dollars” or
“HK cents”

BTl B e

“"Hong Kong” or “"HK"”
[& %5 i1

the British Virgin Islands
REBRZEES

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules

EFHRBMECIFEERER TR

Riverine China Holdings Limited (B L Bl AB R A R]), an exempted
company incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 27 July 2016
LA BEZERABER AR - R2016F7A27BREBEREH S AR TMA L
MEREEREERT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
EBLMRBAETZANRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of the Company, means a group of controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Partner Summit, Vital Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth,
Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune and Mr. Chen

EALTRAMETZANRE  BRARQRAME  BARARERK
REE Rem ZEH -HEE R B4 EHEREE

the director(s) of the Company
ARARMES

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRR R EHK B QA

Hebei Puhehang Property Management Co., Limited* (a4t E 174
X¥TEAREMAR]), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 16 March 2021, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and is indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by
Independent Third Parties

AIBMITYEERAREET AR R20215F3R16BEFEKILIAE
REELA  XAAKWIELZ2EWNBLRAA  AARAIBEEERNY% B
MNE=ZFTHEELI%

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEEN BEENEEEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEFEFITHE
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“Hong Xin”

[33h R

“Independent Third

Party(ies)”

(B E=7]

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Rules”
[ET#8 81
“Model Code”

LT

S8

“Mr. Chen”
[ 5t 4 |

“Mr. Fu”
[fEE4E]

“Mr. Xiao”

[H k4]

“Mr. Xiao YQ"

BT &ELE]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Hong Xin Environmental Group Company Limited* (BARIRIEE BB R
2 \]) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 5 July 2000,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is indirectly owned
as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Independent Third Parties
BRI R E AR AT - R2000F7ASBEFRBIK I AEREE AR
RARBINFEL2EMBRR  HARGMEEEN%  BILE="%H
49%

an individual(s) or a company(ies) who or which is/are independent
and not connected with (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) any
directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates and not otherwise a connected person of the
Company

BINRARR - EMBRARAIZEMNES HRTRABXRETERR(CE
ERFTHRANIEZEZEMNBEALR BEBE(TER ETHR
ADMIERRA 2 @EALTHEALRA]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRADFEREZ PTER BT

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BXMESFLTARA  ETRER M ARMIT A EK

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIMECIFAE LT BITAESETE SR INFRETH

Mr. Chen Yao (FR ), the Controlling Shareholder
PR IZ A - IERR AR R

Mr. Fu Qichang ({8 & &), the Controlling Shareholder, vice-chairman of
the Board and an executive Director

BEELELE ERRR EFCRIFERATES

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (H %), the Controlling Shareholder, chairman of the
Board and an executive Director

BEEBELE BEBRR BEFTSXIFRITES

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (H T &), an executive Director, chief executive officer,
and the son of Mr. Xiao

BEYBRE WTESRTREILELEENE T

SEITHEERARAR F82024 5



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Nanjing Songzhu”

[ AT 5

“Nantong Pu Sheng”

[FE @ E s ]
“Ningbo Plaza”
[ R I T & 35 | &

“Partner Summit”

== b=
“Period”
[ 58 A | 18

“Pine Fortune”

[= ] 15
“PRC" or “China”
[ B | Ei1

Nanjing Songzhu Property Management Company Limited* (& &= #2177 ¥
¥ EE AR AF]), alimited liability company established in the PRC on 5
July 2012, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 44% by the Company and 56% by two Independent Third Parties
MRRAMYMEERAERAR - —HEPBENR2012F7ASEXZNER
BERR BRARAIBMECLHE BHARFHEEBMM% BB E L
E=FHE6%

Nantong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Company Limited* (79 3& i 5% &
BEW ¥ B TR A A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
18 October 2017, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Nantong
Sheng He Property Management Limited* (FG@ R MEEIEEGR A A])
EEAREEMEBRAR - —HR2017F10R18EEFRBEKIHNE
REMERR  ARFWNEZEMBRR ARG REEBNMESE
1B RN E 5 R fE & B 51% K%49%

Ningbo Plaza Property Management Company Limited* (Z& % m ¥ ™ /& 15
Y EIE B R QA alimited liability company established in the PRC on
20 January 1995, an associated company of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 49% by the Company and 51% by an Independent Third
Party

ERMHTESWEEEARLQA - —EEPBERI1995F1 8208 5K
VHEBERBEERR  RARABMECE  AAXARAREEFI9% KA
— BB E=FEEEEN%

Partner Summit Holdings Limited (& /= % & & R 2 F]), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is owned as
to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune and is
one of the Controlling Shareholders

EEERARRAR > —HER2016F6H16BERBERABRE XESEET
M BRAGR  AEH  REAREEDHIEBET% ~ 10% K3%
BERERBRREZ—

the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A318LFE

Pine Fortune Global Limited (& (R Bk A R A 7)), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chen and is one of the Controlling Shareholders
ERRXERAR - —HR2016F6A16BRBERBE X HEEAET
MKW BERAR - DHREEZEHEE  BERERRR 2—

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of this annual
report, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

hEARKAME  BRAFEME - FEEES RFARAE

6 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024



“Pujiang Holding”

IR T %2 A%

“Pujiang Property”

Bipn/EN

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

TAR%]

"SFO”

5 5 R B ' A

“Shanghai Bund”

[ £ o]

“Shanghai Bund Green”

[ £ INEERAE]

“Shanghai Bund Ke Pu”

[ £8 5N R

“Shanghai Jie Gu”

[Eaha]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Shanghai Pujiang Holding Company Limited* (L 88 /T A R A R),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18 June 2007, which
was beneficially owned as to 87% by Mr. Xiao, 10% by Mr. Fu and 3%
by Mr. Chen
EEBIERERAR - —ER2007F6A1BAEHRBEKRYHARE
ERA DRBHEEE BEEKRAEEEREFE7%  10% M3% MK
&

Shanghai Pujiang Property Company Limited* (/88T ¥ B R A7),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 December 2002
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EEBBIMEERAR  —HAEFBERN2002F12A2BK LN ARE
ERAF  BRARAINEEZENERR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Securities and Future ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
(BHERBEBROINEBEOFESNE) BTKER - A AHA
7 B

Shanghai Bund Property Company Limited* (/8 5N# ¥ B R A A)), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 April 1996 and an
indirect associated company of the Company
EEBINENEERAR > —HAERBERI996F4AHK LN AR S F
RA RARA W HEERS BXE

Shanghai Bund Green Construction Company Limited* (_t & 9MN# 4k 1t
ZERAMR AR, a limited liability company established in the PRC on
10 August 2004 and a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and indirectly owned as to 67% by the Company and as to 33% by an
Independent Third Party

FBMNEZRLERERBERAR - —BEFBENR2004F8H10BKZH A
REEQAR  BHARRMEERBI%NRBE—BBLE=7E33%

Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering Management Company Limited* (L
BINERETREE®R AR AR, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 30 November 2004, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and indirectly owned as to 97% by the Company and as to 3%
by an Independent Third Party

EHEMERBIREEAR AR - —HR2004F11H308 &+ B K 2
WEREERA  BREARAIF2ENBRA  HARAIBERAIT%
EH—EZBIE=FEE3I%

Shanghai Jie Gu Technology Company Limited* (L& AR AR A A,
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 3 May 2016 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EFENMAREBRAR  —EEFRBER2016F5HA3BKR LN BREE
NAE BRARTNEEEZEMRB AT

SEITHREERARAR F82024 7



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Shanghai Jiu Yi"”

[EBAME]

“Shanghai Qiang Sheng”

[ LA ]

“Shanghai Rui Zheng”
[ I % 3 IE |

“Shanghai Xin Di”

[E/&md]

“Share(s)”
[ A% 15 ]

“Share Option Scheme”
[RE M w5t &)

“Shareholder(s)"”
[ A% 3R |

Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Management Company Limited* (_t /&A1& %)
¥ ZEIE AR AF]), alimited liability company established in the PRC on 8
April 1996, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by an Independent
Third Party

FHAGHEERERAR - —REFRBEMCFI4AHEK LN B R
BEERA  REARFINEEZENBRR  HARAIHEEEEI% R—
BELE=ZFHEBAIO%

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Company Limited* (L /88 AW ¥ B R
72 A)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 17 December
1992, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned as
to 48.53% by the Company and as to 51.47% by an Independent Third
Party

FEBREMERERLDA  —HEPBEMINFZATTEXNLINERE
ERA RARRABMERLE  AARABEHEBILS3% NBE—EH L
FE=TEEEARS1.47%

Shanghai Pujiang Rui Zheng Property Company Limited* (_t /&8 T %5 IE
Y% BB A 7A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 8
January 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EBBEIMEMERRAT - —EEPEN2004F1A8B K LM B R
BEERQR RARFTNEEZEMB AR

Shanghai Dong Fang Xin Di Commercial Service Company Limited* (£ /&
HAEMBAEKERBERAF]), a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 10 December 2015, an associated company of the Company
and indirectly owned as to 45% by the Company and as to 55% by an
Independent Third Party
FERITMEMBRBERLQA - —HEPER2015F128108 KL
MERBEERA  RARABERLE AXRGEEERLIS% LH—
ZEILFE=FREEEB5%

share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RARRAS EREEC.ONE T RN

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 15
November 2017
RAB 201711 158 B 16 1 5% 48 &) B AR v 51 &)

holder(s) of issued Share(s)

ERTRONTAEA
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“Sino Ease”

[ %2 |

"

“Source Forth

[ R

“sq. ft.”
RLN

“Sq. m.”

[ 75K

“Stock Exchange” or
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”

(B3 AT sk [ B BB AP 48

"Vital Kingdom”

EXil

“Zhong Min Zhi Da"”

[FPREE]

"%" or "Per Cent”
[%]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Sino Ease Global Limited (R &R EKA R A 7)), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is
directly wholly-owned by the Company

FLRIRHKARRA - —HR2016F6A16HRBERBE R BB AET
MARZOBRRR  REARGHNEEEZ2ENBRA

Source Forth Limited (RRIEPBRZAF]), a company incorporated under
laws of the BVI on 8 June 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly-
owned by Mr. Fu and is one of the Controlling Shareholders
RBEBERAR  —HR2016F6 AR BRBREXHSAMKINE
RAR - DHERE2ERE BREBRBRRZ—

square feet

FHR

square metre
IR

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BEREBMAERZIMARRDE

Vital Kingdom Investments Limited (£ & & H R A7), a company
incorporated under laws of the BVI on 17 May 2016 with limited liability,
which is wholly-owned by Mr. Xiao and is one of the Controlling
Shareholders

ZHEEARAAF - —ER2016F5RA17TERBREBE R BB EET
MRZBBRRR - NHELXE2EHE BRERBRRE Z—

Zhong Min Zhi Da (Shanghai) Information Technology Company Limited*
(FEEE(LEBEEREABERAQA), alimited liability company
established in the PRC on 13 November 2018, an joint venture company
of the Company and indirectly owned as to 63.8% by the Company and
36.2% by four independent third parties

TREZ(LB)EAMKRAERRAR - —HM2018F1MAIBERN T B K
VHBRRAT  BRARANEGERLERA HARARHEEF63.8%
BakMEBLE=THEE362%En

per centum or percentage
B

EITHREERARAR F8§2024 9



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao

Ms. Wang Hui

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yongjun

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Dong
Mr. Weng Guogiang
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (Chairman)
Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Weng Guogiang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Cheng Dong (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Weng Guogiang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Weng Guogiang

HEADQUARTER IN THE PRC
14th Floor, Jiushi Tower

28 South Zhongshan Road
Shanghai, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG
Room 1918, 19/F
Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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THE GROUP
REH

The Group is a comprehensive provider of urban public
services in the PRC and is mainly engaged in the
provision of property management service for high-end
non-residential properties, leases services of commercial
buildings, catering services and integrated urban sanitary
services in the PRC.

The Group provides a wide range of property
management services and value-added services to a
variety of properties. The properties managed by the
Group can generally be classified into four categories
based on nature and usage, which are comprised of
(i) public properties (including public arenas such as
cultural venues, stadiums, exhibition halls and public
transportation properties such as rail station and airport
etc.); (ii) commercial establishments (including shopping
malls, hotels, commercial and entertainment complexes)
and office buildings; (iii) residential properties; and (iv)
others (including schools, land parcels, industrial areas
and properties under construction).

The integrated urban sanitary services include
road cleaning, refuse classification, collection and
transportation and maintenance of public environmental
sanitary facilities such as public toilets and garbage
containers.
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Mr. Xiao Xingtao HEE L &
Chairman E &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Riverine China
Holdings Limited together with its subsidiaries, | would
like to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

ANNUAL REVIEW

The Group continued to press ahead with the operating
strategies in 2024 under the principle of “enhancing the
foundation of property services, optimizing the layout
of urban services, improving the overall service capacity
and promoting the market of science and technology
products” with expected goals achieved.

For property services, the Company continued to improve
its nationwide geographical layout, enrich the product mix
of property services, improve service quality and customer
experience, as well as expand the size of its core business
and improve its professional service capacity.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ETRBEE

B e R

AANERRBIPRERERATIESTS E
RIEMBATMRAREANEEE =2024F12
A3BIEFEEMFERE

FEEE
AEEBEBEUNRAMERBEER - BB
MREHE - RABECRBEE N HERK
EMMBARE NIT2024F M E & KB
WESEHBEE -

EWMERBGES  #EZTZARNE2ELRE
i HELEVERBERGE  #E
REREEENEPHREESY  HEEX
TERBRE BERATRANZEZLRS

4k
BE °
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREREE

In the field of urban services, the Group achieved the
steady growth with business in existed geographic
areas and progressively seeking for market chances
in new areas. Meanwhile, the Company is proactively
promoting the development of comprehensive urban
service business integrating property, sanitary, public
parking operation and intelligent building, laying a
solid foundation for building the Company into a
comprehensive provider of urban sanitary services.

For science and technology services, while enhancing
investments, the Company applied and optimized the
information technology system for building services
based on the Internet of Things and cloud computing
which was profoundly applied in property service
projects. In the meantime, we invested resources into
the development and application of information tools for
project operation and maintenance business in property
management to strengthen the building of its core
competitiveness.

Meanwhile, the Company continued to carry out

resources preparation and business exploration in asset
management, corporate service and other fields.
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Through effective business layout and active cost control,
the Company has maintained stable gross profit margin
while expanding its business scale and maintaining
customer stickiness. With the maturity of information
and technology products, the investment in technological
development will continue to fall; the application
of information and technology products will further
improve corporate efficiency; the sales of information
and technology products will realise contribution of
revenue from information and technology products.
With the better synergy of sanitary business and public
parking operation services with property management
services, together with the growth of leases services of
commercial buildings, the Group is full of confidence in
its future development prospects and profitability.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
total revenue was approximately RMB966.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately 5.1% from
RMB919.7 million for the previous year. For the year ended
31 December 2024, net loss was approximately RMB50.1
million, representing a decrease of approximately 38.1%
from RMB81.0 million for the previous year.

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ETRBEE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREREE

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to provide quality
property management services as well as value-added
services targeting the commercial interests of customers,
and develop and provide quality sanitary services for
urban management. The Group plans to continuously
grow its business efficiently and strategically through
acquisitions and mergers, investments, joint ventures and
business collaboration. The Group will expand its business
vertically along the industry chain and the supply chain
of the property management industry. In addition, the
Group will strengthen the application of its information
technology system as well as enhance its service quality
for the customers and users of the properties under
its management while launching the marketing of its
information technology system to generate more revenues
for the Group. Last but not least, the Group will promote
the mechanism within the Company’s departments and the
mechanism to coordinate subsidiaries in different regions to
improve its operating efficiency. With the in-depth strength
of the Group in capturing market opportunities, its well-
established brand name in the industry and the strong
growth potential in the property management industry and
sanitary industry, the Directors believe that the Group’s
business will continue to grow thereby further driving the
growth of its market share and profits.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my
gratitude on behalf of the Board to the Shareholders,
business partners, customers and suppliers for their
great support and trust. | would also like to express my
appreciation to the management and all the staff for
their contributions and efforts during the past year.

Xiao Xingtao
Chairman
31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The urbanization development of the PRC has been
gradually accelerating since 1980s with urbanization
rate increasing from only 19.4% in 1980 to 67.00% in
2024. As compared with the average urbanization rate
of approximately 70% in developed countries, there
are further potential for urbanization development in
the PRC. Improved urbanization has led to an increased
demand for residential and other property projects,
resulting in an increased demand for comprehensive
urban public services including property management
services, sublease services from investment properties
and urban sanitary services.

However, amid the global economic downturn, the
recovery of post-pandemic economy remained sluggish
and also resulted in the reduction of government
expenditure. The property management and urban
sanitary industry continued to face various risks and
challenges.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group, through its operating subsidiaries and
investments in associates, provides a wide range of
comprehensive urban public services, including property
management services with valued-added services to a
variety of properties in the PRC, sublease services from
investment properties and urban sanitary services to
various areas.

The properties managed by the Group are mainly
located in Shanghai and expanded to Beijing, Tianjin,
Anhui, Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Shandong, Hubei, Hebei and
Shaanxi provinces. The urban sanitary services are mainly
performed in Fujian, Sichuan and Xinjiang provinces.

During the Period, the Group through its subsidiaries and
investments in associated companies had entered into
609 property management agreements for the provision
of various kinds of property management services for
the properties in the PRC, representing an increase of
approximately 7.8% as compared with the 565 property
management agreements in the same period of 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

During the Period, approximately 71.4% of total
revenue was generated from the provision of property
management services, of which approximately 91.5%
was attributable to non-residential properties whereas
the remaining approximately 8.5% was generated from
provision of property management services to residential
properties. Also, approximately 24.1% of the Group’s
total revenue was generated from the provision of urban
sanitary services, approximately 2.1% of the Group’s
total revenue was generated from catering services,
approximately 1.1% of the Group's total revenue was
generated from sublease services from investment
properties, and approximately 1.3% of the Group's total
revenue was generated from other service.

The Group’s property management services have been
and will continue to be strategically focused on high-end
non-residential properties in the PRC and the Group's
urban sanitary service is an important part of the
comprehensive urban public services.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues by
type of services provided for the period indicated.

HIR BIRETO74% B RAREN DX
EERE HBHNNS5%IELEAMIEEE
MEREYEEERYS  MBTL85%TIR
BRTEVEREYEERERE - AK - K
EEBWEPL281%EEERERER
BRI > #21% EXABREZERRE - O
% DEXERHEBEEMFEHEEHRE -
AN3%HELXBEEMRE -

& B 1 W) 3B IR RIS 16 AR I S A AR BER 1
WEAEARTESWHIFEEDE MAEED
WERREREAUMESARRBENEEA
X EB D ©

TREIRATIHBEREERBELE S
m A e

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MHLEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
R hHBE
& BOk I &5 Btk
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT
Property management services & % il ¥ ¥ & 12 iR 1%
on the lump sum basis 689,313 71.3% 685,049 74.4%
Property management services Bl & Il #) % & 12 IR 75
on the fixed remuneration
basis 1,394 0.1% 1,486 0.2%
Urban sanitary services Yk $8 IR 7 AR 7% 232,440 24.1% 226,468 24.6%
Catering services Z RS 20,106 21% 6,174 0.7%
Other service H AR 7 12,732 1.3% — —
Sublease services from REHFEHEEME
investment properties Bk 7 10,831 1.1% 507 0.1%
Total BET 966,816 100.0% 919,684 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues TER&HINIZFMRHAHEEWERLEHKRE
from providing property management services by type of 1REWEEE RBEHURSHMA -
managed properties for the period indicated.

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
pLipZ:} 2023
2024F 2023%
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
LB eGR4
U 3% BA W &= B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBTT
Commercial establishments & ¥ 44 82
office buildings oA KIE 377,953 54.7% 419,263 61.1%
Public properties NRYE 179,035 25.9% 166,238 24.2%
Residential properties FEWE 58,654 8.5% 62,023 9.0%
Others H 75,065 10.9% 39,011 5.7%
Total 85 690,707 100.0% 686,535 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues from
providing urban sanitary services by various areas for the
period indicated.

NREY R AR HIRE S F R E 2k A 1R T
WHERFERB A S HA o

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12831ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
G H A%
g Bok U % Bl
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBEF T
Fujian mE 132,028 56.8% 136,443 60.3%
Sichuan g )l 46,317 19.9% 50,092 22.1%
Others H b 54,095 23.3% 39,933 17.6%
Total 4t 232,440 100.0% 226,468 100.0%
HUMAN RESOURCES ADER

The Group employed 4,636 employees comprising 2,328
female employees and 2,308 male employees as of 31
December 2024. The Group also subcontracted part of
the labour intensive work, such as security, cleaning and
gardening services and certain specialized engineering
repairs and maintenance works to sub-contractors. The
employment contracts either have no fixed terms, or
if there are fixed terms, the terms are generally up to
three years, after which the Group evaluates renewals
based on performance appraisals. All of the full-time
employees are paid a fixed salary and may be granted
other allowances, based on their positions. In addition,
discretionary bonuses may also be awarded to employees
based on the employee's performance. The Group
conducts regular performance appraisals to ensure that
the employees receive feedback on their performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

The Group has striven to develop as an operator for
systematic urban management engaging in environmental
and property management businesses in core regions
around the country. Currently, the Group has been
actively developing its business in the cities along the
eastern coast, as well as the regions along the Yangtze
River by extending the horizontal development of
complementary products and vertical development along
the industrial chain. The Group has gradually kick-started
its acquisition and investment activities. Against the
backdrop of global economic downturn, the Group will
carry out its acquisition activities in a prudent manner,
and focus more on those businesses of superior synergy
effects with comprehensive urban public services, such
as sublease services from investment properties and
operation of urban public parking resources.

As a leading service provider in the non-residential
property management service industry, the Group
will continue to build up its core competitiveness in
equipment and facilities maintenance technology.
We endeavor to achieve innovative development in
engineering technology with our ability to operate and
maintain the online and offline integrated engineering
equipment and facility for Shanghai Bund Ke Pu as well
as professional resources synchronization mechanism.

Furthermore, based on various technologies, such as
the Internet of Things, the Internet, 3D technology and
big data, the Group will continue to utilize its property
management business as a pilot business to develop a
self-owned open source smart building system, “Dynamic
Building Matrix" ("DBM") to manage the data of basic
status of buildings, which allows the provision of data
and information as well as professional services to
relevant parties, including property owners, property
users, managers and regulators. In 2024, we continued
to achieve the sales of this system to customers at home
and abroad. The Group will ensure the stability and
reliability of our advanced technology, prudently expand
the market at home and abroad and gradually realize the
output effect of our technology investment in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

Facing the challenge of poor post-pandemic macroeconomic
environment, the Group will continue to deepen its strategic
positioning, assess and measure the risks, and identify and
seize the opportunities in this crisis.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased to approximately
RMB966.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
as compared with the revenue amounted to
approximately RMB919.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in revenue was primarily
due to (i) the expansion in property management services
and urban sanitary service business scale; (ii) the newly
launched cultural services; (iii) the development of
catering services; and (iv) the business resumed after
renovation in sublease services from investment
properties which leads to the increase in rental income.

Cost of services provided

The Group’s cost of services provided increased by
approximately 0.7% to approximately RMB851.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB845.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in cost of service provided
was primarily due to the newly launched cultural services
and the development of catering services which leads to
the increase in relevant staff, food ingredients and
service costs.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately
55.5% to approximately RMB115.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB74.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 due to an
increase in revenue and decrease in the cost of services
provided. Gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2024 increased to 11.9% as compared with
the gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December
2023 at approximately 8.1%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains decreased to
approximately RMB11.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB26.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in other
income and gains was primarily due to the one-off
investment gain from disposal of Shanghai Bund in 2023.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 36.7% to approximately RMB38.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately RMB28.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in selling and distribution
expenses was primarily due to the increase in staff
expenses as the the Group’s expansion in business scale
and the development of catering services which leads to
the increase in depreciation of right-of-use assets.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses kept stable at approximately
RMB119.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
as compared with the administrative expenses of
approximately RMB118.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Changes in fair value of investment properties
Changes in fair value of investment properties decreased
to approximately RMB12.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB48.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in
changes in fair value of investment properties was
primarily due to the business resumed after renovation in
sublease services and the increase in rental income.

Interest expenses

The interest expenses increased to approximately
RMB16.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
from approximately RMB14.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The increase in the interest expenses
was primarily due to the increase in average interest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings during the
Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures
The shares of profits of joint ventures with the amount
of RMB1.6 million was primarily due to the profits shared
from Hefei Zheng Wen, despite being partially offset by
the losses shared from Zhong Min Zhi Da.

Share of profits and losses of associates

Share of profit of associates increased by approximately
51.6% to approximately RMB13.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB9.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 which was
primarily due to the increase in profits shared from
Shanghai Qiang Sheng.

Income tax

The income tax expense was approximately RMB5.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. As
compared with the income tax credit amounted to
approximately RMB22.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was primarily due to the decrease
in losses before tax.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, the net loss was
approximately RMB50.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, while the net loss for the year ended
31 December 2023 was approximately RMB81.0 million.
The net loss margin was 5.2% for the year ended 31
December 2024, while the net loss margin was 8.8% for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Intangible assets and goodwiill

The intangible assets and goodwill primarily included
customer relationship and goodwill obtained from a
business combination. The intangible assets and goodwill
decreased to approximately RMB18.6 million as at 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB38.2 million as
at 31 December 2023, which was primarily due to the
impairment of goodwill.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade Receivables

The trade receivables increased by approximately 7.6% to
approximately RMB253.3 million as at 31 December 2024
from approximately RMB235.5 million as at 31 December
2023. The trade receivables turnover (average trade
receivables divided by revenue multiplied by 365 days)
was 92.3 days (2023: 96.5 days).

Prepayments and other receivables

The prepayments and other receivables increased by
approximately 12.1% to approximately RMB122.6 million
as at 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB109.4
million as at 31 December 2023. The increase in
prepayments and other receivables is primarily due to the
increase in deposits of urban sanitary services.

Trade payables

The trade payables increased by approximately 4.7% to
approximately RMB132.9 million as at 31 December 2024
from approximately RMB126.9 million as at 31 December
2023, which generally kept stable. The trade payables
turnover (average trade payables divided by cost of
services provided multiplied by 365 days) decreased to
55.7 days (2023: 55.9 days).

Other payables and accruals

The other payables and accruals increased by
approximately 19.8% to approximately RMB151.1 million
as at 31 December 2024 as compared with the balance
of approximately RMB126.1 million as at 31 December
2023, which was mainly due to the increase in receipts
on behalf of residents.

Cash Flow

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net cash from
operating activities was approximately RMB24.7 million.
The net cash used in investing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB19.2
million. The net cash from financing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB8.9
million, which was primarily due to the increase in bank
loans and other borrowings, which partially offset with
dividends and interest paid.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2024, one property leased by the
Group was recognized as the investment property under
HKFRS 16 in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the relevant percentage ratio of such
investment property exceeds 5% pursuant to Rule
14.04(9) of the Listing Rules. The property is located
at Lot 101/201, No.98 Middle Huaihai Road, Huangpu
District, Shanghai, the PRC. The property is currently
used for commercial subleasing services and held under
long-term lease.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Other than certain property, plant and equipment with
carrying amount of approximately RMB13.8 million as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB16.2 million)
pledged to financing institutions, the Group had also
pledged and factored certain of its trade receivables with
net carrying amount of approximately RMB17.8 million
(31 December 2023: 37.4 million) to secure the Group's
borrowings as at 31 December 2024.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB153.6 million. The
total interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
increased to approximately RMB257.4 million as at 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB199.8 million
as at 31 December 2023. The gearing ratio (total debts
divided by average total equity) as at 31 December 2024
was approximately 102.8% (31 December 2023: 61.6%).
The current ratio (total current assets divided by total
current liabilities) as at 31 December 2024 was 1.0 (31
December 2023: 1.1).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial management and policy

The management has designed and implemented a risk
management policy to address various potential risks
identified in relation to the operation of the businesses,
including financial, operational and the interest risks
from the property management agreements. The risk
management policy sets forth procedures to identify,

analyse, categorise, mitigate and monitor various risks.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall risk
management system and assessing and updating, if
necessary. The risk management policy is reviewed on a
quarterly basis.

The risk management policy also sets forth the reporting
hierarchy of risks identified in the operations.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors were not aware
of any significant events that would have resulted in
material contingent liabilities.

Subsequent Event

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
6 June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the above meeting, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 5 June
2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets to the
Group's success. The primary objective of the Group’s
remuneration policy is to ensure there is an appropriate
level of remuneration to attract and retain experienced
people of high calibre to join the Group. The Group
links the remuneration of its employees to both the
Group's performance and individual performance, so
that the interests of the employees align with those
of the Company's shareholders. As at 31 December
2024, the Group employed approximately 4,636
employees comprising 2,328 female employees and
2,308 male employees. To enhance the performance of
the employees, the Group provides its employees with
adequate and regular trainings. Employees’ remuneration
package comprises fixed and variable components
including salary, discretionary bonus and share options
that may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the
Group's performance as well as individual’s performance.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (H #3&), aged 75, a co-founder
of our Group with Mr. Fu. Mr. Xiao was appointed as
our Director on 27 July 2016, as the chairman of our
Board and re-designated as our executive Director on
24 October 2016. Mr. Xiao is responsible for strategy
planning and business development of our Group. He is
also the chairman of the nomination committee of our
Group. Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ.

Mr. Xiao obtained a diploma degree in Chinese Language
from Shanghai Institute of Education* (/8% & 2F0x)
in the PRC in July 1985. He attended a training course
in economic study organised by the Graduate School of
Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences* (/&4 & &l 23
fiff 7T & ZB) in the PRC in March 1997. Mr. Xiao obtained
the qualification of senior economist upon completion of
the Integrated Economic Management Programme* (#%
4R & B 32) organised by Shanghai Accreditation Board
for Senior Professionals in Economics (Production sector)*
(LBTRBRIN(EEER) SREERMBEERE
BT EZEE)in July 2003.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Xiao had
worked in several state-owned enterprises. He joined
Jiangnan Shipyard* (T & & f ) (now known as Jiangnan
Shipyard (Group) Company Limited* GLEEM (@) B
PR & E 2 F])) in November 1968 and acted as head of its
publicity department from October 1992 to June 1995. Mr.
Xiao first encountered the property management industry
when he served as an officer director of Shanghai Jiu Shi
Company* (L8 AERF]), deputy general manager of
Shanghai Jiushi Company Bund Zhihuan Headquarters*
(EBAERRINGE BB B ID) responsible for overall
operation and general management of Shanghai Bund
Housing Replacement Property Company Limited* (/&
WNEEEEBRMEEFRAR) (now known as Shanghai
Bund) from May 1995 to October 2002.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

With his knowledge and experience gained in property
management industry, Mr. Xiao established Pujiang
Property jointly with Mr. Fu in December 2002 for
carrying out property management business and served
as the chairman of the board and general manager since
its establishment. With the growth and expansion of our
Group, Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu later established or acquired
other property management companies for carrying out
various property management projects and also set up
Pujiang Holding in June 2007 as their investment holding
vehicle for various property management companies and
other companies carrying out investment management
business and has been acting as its chairman since then.
Mr. Xiao currently holds directorship in Pujiang Property
of our Group.

Mr. Xiao was awarded the independent innovation leading
talent* (B =x &I ¥7 %8 = A ) by Shanghai Luwan District
Government* (/8 E E[@ A R BAT) in April 2008, the
golden prize of outstanding contribution to Shanghai Property
Management Industry* (E/8 ¥ EBITHERHER S 12)
in January 2011 and the outstanding individual* (£ H A %) 2%)
by Shanghai Property Management Industry Society* (/&%)
EEBITEHE) in January 2015.

Mr. Fu Qichang (8 &), aged 67, a co-founder of
our Group with Mr. Xiao and was appointed as our
executive Director and vice chairman of our Board on 24
October 2016. He is responsible for strategic planning
and business development of our Group. Mr. Fu is also a
member of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of our Group.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma degree in Accountancy from
Lixin Accountancy College of Professional Studies* (i
E g5 ER24) in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master
degree in Business Administration from Macau University
of Science and Technology (by distance learning) in
Macau, in February 2004. He obtained an executive
Master of Business Administration (Service Management)
(by distance learning) in Shanghai, the PRC offered by W.
P. Carey school of Business of Arizona State University in
May 2013.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu obtained the accountant qualification awarded by
Shanghai Accreditation Board for Middle Level Professionals
(Accountants) of the Shanghai Moto Industry Holding
Company* (EBMABETEARA G RINPREER
MBS TR ERTEZES) in June 1992 and attended a
corporate finance course organised by Sino-Euro International
Business school* (A7 BB TR EET) in August 1999. He
obtained the qualifications of senior business manager* (7= A% 7
% E R A A EE) awarded by Shanghai Business Talents
Training Center* (/8% AA £3# 2 and Shanghai
Desirable Talent Training Projects Joint Conference Office* (=
BERAAFITIEBESHZ I AE) in February 2004
and corporate manager of national property management
upon completion of the National Property Management for
Corporate Manager Programme* (2 Bl#) ¥ E 18 > ELIE)
organised by Shanghai Property Industrial Education Centre* (=
MR EITEHE L) in December 2001. Mr. Fu was
awarded the chief financial officer qualifying training certificate
by Shanghai National Accountants Institute in July 2013.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Fu acted
as the deputy general manager and chief accountant in
Pudong Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (£ &
AERFHHEAT) and the deputy general manager of
Property Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (_E /&
AE R AW EAR]) from July 1997 to March 2003.

Mr. Fu currently holds directorships in several subsidiaries
of our Group, including Pujiang Property and Shanghai
Rui Zheng.

Mr. Fu was awarded the role model of the Shanghai
Labour Force* (L8 Mm & E)1E %) by Shanghai People’s
Government in April 2010, national role model of
the industry* (% Bl 17 % & 2 ) by National Property
Management Society* (2B ¥ ¥ EE % €) in September
2011, veteran professional manager of the Shanghai
property service industry* (_E /8T ¥ % IR 7% 1 ¥ & R B
¥ 438 A) by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society in January 2012, Shanghai Huangpu district
professional and technical talents* (2 R iT R A )
by Shanghai Huangpu District Government* (/&M =&
R A RBAT) in September 2012 and the outstanding
individual by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society in January 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Xiao Yuqiao (E F &), aged 42, was appointed as
our executive Director and chief executive officer on 24
October 2016. He is responsible for the overall operation
and management and execution of the policies of our
Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is also member of the remuneration
committee of our Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is the son of Mr.
Xiao.

Mr. Xiao YQ obtained a double degree in Philosophy and
Business Management from the State University of New
York at Stony Brook in the United States in May 2005.

Mr. Xiao YQ has about 20 years of experience in the
property management industry. He joined our Group in
February 2006 and had served as the general manager
of Shanghai Pujiang Sanqging Property Co. Ltd* (L&
L= BWHEBMRAF) (now known as Shanghai Rui
Zheng) until May 2012. He was the general manager of
Ningbo Plaza from May 2012 to December 2013. Mr.
Xiao YQ had served as the deputy general manager in
Pujiang Property since May 2012 and was subsequently
appointed as its director on 11 March 2016. He has
been the director of Shanghai Jie Gu since May 2016.
Mr. Xiao YQ has also served as an executive director of
Pujiang Holding since January 2014. He is also a director
of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu, Shanghai Jiu Yi, Nantong Pu
Sheng, Bengbu Zhi Xin, Shanghai Rui Zheng, Hong Xin,
Hebei Puhehang and Qidong Xingiao Property Company
Limited*(BRER TS W EABR A A]).

Mr. Xiao YQ was awarded the outstanding individual
(15th anniversary) by China Property Management
Magazine* ({7 Bl %) % & 12 ) # 3 4L) in July 2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Hui (£ £), aged 51, was appointed as our
executive Director on 20 November 2020.

Ms. Wang has obtained a degree in Economics
Management from the University of Science and
Technology Beijing* (dt R K2) in 1997. She is
currently part of the Executive Committee of Fuzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce, the Executive
Vice President of Dazhou General Chamber of
Commerce and a member of the Eighth Committee of
Taijiang District, Fuzhou City, Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, Vice President of the Federation
of Enterprises and Entrepreneurs of Fuzhou City,
Representative to the 18th National People’s Congress
of Gulou District, Fuzhou City and member of the
Supervisory and Judicial Committee of the 18th National
People’s Congress of Gulou District, Fuzhou City. On
5 July 2000, Ms. Wang founded Hong Xin (formerly
known as Fuzhou Hongxin Cleaning Company Limited*
(48 N 354 IR 2 B BR 2 &l), Fuzhou Hongxin Pest Control
Company Limited* (fBMBAFREZELEWHAER AT
and Fuzhou Hongxin Environmental Cleaning Service
Company Limited* (@I BAFRIRIZE B R R B AR 2
A])) and she has been acting as the director and the
legal person since its incorporation. On 3 January 2020,
the Group acquired 51% equity interest in Hong Xin.
Since then, Hong Xin has become an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and Ms. Wang
has also been acting as the chairperson of Hong Xin.
Currently she is also a director of Hebei Puhehang.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yongjun (3 # ¥ ), aged 49, has been
appointed as our non-executive Director with effect from
7 May 2018.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University* (/8% 8 KE) with a bachelor's degree
in cranes, transportation machinery and mechanical
engineering in July 1996 and a master’s degree in
business administration in July 2003.

Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in investment and
corporate management. Prior to joining our Group, he
worked as the senior investment manager in Shanghai
Galaxy Digital Investment Co., Ltd* (L /& E/EHIBERE
BBR27F]) from January 2003 to March 2006. He served
as the assistant director of the investment department
at Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai) Company
Limited* (EEEE(E/E)ER2AF) from April 2006 to
April 2008. He was the deputy general manager of Runfeng
Investment Group Shanghai Investment Co., Ltd.* (B £ #%
A EE LFEREBRAT) from April 2008 to May 2009.
He was the director and head of the investment department
of Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai) Company
Limited* (EEEIE(EE)BR2AF]) from June 2009 to
March 2019. He has served as the assistant president of
Shanghai Overseas International Trading Company Limited*
(_E /88 9NA 7)) since January 2019.

Currently, Mr. Zhang serves as a director of Shanghai
Biomedical Frontier Industry Innovation Center Co., Ltd* (/&
AW BE BRI E ¥ A1 FT 0 AR A A]), Shanghai Electric
Power Generation Environment Protection Engineering Co.,
ld* (P BEREBWMRE TEBR A, SIC Properties
Group (Shanghai) Limited* (FE B X & E(LE)BRAF)
and Shanghai SIIC Investment Development Company Limited*
(EBLEEREZEREARAT). He also serves as the vice
board chairman of Qihua Company Limited* (B8 % & R A 7)),
the board chairman of Shanghai Nanyang Plywood Company
Limited* ( E/8FFBARAE R A F]) and Lu An Xinshi Asset
Management Company Limited* (R ZZEEEEEHFRA
Al).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheng Dong (& ®), aged 62, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 15 November
2017. He is responsible for overseeing the management
of our Group independently. He is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of our Group.

Mr. Cheng graduated with a Bachelor degree in
management engineering from Tongji University
(F]E X&) in the PRC in July 1984 and Master degree
in economic informatics from Academy for Computer
Science and Computer executives* (Akademie fur Fach-
und Fihrungskrafte der Informatik) in Germany in May
1995.

Mr. Cheng was accredited as an organisational
programmer and economic informatics scientist by the
Chambers of Industry and Commerce Region Stuttgart*
(Industrie-und Handelskammer Region Stuttgart) in
Germany in November 1992 and December 1992
respectively.

Mr. Cheng was a teacher at the school of economics
and Management at the Tongji University (7% AE2)
from July 1984 to January 1990. From March 1992 to
June 1995, he served as a software engineer and project
manager at Yingta Information technology Company
Limited, Germany* ({2 B & % #& 17 £ % {» 2 7)) and was
the company’s chief representative at its representative
office in PRC between June 1995 and May 1998. He
had served as the general manager of Shanghai Yingta
Information Technology Company Limited* (& /&&=
B R T B BR A F]). He served as the general manager of
Anpac Bio-Medical Science Company Limited* (&R &t
A BRI (LEE)ARAR) from April 2014 to May
2023.

Mr. Cheng is currently holding senior positions in several
companies in the PRC including legal representative
(35 At &) of Shanghai Entai Business and Trading
Company Limited* (LB B ZEHEHBRAF]) since May
1996, chairman of Shanghai Yingta Health Management
Company Limited* (E /S HZEREEEGR QA since
November 2008 and chairman of Shanghai Liufu Training
School Company Limited* (£ /&8 R1Z I 2R FR AR
since March 2021.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Weng Guogqiang ($ B &), aged 64, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 15
November 2017. He is responsible for overseeing the
management of our Group independently. He is also
member of the audit committee, nomination committee
and remuneration committee of our Group.

Mr. Weng graduated with a Bachelor degree in Applied
Mathematics from the Tongji University in the PRC in July
1982 and a Master degree in Public Administration from
the University of Macau in Macau in September 2003.

Mr. Weng was accredited as a National Vocational
Qualification Level 2 Vocational Management
Professional* (BIXB X ER —HABE L A) in May
2003 and a Level 1 Senior Vocational Management
Professional* (— # = A B 2 «£ 32 A) in September 2004
by the Shanghai Vocational Skill Testing Authority* (I
T B 2 R REZE F H ). Mr. Weng was also accredited
as a Certified Property Manager by the Personnel
Department of Shanghai* (LMW AE/®E) in October
2006 and an Advanced Economist* (75 & £ & Bl) by the
Personnel Department of Jiangsu Province* (T & & AS
EE) in September 2009.

Mr. Weng has extensive experience in the property
management industry in Shanghai for over 18 years.
He had served as a general manager of Shanghai
Lujiazui Property Management Co., Ltd. (/& FE R
MEEEABRAF) from October 1999 to May 2008
and as a general manager of Wuxi Dongzhou Property
Management Company Limited* (£ 5 &R M ¥ % & 2
BB AR from May 2008 to December 2009. Since
January 2010, Mr. Weng has taken up the positions
of general manager and subsequently director at the
Shanghai Tonglai Property Management Company
Limited* (E/BRAMEERBBERAF]).
independent non-executive director of A-Living Smart
City Services Co., Ltd.* (M4 & & E W MR % K H
R~ 7)) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 03319) since January 2022.

He is also an
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (£ # X), aged 52, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 15 November 2017. He is responsible for overseeing
the management of our Group independently. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of
our Group.

Mr. Shu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business
(Accounting) from Deakin University in Australia in
September 1994. He became an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants in September 1997. Mr. Shu
attended the chief financial officer programme offered
by China Europe International Business School from July
to November 2009.

Mr. Shu has over 30 years of experience in audit,
corporate finance and financial management. He joined
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as an accountant
in March 1994 and later became a manager of Deloitte’s
reorganisation service group in April 2000. Mr. Shu
joined Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance Limited
and served as its manager from July 2001 to November
2002. Mr. Shu worked as an associate director in
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited from November 2002 to
April 2005. He served as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Texhong Textile Group Limited (X
4B EBBRAA]) (@ company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 02678) from May 2005 to
July 2008. Mr. Shu was employed as the chief financial
officer of Jiangsu Rongsheng Heavy Industries Company
Limited* ()T & k& 2% & T A& BR 2 7)) overseeing its
financial management functions and corporate finance
activities as well as the daily management of its finance
department from July 2008 to June 2010. Mr. Shu served
as the chief financial officer of Petro-king Qilfield Services
Limited (B EMERBBR 2 F) (@ company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 02178) since
July 2010 to July 2018. Mr. Shu has served as the chief
financial officer of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly
known as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code:
02203) since August 2018 to November 2019. Mr. Shu
was an independent non-executive Director of Chengdu
Expressway Co., Ltd. (K& S RERXERMHDER AR (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
01785) from November 2016 to September 2022.Mr. Shu
is currently the executive director and the chief financial
officer of ContiOcean Environment Tech Co., Ltd ( k
BEMIREREERKRODABER AR (@ company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 02613), primarily
responsible for its financial and investment division. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Twintek
Investment Holdings Limited (Z /2R BEER AR A A)
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
06182), Goldstream Investment Limited (&8 EHR A
A]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 01328), Zero Fintech Group Limited (= 7 &l & 4 &t
£ E B R 2 7)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code 00093) and Texhong International Group
Limited (RITEI R EBE B R A7) (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 02678) since
December 2017, December 2019, December 2022 and
May 2023 respectively. He has been served as a member
of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association since May 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Company Secretary

Ms. Cheung Kam Mei, Helen (38 € %), aged 63, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on
1 May 2019.

Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Laws from University
of London in 1999 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
from University of Hong Kong in 2000. She is a qualified
solicitor in Hong Kong, a member of the Law Society of
Hong Kong since 2002, a member of the Law Society
of England and Wales since 2003 and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since 2005.
Ms. Cheung has 6 years of experience in the corporate
governance and company secretarial field.

Mr. Cai Yufei (&), aged 40, joined our Group
in August 2017 as assistant to chief financial officer. He
was appointed as chief financial officer, joint authorised
representative and joint company secretary of the
Company on 1 May 2019, 1 July 2022 and 1 August
2022 respectively. He is responsible for overseeing
accounting activities.

Mr. Cai obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics with a
major in Finance from Tongji University ([&] /& X&) in 2007.

Mr. Cai has about 18 years of experience in auditing,
financial management and corporate financing. Prior in
joining our Group, he worked as a senior associate at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian LLP from August 2007
to January 2010. He served as deputy director of finance
department in Tat Hong Zhaomao Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd* (EE KKK EERAQF) from January 2010 to
November 2016 and was its head of corporate financing
department from December 2016 to August 2017.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Bai Min (B &), aged 53, is responsible for managing
business development and day-to-day business of our Group.

Mr. Bai graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business and
Corporate Management from Hubei Province economic
Management Cadre Institute* (8 1t & 4 % & 12 % 3
B2 %) in the PRC in January 2009, a Bachelor degree in
Business Administration (Marketing) from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in the PRC in January 2012 and a Master
degree* (F /8% KE) in Business Administration (by
distance learning) from City University of Macau in July
2015.

Mr. Bai obtained the qualification of national property
manager by Shanghai Human Resources and social
security Bureau in October 2010.

Mr. Bai had worked in various property management
companies in Shanghai for over 10 years before joining
our Group in April 2009. Mr. Bai was a property manager
of Shanghai Yuntai Property Management Company
Limited* (E/BERMEETIEBR A7) from April 1997
to August 2000. He was a senior director in Shanghai Kai
Shing Property Management Service Company Limited*
(EBRBYMEEERBERAF) from August 2000
to December 2000. He was employed as an assistant to
general manager of the integrated centre and deputy
general manager of the property department of Shanghai
Minghua Property Company* (- /&8 ZE ¥ ¥ A7) from
February 2001 to July 2005. He was the general manager
of Yangshan district and deputy general manager of the
quality control department of Shanghai New Century
Property Service Company Limited* (£ /8 1 t 42 & E R
% A BR A 7)) from August 2005 to March 2009.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Bai joined our Group as the general manager of our
estates management office of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China in April 2009 which was managed by
Pujiang Property. He was then seconded to serve as the
general manager of the Shanghai World Expo in January
2010. Since January 2011, he has served as an assistant
to the general manager and chief property officer in
Pujiang Property. Mr. Bai has been serving as a deputy
general manager of Anhui Bund since 1 January 2013,
and director and deputy general manager in Shanghai
Xin Di since June 2015. Mr. Bai was appointed as our vice
president on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Bai was awarded the outstanding individual by
Shanghai Property Management Industry Society* (/&
YIHEERITE®WE) in January 2015 and is an expert of
5th Council of Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society* (EBEmMYEEBRBTEWMEFAERSTSY)
since December 2015.

Mr. Xu Wenzhang (# X &), aged 64, is responsible
for internal audit and business management of our
Group.

Mr. Xu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Power
Mechanical Engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master degree in
Management from Norwegian School of Management B
in Norway (by distance learning) in January 2000.

Prior to joining our Group in November 2015, Mr. Xu
had worked at a number of international corporations
in property management sector for over 25 years. Mr.
Xu was the property engineering senior manager in
American International Group (AIG) from March 1990
to February 2005. He was the chief property officer in
Shanghai Alison Group Company Limited and general
manager in Shanghai Alison Property Management
Service Company Limited from February 2005 to January
2007. Mr. Xu held the position of national facilities
manager (associate director) in Jones Lang LaSalle
Surveyors (Shanghai) Company Limited from February
2007 to September 2008. He served as a director of
facilities management of Accor Greater China in Accor
Hotels Group from September 2008 to December 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu joined our Group in November 2015 and has
served as the chief technical officer in Pujiang Holding
since then and deputy general manager of Pujiang
Property since January 2016. He was appointed as our
vice president on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Wang Lingyi (£ & —), aged 39, is responsible
for the human resource matters of the Group and the
business of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu.

Mr. Wang graduated with a Bachelor degree in
Economics from Shanghai International Studies
University in July 2009 and a Master degree in Business
Administration from Fudan University in January 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang acted as the
product supervisor in Shanghai Shang’‘an Intelligent
Parking Development Co., Ltd* (LB H L & 215 &
ZE B M A A) from July 2011 to November 2016.
He was the leader of product in Huangiuchexiang Car
Rental Co., Ltd* (RHKEZREHEFR 2 A]) from
December 2016 to October 2018. He has over ten years
of experience in product and corporate management.

Mr. Wang joined our Group in November 2018 as
deputy general manager of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu. He
was appointed as our vice president on January 2023.
Currently Mr. Wang is also a director and the general
manager of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu.

Mr. Wang Xin (£#), aged 46, is responsible for the
business operation and expansion in the North China
region of the Group.

Mr. Wang Xin graduated with a Bachelor degree in
Engineering from Beijing University of Civil Engineering
and Architecture in July 2000 and a Master degree in
Business Administration of Senior Management with
a major in Business Administration from University of
International Business and Economics in July 2010.
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EENGHREEE

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang Xin acted as the
deputy general manager of Beijing Oriental Sun City*
(4t R B 77 K5 ) project and the executive deputy
general manager of Hainan Branch in China Sigma Co.,
Ltd* (R B % & 35 F R 2 7)) from July 2000 to July
2014. He was the assistant of the chairman of the board
and vice president of real estate business unit in Huatian
Investment Group Co., Ltd* (EAKREEEBE AR AA)
from July 2014 to July 2016. He was the vice president
and rotating president in Tiandi Holdings Co., Ltd* (X
¥ B B BR A F]) from August 2017 to July 2019. Mr.
Wang Xin has over twenty years of extensive experience
in urban renewal, cultural tourism, development and
operation of commercials, hotels and real estate,
especially in the positioning, planning and operation of
the revitalization, utilization and protection of cultural
relics and the integration of culture, business and
tourism. Currently Mr. Wang Xin is also an expert of the
Expert Committee of the Beijing Central Axis Protection
Public Welfare Foundation* (It R B ARIRE N &S
@ERZEZEE) and a director of the China Real Estate
Association* (T B =i EH€).

Mr. Wang Xin joined our Group in April 2021 as the head
of North China region and he was appointed as our vice
president on January 2023.

Mr. Zhang Bo (3R %), aged 38, is responsible for the
strategic planning and management of the investment of
the Group.

Mr. Zhang graduated with a Bachelor degree in Science
from Donghua University in July 2008 and a Master
degree in Economics with a major of finance from Fudan
University in June 2015.
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Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang acted as the
director of administrative office in Shanghai Huangpu
District Federation of Industry and Commerce* (_E&
MEBEIEERKAS®) from September 2009 to
September 2016. He was the senior manager of board
of directors in China Minsheng Investment Co., Ltd* (7
BREKERMDARLQA) from September 2016 to
November 2018. He has taken up the position of general
manager since the establishment of Zhong Min Zhi Da
and subsequently acted as the chairman of the board.
Mr. Zhang has over ten years of experience in strategic
development and investment management.

Mr. Zhang joined our Group in November 2021 as head
of strategic development department. He was appointed
as our vice president on January 2023.

Mr. Liu Shen (2] ), aged 53, is responsible for managing
the Group's sustainable development, ESG implementation,
property management quality control and production safety
management.

Mr. Liu graduated from Tongji University, Shanghai urban
construction college, and obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in engineering in June 1993. He received his Bachelor of
Economics degree in International Finance from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University in July 1998. He received his Master
of Business Administration (EMBA) degree from Donghua
University in January 2002. Mr. Liu is also a senior
engineer and a national first-class registered construction
engineer.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as a senior
executive at the headquarters of Shanghai City
Investment Group (/83 #% & E) and its subsidiaries
from July 1993 to June 2015 respectively. From July 2015
to August 2019, he served as the General Manager of
Project Management Department of Chong Bon Group
Company in Hong Kong. From September 2019 to
July 2023, he served as General Manager of Shanghai
Center Tower CBRE Property Management Co., Ltd. Mr.
Liu has more than 30 years of experience in real estate
development and construction and property operation
and management.

Mr. Liu joined the Group in February 2024 and was
appointed as the Vice President of the Group. Currently,
Mr. Liu serves as chairman of the Board of Directors of
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to establishing good corporate
governance practices in accordance with the Listing Rules
and ensuring integrity, transparency and comprehensive
disclosure. The Board believes that such commitment is
beneficial to safeguard the interests of the Company and
its shareholders.

NG

The Board has adopted the CG Code as set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company reviewed the CG Code from
time to time to ensure its compliance with the CG Code.

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange since 11 December 2017 (the "Listing
Date”). The Board is pleased to report compliance with
the code provisions of the CG Code from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:
Executive Directors Mr. Xiao Xingtao
(Chairman)
Mr. Fu Qichang
Mr. Xiao Yugiao
(Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Wang Hui
Non-Executive Director : Mr. Zhang Yongjun
Independent . Mr. Cheng Dong

Non-Executive Directors  Mr. Weng Guogiang
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ. Save for the family
relationship between Mr. Xiao and Mr. Xiao YQ, there
business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors.

was no financial,
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Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and
the Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of the majority of the Directors, either in person or
through electronic means of communication.

The Company generally convenes at least four regular
Board meetings a year. During the Period, four Board
meetings were convened for the following purposes:

1. reviewed and approved the 2023 annual report of
the Company and its related results announcement
and documents;

2. reviewed and approved the 2024 interim report of
the Company and its related results announcement
and documents;

3. reviewed and considered various projects and
investment opportunities that have arisen and/or
undertaken by the Company during the Period;

4. reviewed, discussed and considered the Group’s
affairs, including strategic plans, financial affairs,
internal control and risk management, terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee progress
and updates of business performance; and

5. reviewed and approved the proposed amendments
to the Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company to comply with the latest
requirements of the Listing Rules and relevant laws
and regulations.
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Attendance at Meetings of the Board and EESRESZESCERLERE

Board Committees

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend for

the year ended 31 December 2024

BZ2024512R31B L EE
HE/RERLEEERY
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEHA Exe ENZE® FMzEe REZE8 RRBFAE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Xiao Xingtao 4/4 N/A N/A 171 171
HER TEm TER
Fu Qichang 4/4 N/A 2/2 11 11
BEE T A
Xiao Yugiao 4/4 N/A 212 N/A 111
HT® TEM TEm
Wang Hui 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 7
2 TEA TER TER
Non-executive Director
FHTEZE
Zhang Yongjun 4/4 N/A N/A N/A ”n
REE TER TER TER
Independent Non-executive Director
BUFHITEE
Cheng Dong 4/4 22 22 m”n 7
BR
Weng Guogiang 4/4 2/2 2/2 il ”n
HER
Shu Wa Tung Laurence 4/4 2/2 2/2 7 171

FER

46 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the management of the
Company, which includes formulating business strategies,
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs and
preparing the accounts. The Board reserves power for
decisions concerning all major matters which include,
inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgeting, internal
control and risk management systems, including risk
relating to environmental, social and governance,
material transactions (in particular those which may
involve conflict of interests of Director(s) or substantial
shareholder(s)), appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The Board is also entrusted with the overall responsibility
of developing, maintaining and reviewing sound and
effective corporate governance policies within the Group
and is committed to ensuring that corporate governance
functions are carried out in accordance with the CG
Code, including continuously reviewing and improving
the corporate governance practices within the Group.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company as well as the services
and advice from the joint company secretaries and
senior management. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and internal control
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
etc.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and
services of the joint company secretaries with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
As at the date of the report, Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the
Chairman while Mr. Xiao Yugiao is the chief executive
officer of the Company. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the father of
Mr. Xiao Yugiao.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the overall
operation and management and execution of the policies
of our Group. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
defined and set out in writing.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All executive Directors and non-executive Director
have entered into a service contract with our Company
for an initial fixed term of three years and renewable
automatically until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time
thereafter. All independent non-executive Directors are
appointed from the date of the Listing until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either the Company or the respective Director.

The current articles of association of the Company
provide that subject to the manner of retirement by
rotation of directors as from time to time prescribed by
the Listing Rules, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. All Directors also participate in continuous
professional development programmes to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their
contribution to the Board.

All the Directors have confirmed in writing they had
participated in continuous professional developments
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as
directors during the Period.
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The below table summarises the participation of Directors TXRMMEER OB HBERNLXME I R iEE
in training and continuous professional development ZEHEZERHIB N o
during the Period under review.

Types of Continuous Professional Development
Received material
regarding the

Reading responsibilities
Material regarding and obligations
regulatory update under the Listing Attending
and corporate Rules and seminars/
governance relevant statutory conferences/
Name of Directors matters requirements forums
EERE
EwmRAIR
HEEHEEE HEEEER
EFNREXER BAENBER HENwE
EEnR EENMHE EaEMHE g3 wiE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Xiao Xingtao v v v
HEESEE
Mr. Fu Qichang v v v
BEESLLE
Mr. Xiao Yugiao v v v
HTY&h4E
Ms. Wang Hui v v v
FTExL
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Zhang Yongjun v v v
REE LA
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Cheng Dong v v v
BREE
Mr. Weng Guogiang v v v
HERELE
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence v v v
HERLE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 15 November 2017
comprising 3 independent non-executive Directors, who
have reviewed the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024. All of them have
appropriate professional qualifications and one of them
has accounting expertise. Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. No member of the
Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing
auditor of the Company. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available at the Company’s website
and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia,
the following matters:

(@) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, internal control procedures and risk
management and ensuring such systems are
effective;

(b) reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment, removal and remuneration of the
external auditor of the Company;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard;

(d) monitoring the integrity of financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual report
and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing any
significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them; and

(e) overseeing the Company’s internal audit functions;
and

(f) acting as key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor.
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During the Period, the Audit Committee convened two
meetings and performed the following work:

1. reviewed the 2023 annual report and the 2024
interim report of the Company and their related
preliminary results announcements;

2. reviewed and discussed the auditor’s report to the
Audit Committee in respect of 2023 annual audit;

3. reviewed and recommended the re-appointment
of the external auditors, taking into account its
independence;

4. reviewed and discussed the internal control reports;

5. reviewed and discussed the 2024 annual audit plan
of the Group.

The Audit Committee has met with the external auditors
once during the Period without the presence of the
executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) was established on
15 November 2017 comprising five members, namely
Fu Qichang and Mr. Xiao
Yugiao and 3 independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr.
Weng Guogiang. Mr. Cheng Dong is the chairman of the

2 executive Directors, Mr.

Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for,
inter alia, the following matters:

(@) establishing and reviewing the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of directors and
senior management and making recommendations
to the Board on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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(b) assessing the performance of the Directors and
determining the specific remuneration packages
of all executive directors of the Group and senior
management with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives;

() making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the non-executive Director;

(d) reviewing and approving compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of directors for misconduct to ensure that such
arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any
compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

(e) advising shareholders of the Company with respect
to any service contracts of directors that require
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.

During the Period, the Remuneration Committee
convened two meetings and performed the following
work:

Details of the fees and other emoluments paid or payable
to the Directors and the details of the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (excluding
Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in details in Notes 8 to the audited consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report.

The Remuneration Committee has access to independent

professional advice and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) was established on
15 November 2017 comprising five members, namely
2 executive Directors, Mr. Xiao Xingtao and Mr. Fu
Qichang and 3 independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr. Weng
Guogiang. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is currently the chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for,
inter alia, the following matters:

(@) reviewing the structure, size diversity and
composition of the Board;

(b) developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors;

() making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.
The criteria to be applied in considering whether a
candidate is qualified shall be based on a number
of factors, including gender, age, educational
background, qualifications, regional and industry
experience, skills, length of service and his or her
ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company and if the appointment will
contribute to the diversity of the Board;

(d) assessment of the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors in accordance with, among
other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may
be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time
and where applicable, whether he or she has the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an independent non-executive director
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules;
and

(e) set any measurable objectives for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships
by making reference to the balance of expertise, skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of such individuals, business
requirements of the Group and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.

During the Period, the Nomination Committee convened
one meeting.

BOARD POLICIES

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and policies of the Board,
the Board has adopted a number of policies and
procedures to strengthen its corporate governance and
internal control. The following is a summary of certain
policies adopted by the Board:

(a) Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
("Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. Pursuant
to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of aspects, including, but not limited
to, gender, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and educational background. All board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The Company will also take
into consideration its own business model and
specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimal composition of the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
8 directors. Three of them are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of age, industry
experience, professional background and skills. The
following table further illustrate the diversity of the
Board members as of the date of this annual report:

54  RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REZESRAEMNHENER - Kt &5
BXRAME - EABERE AR R AE
BEGREREMHEREIERZREAEN B
BRIEBRIEZTAE -

HEA REZEEHT K

ijE3

EEEHX

RELTRANESFERR EFECRM
ZEHBRRERRBFAMBECXEANAE
B-UNTREZTERMNE THRHME:

(a) EEEHEZ UL EE
EZeCRMEFTEREZTERER(Z
TEBRR]D) ZHRINBREHESS
KB ZTTAEMEBMA TR - RREIRE
EFeREZ UL HRARRANHRER
ZEERRE - REEFEZTICEHEK
ARRIEZRZEREZNEREFE S T
£ BRERETRRER R TEL
B K- NBLRHBEER -EFEM
BLZEAUARARES BRA - Y REAE
FERESZTIENaRBRETBGENHE
BAE - KRR NETHEEHEBH W
EBRALKERTE UEETEEFEN
REAK -

BEAREEY EFxedhm/\RE2FA
e HP =R RBIFATEFT EF
BB RAREEEEREF EFEE
WILFR  TEER BEXERRX®E
EhEERE  HBHEEZT TRE—
THEARNAFREPEETEKEZEZ T
ERE:



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

I\ S5 IR A4
INCIN=PF: &=
Ethnicity Gender
L1 £
Property  Intemnal
Management ~ control
Other, if experience/  andrisk  Financial Professional
Name of Director ~~ d0tod9 501059 Above60  Chinese  applicable Male Female  knowledge management  Reporting Sustainability  Compliance ~qualification
i HEER  MURHR
FEL 0Z95  S0ESE  G0EML % (DER) Ft g BB/AR BRER  BEEE  TRELR &% ERER
Xiao Xingtao / / / / / / /
4EE
Fu Qichang / / / / / / / / /
Bx2
Xiao Yugiao / / / / / / / /
i35
Wang Hui / / / / / /
iz
Zhang Yongjun / / / / / / /
GhE
Cheng Dong / / / / / / /
B
Weng Guogiang / / / / / / / /
A%
Shu Wa Tung
Laurence / / / / / / / /
#28
The Board delegated certain duties under the Board EEERBEFEZ UL EESE TR
Diversity Policy to the Nomination Committee. The ERTIEZZEG - REBEZEEKAR
Nomination Committee will discuss and review TRARREAVETKRREBESTS S
the necessity to set any measurable objectives for TEBEREEMAEHENEEF - AR
implementing the Board Diversity Policy from time REFEUMUAREERZEER T HER
to time to ensure their appropriateness and the FHER -
progress made towards achieving those objectives.
The nomination committee will review the Diversity RELZEGHRNEERERZ T OEEE -
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. IARERE B & -
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(b) Shareholders’ Communication Policy

56

The Board is dedicated to promote effective
communications with Shareholders. Effective
communications can enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights as shareholders in an informed manner
and furnish the investment community with timely
information about the Company.

The Company is committed to maintain open
communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community and to promote investor
confidence by keeping the market fully informed of
all material information about the Company.

The Company holds its annual general meeting
in June each year. If necessary, the Company
will hold extraordinary general meetings to seek
Shareholders’ approval on proposed transactions.

Shareholders may, at any time, raise questions to
the Company provided such matters are in the
public domain.

Shareholders may contact the Company as follows:

Riverine China Holdings Limited

14F No. 28 South Zhongshan Road Shanghai China,
200010

Tel: (86) 21-63333599

Fax: (86) 21-63301947

Email address: ir@ppmc.com.cn

For enquiries relating to their shares in the
Company, Shareholders may contact the Company’s
share registrar as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has implemented measures to follow
the inside information provisions of the SFO and
the Listing Rules to ensure inside information of
the Group is disseminated to the public in equal
and timely manner in accordance with SFO and the
Listing Rules.

For more details, please refer to the section headed
“Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information”
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board

As part of checks-and-balances of the management
of the Company, the Board has adopted this policy
to provide mechanism to ensure independent view
and input are available to the Board.

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive
directors ("INEDs”), representing not less than
one-third of the Board. One of the three INEDs
possesses professional qualifications, accounting
and financial management expertise.

The INEDs, as other Directors, are entitled to review
books and records of the Group and they may
seek assistance from the Company’s joint company
secretaries. Further, where necessary, the INEDs may
seek independent advice from external professional
advisers at the expense of the Company.

Further, to provide checks-and-balances to the
Group, the INEDs are also the only members of
the Audit Committee and majority members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.
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(e) Whistleblowing Policy

(f)

58

The Company is committed to maintain the highest
standards of ethics and conducting business legally,
honestly and fairly.

To enhance the Group to maintain good corporate
governance, employees and third parties who
deal with the Group, e.g. customers, suppliers
and agents are encouraged to report any genuine
concerns about suspected or actual fraud, breach,
malpractice, misconduct or irregularity to the
internal audit department of the Company and such
reporting shall be made in good faith. The internal
audit department in turn reports to the Audit
Committee.

The internal audit department may consult the
Audit Committee and external professional advisers
in deciding whether an investigation is warranted.

If investigation is required, the internal audit
department will conduct investigation in strict
confidence and report to the Audit Committee.
If necessary, the internal audit department may,
after consultation with the Audit Committee and/
or professional advisers, report the matter to the
relevant regulatory authorities in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company is committed to upholding high
standards of business integrity, honesty and
transparency in all of its business dealings. This
policy aims to protect the reputation of the
Company and prevent any attempt of fraud,
corruption, bribery, malpractices, deceit or any
other improper conduct by any senior management
or employees of the Group.

The policy provides guidelines to employees what
constitutes advantages, corruption and bribery.
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Remuneration Policy

This purpose of this Policy is to provide guidelines
to the Group to retain and motivate its directors
and employees by offering them competitive while
not excessive remuneration packages having regard
to those offered by comparable companies in the
property management industry in China.

The remuneration packages offered by the Group to
its executive directors and employees comprise basic
salary, discretionary bonus and share awards having
regard to their performance and the performance of
the Group.

Non-executive directors shall receive fixed
remuneration only. The Board will make reference
to the remuneration payable by companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange and engage in
property management industry in China. No bonus
or equity linked remuneration is payable to non-
executive directors, in particular, independent non-
executive directors, in order to ensure they are
independent and act impartially at all times. Their
remuneration will be reviewed annually.

Nomination Policy

In evaluating a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the Shareholders
for election as a Director of the Company, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number
of factors. These factors include the candidate’s
qualifications, skills and experience, diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
the candidate’s integrity, and if the candidate
is proposed to be appointed as an INED, the
independence criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and his/her time commitment. The Nomination
Committee will take appropriate measures to review
and evaluate a candidate’'s profile as proposed by
the Board and make recommendations to the Board.
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(i) Dividends Policy

In general, it is the policy of the Company to allow
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits while retaining adequate reserves for future
development and growth. Normally, the Company
pays dividends twice a year, which are the interim
dividends and the final dividends. The Board will
consider a number of factors in deciding the
frequency, amount and form of dividends, including
the conditions of the economy, market outlook,
results of our operations, cash flows, financial
position, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the
payment of dividends, future prospects and other
factors that the Board may consider relevant.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report) for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group. The Board was not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and the Board has prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to
form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on
those consolidated financial statements prepared by the
Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders. A
statement by auditor about their reporting responsibility
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has developed the Group's internal control,
risk assessment and management systems and has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining an
adequate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to
ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.
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The Company has an internal audit department,
which reports directly to the Audit Committee and is
independent of the Company’s daily operations. The
internal audit department is responsible for conducting
regular audits on compliance, risk management and
major activities of the Company. Its objective is to ensure
that all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions
are in place and function effectively.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring
and management of risks associated with its business
activities. The Group’s internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems, fulfillment of business
objectives and compliance. The system includes a defined
management structure with segregation of duties and a
cash management system such as monthly reconciliation
of bank accounts.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board has conducted a review of the systems of risk
management and internal control for the year ended
31 December 2024 to ensure the effectiveness and
adequacy of the systems. Such review shall be conducted
annually. Based on the reporting of the management, the
internal audit department and the Audit Committee and
the evaluation of such reporting, the Board considered
that the risk management and internal control systems
of Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
effective and adequate.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s
material internal controls and risk management and is
of the opinion that the resources for and qualifications
of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function are adequate and sufficient. Based on
information furnished to it and on its own observations,
the Board is satisfied with the present internal controls
and risk management of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) was entered into by Partner Summit, Vital
Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth, Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune
and Mr. Chen, the Controlling Shareholders in favour
of the Company on 28 November 2017, pursuant to
which each of the Controlling Shareholders will not, and
will procure any of his/its associates and any company
directly or indirectly controlled by him/it (not including
any member of the Group) not to either on his/its own
or in conjunction with any body corporate, partnership,
joint venture or other contractual agreement, whether
directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry
on, participate in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate,
or provide any form of assistance to any person, firm
or company (except members of the Group) to conduct
any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or
may compete with the business presently carried on
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other
business that may be carried on by any of them from
time to time during the term of the Deed of Non-
Competition, in Hong Kong or the PRC and such other
places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may
conduct or carry on business from time to time, including
but not limited to provision of property management
services and other related services. Details of the Deed
of Non-Competition are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 28 November 2017.
In order to ensure that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the Deed of Non-Competition, the
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed
the status of compliance by way of confirmation by
individual Controlling Shareholder and confirmed that
the Controlling Shareholders have complied with all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

NG
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB1.9
million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheung Kam Mei (“Ms. Cheung”) was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company on 1 May
2019. Mr. Cai Yufei ("Mr. Cai”) was appointed as joint
company secretary of the Company on 1 August 2022.
The biographical details of Ms. Cheung and Mr. Cai are
set out under the section headed "“Directors and Senior
Management”.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
Ms. Cheung and Mr. Cai have complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide
an opportunity for communication between the
Shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting
of the Company shall be held each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").

— Right to convene extraordinary general

meeting

Any one or more members holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition sent to the Company’s principal
office as set out in the manner below, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposit it to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company at the Company’s principal place of
business at Room 1918, 19/F., Lee Garden One, 33
Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong and such
may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrars in Hong Kong and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the company secretary of the Company
will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request has been verified is
not in order, the Shareholders will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will not be
convened as requested. If within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to the
requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised
by the requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

— At least 14 clear days’ notice in writing (and
not less than 10 business days) if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
Company;

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the
Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent
by post to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the
company secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. The Company endeavors to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At annual general meetings,
Directors are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries. The Company discloses information and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the
public in accordance with the Listing Rules, the relevant
laws and regulations.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is subject to
review by the Board and will be amended as appropriate
to reflect current best practices in communication
with Shareholders and to ensure its effectiveness in
communicating with Shareholders.

The Board provides updated information on the Group
to Shareholders through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports.
The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company and its updated versions are also published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information according to the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” (the “Guidelines”)
published by the SFO to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved and the
dissemination of such information is properly made. The
Company regularly reminds the Directors and employees
about due compliance with the Guidelines and all
policies regarding handling and dissemination of inside
information. Also, where applicable, the Company keeps
Directors, senior management and employees appraised
of the latest regulatory updates.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024
for the purposes of conforming to the amendments
to the Listing Rules effective from 31 December
2023, pursuant to the consultation conclusions of
the “Consultation Paper on Proposals to Expand the
Paperless Listing Regime and Other Rule Amendments”
published by Stock Exchange in June 2023, specifically to
(i) mandate that listed issuers must disseminate corporate
communications to their securities holders electronically
to the extent permitted under their applicable laws
and regulations; (ii) remove, from the Listing Rules, the
provisions on the arrangements a listed issuer must
make to avail itself of the current consent mechanism for
disseminating corporate communications electronically;
and (iii) require a listed issuer to send "“actionable
corporate communications” to securities holders
individually and in electronic form if functional electronic
contact details have been provided to the issuer (the
"Amendments”). The Amendments were approved at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 11 June
2024 and the Company adopted the Third Amended and
Restated Articles of Association.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in
submitting their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is property
management. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into
business units based on their services and the Group has
five reportable operating segments which is engaged
in (@) property management services with value-added
services to a variety of properties in the PRC, (b) urban
sanitary services, (c) sublease service from investment
properties, (d) catering services and (e) other service.
Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Details of the operating segment information of the
Company during the year are set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Since all of the Group’s revenue were generated
from providing property management service, urban
sanitary services, sublease service and other services
from investment properties and catering services in
China and all of the Group’s non-current assets were
located in Mainland China, no geographical information
in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the state of affairs of the Group and of the
Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 102 to 110 respectively.

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 13 to 16 and 17 to 28
respectively of this Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Relationship is the fundamental of business. The Group
fully understands this principle and thus maintains close
relationship with the customers to fulfil their immediate
and long-term need.

All of our full-time employees are paid a fixed salary
and may be granted other allowances, based on their
positions. In addition, discretionary bonuses may also
be awarded to our employees based on the employee’s
performance. We conduct regular performance appraisals
to ensure that our employees receive feedback on their
performances.

Our major suppliers are primarily sub-contractors for
our property and management services. The Group is
dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
and sub-contractors as long-term business partners to
ensure stability of the Group’s business.
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POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
FACING THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be
other risks and uncertainties which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

The Group constantly faces the challenge of responding
promptly to market changes within the industry
sectors it operates in. Any failure to interpret market
trends properly and adapt its strategy to such changes
accordingly, as well as termination or non-renewal of
our services contracts of property management and
urban sanitary could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial position and results of
operations.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group is set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and the financial position of
the Group as at that date are set out on pages 102 to
110.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 6 June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the above meeting,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 5 June 2025.

EXERES
A7) 7 B 40 15 L B I 2

AEBHFBMRR €EXE FHLRAMFEA
EXETEARMTEERZZE - ATARX
SEFNNETERARETHERNR - NEE
AHKEBEAMABBREREBRAEEZES
BERNEMREARRTHEERRTAIEFRE -

X R R
AEEFERRLEQELEEMETER
BEOMSEENRE - WAELERETS
B2 AR e B RS - MY X TR B ER
BREERMEIERTELD  HEATRESY
AEENELE MERAREESRELS
APMEE -

Bt % B B
AEBERBRBRERHNFAMBEHRRME
42 o

%
AEEHZE2024F12A3MBLEFEZH B R
BEAEEHEZA ZHBEARR SN E102
Z1108 »

TEREROBFERTFE
AETEREEARRIEERRAFRE L
REeEREHEFR  RNARHR2025F676
B(EHA)EBZE2025F6A1MB (28 =) E(E
EMBEEERN)EEHREROMBEERF
E - BETEREBEARRBRNBFERLFE -
AREEREBELAREYRELEEE K
RRIEAN2025F6A5H (2B M) T F W&
=+ 58 BAEROKBFPERERBEAR
EREARARATNBEERNBFPFERIELE
BEELBRAR MUt BB EERIEI6H
BEREBMPOUITEBARBERFE -

SEITHREERARAR £82024 69



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

SUMMARY OF 5 YEARS’' FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published consolidated results and of
the assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the 5
years ended 31 December 2024 is set out on page 256.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings of the Company during the year are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding
of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
and of the Group during the year are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.
As a general policy, given the current growth of the
Company, it is the intention of the Company to declare
no more than 30% of the net profit as dividend each
year. However, the actual amount of dividends declared
and paid (if any) will depend on the results of our
operation, cash flows, financial position, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends,
future prospects, and other factors that we may consider
relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend
is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and
any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the
approval of the shareholders.

Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the constitutional documents, which indicate that
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside
from profits which the Directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of the share
premium account or any other fund or account which
can be authorised for this purpose in accordance with
the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount
will be declared or distributed in any years.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable
reserves of approximately RMB148.9 million (2023:
RMB199.5 million) calculated in accordance with
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. This
includes the Company’s share premium account of
approximately RMB143.8 million (2023: RMB143.8
million) which is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
The share premium account may also be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Period, sales to the Group’s 5 largest customers
accounted for approximately 24.8% of the total sales for
the year and the sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 8.6%.

Purchases from the Group’s 5 largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 15.4% of the total purchases for the
year and the purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 6.9%.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associate(s)
or any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s 5 largest customers or 5 largest
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Hui

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yongjun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Weng Guogiang

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Xiao Xingtao, Mr. Zhang Yongjun and Mr. Weng
Guogiang will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and
the Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 29 to 43
of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of service contracts of the executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive Directors are
set out under the section headed "“Appointment and
Re-election of Directors” of the Corporate Governance
Report.

No Director proposed to have a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within 1 year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
transactions” and in the related party transactions as set
out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance, to
which the Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year. There are
no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries and a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year. During the year, no
transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Group by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries were made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
the Directors, the secretary and other officers of the
Company are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices or trusts, to the extent as permitted by
laws. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company during the Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors in
the Shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
were as follows:
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Number of issued

ordinary/underlying Percentage
Director Nature of interests Shares held of interest
TSR/
5= EaMtE HEROHE FriEEEBE DL
Mr. Xiao Xingtao Interest held jointly with another 301,028,000 74.33%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
B R LA HE-—ATHEARENEZ:
ZEGEEEED
Mr. Fu Qichang Interest held jointly with another 301,028,000 74.33%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®
BEHEXAE Eﬁi%—}\i SEESFEN-Ok: o
EHEEEEO
Notes: Bt 2
(1)  As at 31 December 2024, 301,028,000 shares were held by (1) R2024F12A318 48 (— R EBE LS

Partner Summit, a company incorporated in BVI which is owned
as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by
Pine Fortune. Each of Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu owns the entire issued
share capital of Vital Kingdom and Source Forth respectively.
Thus, both Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu were deemed to be interested in
301,028,000 Shares.

(2)  All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors, or their associate(s) had any interests
or short positions in the shares or debt securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were the rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to date of this
report, no Director of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is considered to have an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, pursuant to
the Listing Rules, other than those business of which the
Directors of the Company were appointed as Directors to
represent the interest of the Company and/or the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15
November 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing
Date. No share option under the Share Option Scheme
(the “Option”) has been granted since the adoption of
the Share Option Scheme and therefore, there was no
outstanding Option as at 31 December 2024 and no
Option was exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the
Period.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set
out as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant Options to the Eligible Persons (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to our Group.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
An Eligible Person is any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the
Group, including any executive director, non-
executive director and independent non-executive
director, adviser and consultant of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite
any Eligible Persons to take up Options at a price
calculated in accordance with paragraph (e) below.

(c) Acceptance of an offer of Option

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by each Eligible Person who accepts or
is deemed to have accepted the offer of any Option
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Participant”) when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the Option duly signed by
the Participant with the number of Shares in respect
of which an offer of an Option is accepted clearly
stated therein, together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof, is received by the Company
within 28 days from the date on which an Option is
offered to an Eligible Person.
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(d) Maximum number of Shares available for

subscription

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all Options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes (“Other Schemes”) adopted by the
Group from time to time pursuant to which options
to subscribe for Shares may be granted must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
of the date of listing (i.e. 11 December 2017, the
“Listing Date”) of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
(the "Scheme Mandate Limit”), being 400,000,000
Shares. Options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes will not be counted for the purpose
of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting, the Company may do one or more
of the following:-

(i) refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit to the
extent that the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all Options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and Other Schemes under the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit must not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of such
Shareholders’ approval, provided that Options
previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and Other Schemes (including those
outstanding, cancelled, exercised or lapsed in
accordance with the terms thereof) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit; and

(i) grant Options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that Options in excess of the
Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the
Eligible Persons specifically identified by the
Company before such Shareholders’ approval
is sought.
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(e)

(f)

80

The total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the
Listing Date.

Basis for determining the exercise price
The subscription price for the Shares subject to the
Options will be a price determined by the Board and
notified to each Participant and shall be the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the Options, which must be a day
on which trading of Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (“Trading Day"”); (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five Trading Days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Maximum number of underlying Shares
comprised in Options to any one Eligible
Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to a
Participant under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% (“1% Individual Limit"”) of the Shares
in issue from time to time. If the 1% Individual
Limit will the exceeded, then the proposed grant of
Options must be approved by the Shareholders.

If a grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent
non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) will result
in the total number of the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options already granted
and to be granted (including Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under
the Share Option Scheme or Other Schemes in any
12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or
such other percentage as may from time to time
specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in
issue from time to time, then the proposed grant of
Options must be approved by the Shareholders.
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Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each Participant, provided that the
period within which the Option must be exercised
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of
the grant of Option.

Minimum period for which an Option
must be held before it can be exercised
Commencing from 1 January 2024, the vesting
period imposed by the Board for Options granted to
Eligible Persons shall be not less than 12 months.

Alteration to Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any
respect by resolution of our Board except that, (a)
any alteration to the advantage of the Participants
or the Eligible Persons (as the case may be) relating
to matters contained in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules; and (b) any material alteration to the terms
and conditions of the Scheme or any change
to the terms of Options granted, except where
the alterations take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the Scheme, shall first be
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
(with the Eligible Persons, the Participants and their
associates abstaining from voting) provided that
if the proposed alteration shall adversely affect
any Options granted or agreed to be granted prior
to the date of alteration, such alteration shall be
further subject to the consent or sanction of the
Participants in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.
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(j) Remaining life of the Share Option

Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Listing
Date, after which period no further Options may
be granted but the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all
other respects and Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

(k) Movements of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme
No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 30 August 2018 (the “Adoption Date").

Summary of the principal terms of the Scheme are as
follow:

(@) The purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to recognize the
contributions by certain Employees and give
incentives thereto in order to motivate them for
the continual operation and development of the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

(b) The Participants of the Scheme
Selected Employees (excluding Excluded Employees)
based on their performance, years of service and
other factors as the Board thinks fit and at its sole
discretion.

(c) The total number of Shares available for
issue or subscription under the Scheme
The total number of Shares available for issue or
subscription under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (“Scheme Limit"), i.e. shall not
exceed 40,500,000 Shares, subject to Adjustment.
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Maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may
be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the number of
Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, subject to
Adjustment.

Vesting period of awards granted under
the Scheme

The Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine any vesting terms or conditions as it sees
fit. To the extent the relevant Award has not lapsed,
the Awarded Shares and the Related Income are to
be vested on the Selected Employee on such date to
be notified by the Board to the Selected Employee.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
award and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

Subject to confirmation by the Company that all
vesting conditions have been fulfilled, Selected
Employees shall duly execute vesting documents
and/or pay the Vesting Expenses within the period
prescribed by the Trustee for the relevant Awarded
Shares, failing which, the relevant part of the Award
made to such Selected Employee shall automatically
lapse immediately.

The basis of determining the purchase
price of the Shares awarded

In order to incentivize the Employees and retain and
attract talents, no purchase price of the Awarded
Shares shall be payable by the Selected Employees.
Purchase price would be paid out of cash paid by
the Company.
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(h) The duration and remaining life of the
Scheme
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
commencing on the Adoption Date and ending
on the expiry of the trust period, which is 31 May
2022, provided that no contribution to the Trust
Fund would be made by the Company on or after

31 May 2020.
“"Adoption means 30 August 2018, being the date
Date” on which the Scheme was adopted by
the Board;

“Adjustment” means adjustment in the case of any
conversion of any or all of the Shares in
issue at the time into a larger or smaller
number of Shares in accordance with
section 170(2)(e) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong;

“Award” means awards of Shares (together with
Related Income attributable to such
Shares) by the Board to the Selected
Employees pursuant to the Scheme;

“"Awarded means in respect of a Selected Employee,

Shares” such number of Shares determined by
the Board and purchased or subscribed
for by the Trustee out of cash paid
by the Company or such number of
Returned Shares awarded by the Board
pursuant to the Scheme;

“Employee(s)” means any employee, including any
Director of the Group;
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“Excluded
Employee(s)”

“Related
Income”

“Returned
Shares”

“Selected
Employee(s)”

“"Trust”
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means any Employee who is resident
in a place where (i) the award of the
Awarded Shares and/or the award of
the Returned Shares and/or vesting or
transfer of Shares pursuant to the terms
of the Scheme is not permitted under
the laws and/or regulations of such
place; or (ii) where in the view of the
Board, compliance with applicable laws
and/or regulations in such place make it
necessary or expedient to exclude such
Employee, in each case as determined by
the Board in it absolute discretion;

means all income derived from a Share
held upon the Trust in the form of
Shares (including but not limited to the
Shares purchased by the Trustee out
of cash income, any bonus Shares and
scrip Shares received in respect of the
Share held upon the Trust and for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding any nil-
paid right, bonus warrant, non-cash and
non-scrip distribution or proceeds of sale
of the same or residual cash remaining in
the Trust Fund);

means such Awarded Shares and their
Related Income which are not vested
in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme, or were forfeited in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme, or such
Shares being deemed to be Returned
Shares;

means Employee(s) selected by the Board
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme for
participation in the Scheme;

means the trust constituted by the Trust
Deed;
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“Trust Deed” means he trust deed dated 30 August
2018 entered into between the
Company and the Trusted (as restated,
supplemented and amended);

“Trust Fund”  means all properties held or deemed to
be held upon the trust of the Trust Deed,

“Trustee” means the trustee appointed by the
Company for the purpose of the Trust
from time to time;

"Vesting means all transfer fees, taxes, social

Expenses” security contributions and other levies

associated with the vesting, release or
transfer of the relevant Awarded Shares
and Related Income in accordance with
the instructions set out in a Selected
Employee’s election form.

During the year 2019, the trustee of the Scheme,
pursuant to the terms of the rules and trust deed
of the Scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a
total of 8,218,000 Shares at a total consideration of
approximately HK$20.0 million. The Scheme expired on
31 May 2022. The Directors are considering to sell the
Shares when the market improves or roll over the Shares
to a new share award scheme. If the Shares are sold, the
proceeds of sale, after making appropriate deductions
in respect of all disposal costs, liabilities and expenses in
accordance with the trust deed shall be remitted to the
Company immediately after the sale.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other
than the Directors) had interest in the Shares and the

EEEHEE

FTERR
M2024F12 A318 » L FA T (EE BN R
NGO EREERODFHEEQEREZEASNM

underlying shares of the Company which (a) would fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or

(b) were required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein:

HIERPIEXVESE2 %3
Fi% BE < #E e+ Sk (b) A RC AR
RBIZE3BCIRREFE 2 B Ll 2

PaNEvi

7]

HERAVNCIDEE:

ErMHE

Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
Frise &7
E8/HERG P 46 1 22
RREE HA EzmME 2B Bak
Partner Summit Beneficial owner 301,028,000 74.33%
am ERBEAA
Vital Kingdom Interest held jointly with another 301,028,000 74.33%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
eyl BE—ATHRAFANESZ
REGZEZE#ER
Source Forth Interest held jointly with another 301,028,000 74.33%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
R BE—ATHRAFANESZ
REGZEZE#ER
Pine Fortune Interest held jointly with another 301,028,000 74.33%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
= BE-ATHAFENES:
REGZEZE#ER
Mr. Chen Interest held jointly with another 301,028,000 74.33%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
PR T4 BE—ATHRAFANESZ
REGZEZEER
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
("S.1.")
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Limited XEHEEERY
(Is.1.1)
BIREERERAT €202 87
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Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
e ®T
E8/HER G P4t 18 22
RREBHA EaitE A BA
Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited  Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Shanghai Industrial”)
FBREXERERRAT REHEBERO
((EE=ER])
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(Holdings) Company Limited
(“Shanghai Industrial Investment”)
FEEXR(EBR)BRRAT REHEBERO
(Esbi=3 - J)
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
Treasury Company Limited
(“Shanghai Treasury”)
Shanghai Industrial Investment XEHEEERY
Treasury Company Limited
([Shanghai Treasury])
Shanghai Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Shanghai Investment”)
EBREERERRAR REHEBERO
([EBKRE]D
Sure Advance Holdings Limited Beneficial owners® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Sure Advance")
BEERBERAA(ERE]D EnEAAC
Notes: Bt 5E

(1) All the interests stated below represent long positions in the (1) XAl ZEEZHAERRABRNDZIHE
shares of the Company.

(2)  As at 31 December 2024, 301,028,000 Shares were held by (2) 20244128318 * & &# H301,028,000 f% 17 -

Partner Summit, which is owned as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, EEHENHEET%RE  BRMEE10% K E
10% by Source Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune. Mr. Chen owns NREBEERERI%®KRE BREEHEEEHEHE
the entire issued share capital of Pine Fortune. Therefore, Mr. BORA Bt BEE -8 ZEHRRBEE
Chen, Pine Fortune, Vital Kingdom and Source Forth were 18 B TA301,028,000 MR EBRER -

deemed to be interested in 301,028,000 shares.
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(3) Information is extracted from the corporate substantial
shareholder notices filed by S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai
Industrial Investment, Shanghai Treasury, Shanghai Investment
and Sure Advance on 11 December 2017. Shanghai Industrial
Investment directly holds 100% of the issued share capital of
Shanghai Treasury, which in turn holds 100% of the issued
share capital of Shanghai Investment, which in turn holds
47.77% of the issued share capital of Shanghai Industrial,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of S.I.,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of Sure
Advance. Therefore, S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai Industrial
Investment, Shanghai Treasury and Shanghai Investment are
taken to be interested in the number of Shares held by Sure
Advance pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, there
was no person who (i) had an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which (a) would fall to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO; or (b) were required, pursuant to section
336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (ii) were, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying the right to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of the Company or any options in
respect of such capital.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group
are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements under “Employee benefits” on page 166.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of significant events occurring after the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
percentage of the ordinary shares in public hands exceed
25% as at the date of this annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Set out below are the details of the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions
of the Company as required to be reported under the
Listing Rules.

Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions and have confirmed that the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and are in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

During the period, all of the continuing connected
transactions are fully exempted from reporting, annual
review, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. The related
party transactions as disclosed in note 39 fall under
the scope of connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but are fully exempted from
reporting, annual review, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as stated
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Further information on the Company’s corporate

governance practices is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report contained in this annual report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
COMPANIES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to maintaining
sustainable working practices and pays close attention to
ensure all resources are efficiently utilized.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Period, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operations of our
Group.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
During the Period, the Group did not have any material
litigation or arbitration.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE PERIOD

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint venture
during the Period.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT TO THE PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in accordance with the requirements of the
CG Code, for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. Currently the audit committee
comprises the 3 independent non-executive Directors,
who have reviewed the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by Ernst & Young who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at a fee to be agreed by
the Board.

On behalf of the Board

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
Xiao Xingtao

Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Ernst & Young LK EFTRIEHEF Tel & 3% +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EARAHEEEEI7IR Fax {8 E: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road Koy — 27 ey.com
§ﬂ( Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report % B AR ]

To the shareholders of Riverine China Holdings
Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company"”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 255,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) as issued by
the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), as applicable to
audits of financial statements of public interest entities.
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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BREGEHR

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

HARERSEANBELA

Recoverability of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024 the carrying
amount of trade receivables was
RMB253,258,000, which accounted
for approximately 45.94% of the
current assets of the Group.

We identified the recoverability
of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial
statements and the significant
judgement exercised by management
in estimating the expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for trade receivables,
including the existence of disputes,
historical payment records, forward-
looking factors and any other available
information that may impact the
estimated expected credit losses.

Please refer to notes 3 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements for
related disclosures.
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Our procedures in relation to

AT E S RGBT

assessing the recoverability of trade [ M) 72 7 £13E

receivables included:

—  Obtained an understanding —

of how management assessed
the expected credit losses
for trade receivables, and
evaluating the key control
relating to the monitoring
of the recoverability of trade
receivables;

—  Evaluated and testing the
methodologies and data
or parameters used by
management, including
historical loss information,
forward-looking factors,
probability of default and
expected loss;

— Inquired of management for
the status of each of the
material trade receivables past
due as at the year end and
evaluating explanations from
management with supporting
evidence;

—  Executed analytical review
procedures by analysing the
fluctuations of significant
outstanding balances and
trade receivable turnover
days;

—  Tested, on a sample basis,
the subsequent settlement
of trade receivables to cash
receipts and the related
supporting documentation;
and

—  Assessed the adequacy of
the Group's disclosures in
the consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

BREGEH

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

HARERSEANBELA

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As at 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised goodwill of RMB25.9
million (before impairment) in relation
to the Group's acquisition of a
business.

Management has performed the
annual goodwill impairment test
in accordance with HKAS 36. As a
result of the goodwill impairment
assessment for Hong Xin CGU level (as
defined in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements), the Group
recognised a total impairment loss
of RMB15.7 million during the year,
including RMB13.1 million attributable
to goodwill.

The impairment review of goodwill
performed by the Group includes a
number of significant judgements and
estimates, including those regarding
the identification of operating profit
forecasts, annual revenue growth rate
and discount rate.

We focused on this area because
of the complex and subjective
management estimation made by
management on the key assumptions.

The significant accounting estimates
and disclosures about the impairment

assessment of goodwill are included in

notes 3, 16 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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In order to evaluate the impairment
test carried out by management and
assess the value-in-use of the cash-
generating unit, we performed the
following procedures:

— Involved our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in
evaluating the methodologies
and discount rate used by the
Company for determining the
recoverable amount;

—  Evaluated the competency,
capabilities and objectivity of
the management’s external
valuer;

—  Examined the underlying data
used, such as management's
projection on the future
revenues and operating
results by investigating the
forecasts were consistent with
the financial performance of
each cash generating unit
("CGU") during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

—  Assessed the sensitivity
analysis performed by the
Group’s management on the
impact of changes in the key
assumptions; and

—  Evaluated the adequacy of the
Group's disclosures regarding
goodwill impairment testing.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises
the information other than the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report included in the Annual Report
(other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to
the date of this auditor’s report, and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report, which is expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information which we have obtained prior to and
including the date of the auditor’s report and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

When we read the Chairman’ Environmental, Social
and Governance Report, if we conclude that there is
a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to the Audit Committee.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is WU Hsu Lung.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2024 202412 A318 ILEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
oza AR Tt N R
REVENUE W %5 5 966,816 919,684
Cost of services provided FT 42 4t AR 7% A R 6 (851,554) (845,540)
Gross profit E F 115,262 74,144
Other income and gains H A g A Rz 5 11,070 26,671
Selling and distribution expenses HERKHAX (38,443) (28,106)
Administrative expenses THAX (119,319) (118,699)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMEHER
properties N EEE 14 (12,430) (48,344)
Interest expenses FEMAX 7 (16,117) (14,859)
Share of profits and losses of: AT ARIE % :
Joint ventures EEE 1,645 (3,227)
Associates > 13,818 9,062
LOSS BEFORE TAX B B RS 1B 6 (44,514) (103,358)
Income tax (expense)/credit FrBfR(AX) He 10 (5,633) 22,408
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FABRE (50,147) (80,950)
Attributable to: ATRA T FEAR
Owners of the parent RAHEA A (50,342) (74,464)
Non-controlling interests FEE R 195 (6,486)
(50,147) (80,950)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBEESZFBA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EEERER
OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted (RMB) AR #EFE(ARE) (0.13) (0.19)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
marEBER

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRERE (50,147) (80,950)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hih 2 HEEE
Other comprehensive loss that will not be BEERHRETIEEFTH»E
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ZEGNEMPEES:
periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value  #E IR A FEF A Efth
through other comprehensive income THEZHORERE 186 (452)
Translation differences of the financial FRTRZNEE
statements using different presentation B B 75 R & Y
currency BmEZHE (450) 12
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be F&7% HARS 18 T~ & & #7
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent DEEERMEM
periods THEBBEFHE (264) (440)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FREAM 2 EEEB (R
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX I8 ) (264) (440)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR A2 E 1B 45 (50,411) (81,390)
Attributable to: AT AT A :
Owners of the parent UNSIEFDN (50,606) (74,904)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR = 195 (6,486)
(50,411) (81,390)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
o it AR% Tt NS R
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BERESB 13 60,962 54,215
Investment properties REMEHE 14 100,000 148,000
Right-of-use assets FERESRE 15 35,516 15,520
Goodwill kS 16 12,771 25,901
Finance lease receivables FEY R & E 8 17 8,175 9,219
Other intangible assets EmEEEE 18 5,837 12,311
Investments in joint ventures RELETLERSE 19 27,089 23,438
Investments in associates REEPERE 20 103,927 95,965
Equity investments designated BERAFEFAHM
at fair value through other FHKZED
comprehensive income f& & & 21 2,036 1,850
Other non-current assets BEMIERBEE 22 9,940 13,786
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIBEEE 31 19,345 18,864
Total non-current assets ERBEERLE 385,598 419,069
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 23 260 100
Trade receivables B 5 e WA 24 253,258 235,471
Prepayments and other receivables TE S TR IR B A At WL
I 25 122,634 109,367
Restricted bank balances X PR IR 1T 45 5 26 20,701 27,105
Finance lease receivables FE W Bt & M & I8 17 815 768
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFEYD 27 153,582 139,674
Total current assets MEBEERLE 551,250 512,485
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables B S EMNNRIE 28 132,857 126,912
Other payables and accruals H A & 1~ 508 K e Gt
A 29 151,075 126,105
Interest-bearing bank loans and FFERITER K HAM
other borrowings EEN 30 210,744 186,285
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 20,695 25,025
Tax payable JE A~ B 18 16,171 17,943
Total current liabilities M BERRE 531,542 482,270
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
RERBMRRR (B

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
okza AR Tt NG R
NET CURRENT ASSETS BB EFE 19,708 30,215
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERMDAEME
LIABILITIES 405,306 449,284
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EnRBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans and FFERITER K
other borrowings H i 30 46,636 13,563
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 137,502 154,628
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHEEE 31 350 1,250
Total non-current liabilities R BERRE 184,488 169,441
Net assets BEFE 220,818 279,843
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BARFBEAEML
of the parent R
Issued capital BEITE R 32 3,391 3,391
Reserves G 33 148,895 199,519
152,286 202,910
Non-controlling interests JEVE R 68,532 76,933
Total equity M= 220,818 279,843
Xiao Xing Tao Fu Qi Chang
HEE BHE
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEREEBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 202412 A318 ILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREEARG
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fairvalue  Shares held
Exchange  through other  for the share Non-
Issued Share Capital Merger Statutory  fluctuation  comprehensive award Retained controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* income* scheme* profits* Total interests equity
RATEHA
RR2ENE RRf
2k EX}E NeRKEZ ERitd
-8 BERET KRR+ AREET EEGE B AVEEE  BEKRSr  RERA B FERER Eag
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR ARETR  ARETR RETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
Note 32 Note 33() Note 33(ii Note 33(ii) Note 33(iv) Note 331y
i 330 33t fi 33 3 FE3s)
At 1 January 203 R03EIR1E 3391 147,501 9466 (30342) 35,885 13 (19 (17916) 134,408 283597 85,883 369,480
Loss for the year EMER = = = — - - - - (74464) (74.464) (6,436) (80950
Other comprehensiv Lo for the year: EREHRERE:
Change in fai value of equiy nvestments at BRATEAAED2EEE
fairvalue through other comprehensie oss, HREREZATEED
et of tax ERE) - - - - - - 45)) - - (] = (452)
Transation differences of the financial EREES L]
statements using diferent BERRNRE
presentation curtency 4] - - - - - 12 - - - 12 - 1
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREAERLE - - - - - 1 (452 - (74464 (74.904) (6,486) (81,3%0)
Acquisiton of non-controling interests REFERER = = 1 S S S S = = 1 989) (982)
Disposal of a subsidary He-EHERANDAEL - - - - (2,087) = - - - 2,087) - (2,087)
Capitalinection from non-controling HEATEERER
sharefolder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 100 100
Dividends paid to non-controllng shareholders ~ XfFEERBRNRS - - - - - - - - - - (1,575) (1,575)
final 2022 dividend WERERE - (3,709 - - - S - - - (3,703) S (3,703
Transfer from retained profits EREREET - - - - 1,035 - - = 1,03) = = =
At 31 December 2013 R03EN A3 3391 143,198 94713 (30,342) 34833 135 {n) (17916) 58909 202,910 76933 19843
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
mERBREBR (&

Year ended 31 December 2024 2202412 A31 B L FE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAARAARL
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fairvalue  Shares held
Exchange through other  for the share Non-
Issued Share Capital Merger Statutory  fluctuation  comprehensive award Retained controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* income* scheme* profits* Total interests equity
RAVEHA
EhrEuE EL U]
B&f EXRE  NEREEL ELE]
g RERE  EALR AREE  dReR B ATEER  BAGRS  RERW 8% FEREE Lt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  AEBETT  ARETR ARBTR  ARETr ARBTR AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 32 Note 33() Note 33 Note 33/i Note 33(i) Note 33(y)
fian MR WERG) O WS HEsw 33
At 1 January 2024 HUEIR1E 3391 143,798 9413 (30,342) 34,833 1235 (4n) (17.916) 58,909 202,910 16933 19883
Lossfor the year 3] 1 S - - - - - - - (50,342) (50,342) 195 (50,147)
Other comprehensiv los for the year. EMEBRAEE
Change infar value of equity nvestments at RATEAAED2AER
fairvalue through other comprehensiv los, HREREZATEED
et oftar (HRHE) - - - - - - 18 - - 186 - 186
Translation diferences o th financil ERARESISEY
statements using diferent BRRRNEE
presentation currency £% - - - - - (450) - - - (#50) - (450)
Total comprehensive los forthe year FheEERLE - - - - - (450) 186 - (50342) (50,606) 195 (50411)
Disposalof prtial equiy in 2 subsidiary HE-BRERANT R - - (18) - - - - - - (18) 181 183
Capitalinection from non-controling WELAEERER
shareholder of subsidiaries i - - - - - - - - - - 3200 3200
Dividends pad to non-contoling shareholders X FEARBRNRSE - - - - - - - S S S (1197) (1197)
Transfer fom retaned profts ERERDET - - - - 1919 - - - (1919) - - -
At 31 December 2024 HUERA3NE 3391 143,798 9455 (30.342) 36,752 185 (285) (17.916) 6,648 152,286 68,532 00818
e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * 2024512 A318 - ZEHEREEHGEE M B R

RMB148,895,000 (2023: RMB199,519,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

NERRMERA FEARK148,895,0007T (20234 -
A R #199,519,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 &, 202412 A31B It EE

2023
20234
RMB’000
AR®EF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETZPHRETRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BR 7% Al & 18 (44,514) (103,358)
Adjustments for: AT EIBRTIERAZ
Interest expenses B 7 16,117 14,859
Share of profits and losses of: AT AR B =
Joint ventures EEME (1,645) 3,227
Associates B 8 > 2 (13,818) (9,062)
Interest income 2 A 5 (2,208) (2,400)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B A
Wz — (15,357)
Rent concessions to lessees mAMEARENES
R 17 873 —
Changes in fair value of investment ® &M EHE
properties NEEEZE 14 12,430 48,344
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERZE
equipment e 13 17,251 18,209
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEERE 15 13,005 8,972
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEAEEN 18 5,268 8,483
Remeasurement of financial B EMBER
guarantee contracts a4 29 6,870 —
Impairment of property, plant and MxE - BWEKR&E
equipment A 13 1,061 —
Impairment of other intangible HitmwE\mEEE
assets A 18 2,616 25,500
Impairment of right of use assets ERAEEERE 15 5,280 o
Impairment of goodwill GESNEAE 16 13,130 —
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—FHEEhERN
& 18 6 — 102
Provision for impairment of trade B oW EIE R HA
receivables and other receivables JE W K TR B B 1 6 11,759 6,912
Net gain on revision of a lease term TR EEIE E M #
arising from a change in the non- HEHETHEH
cancellable period of a lease B U 2 % BB (285) —
Net loss on disposal of items of HEME - BER
property, plant and equipment, REBEEEE
net F R 6 1,235 178
44,425 4,609
Decrease/(increase) in restricted SR 8R 1T &8 8RR
bank balances (3% 1) 6,404 (4,790)
Increase in inventories 7 &% (160) (18)
Increase in trade receivables 2 5 ' Wk IE 2N (21,019) (6,794)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments T8 A 3IE K B A e WK
and other receivables 15 (g m), A (24,086) 4,922
Increase in trade payables B 5 e 5RIFE hn 5,945 946
Increase in other payables and Hib et BN EE
accruals FA L 0 18,100 4,499
Decrease in other long-term assets Hfh & B & &R 3,846 6,933
Cash generated from operations KEEBFFERE 33,455 10,307
Corporate income tax paid BENTEMSER (8,786) (7,311)
Net cash flows from operating e E@JFﬁ fﬁi mE
activities F R 24,669 2,996
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

I g = Iﬁﬁl)lbgﬂ%

/1‘/ ~

Year ended 31 December 2024 #,ZE2024%12 831H JJ:E&_

2023
20234
Notes RMB'000
B it ARBT T
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING KEETHMARS
ACTIVITIES mE
Purchases of items of property, plant B EW% - ME&RE
and equipment A B (26,423) (31,844)
Purchases of intangible assets BABLEE (1,410) (2,939)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME BELKEB
property, plant and equipment I B TS KA 129 1,415
Dividends received from joint ventures WEUR B & & > ¥ & Bt
and associates 2EMNRE 11,998 20,572
Investments in joint ventures and ReEEbERBEDLE
associates & & (5,178) (1,850)
Disposal of an associate HE—FBERE — 600
Receipt of finance leases WELE &M E 546 299
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHEB QA — (23,554)
Advances of loans to joint ventures M& & 3 R E AT
and an associate BERE® (10,178) (3,800)
Repayment of advances from joint BEEAEDENEZ
ventures and an associate WA Z B 8,590 1,910
Interest received B U F B 2,696 1,511
Net cash flows used in investing RETHAMALRERE
activities F R (19,230) (37,680)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEETBMEERS
ACTIVITIES meE
New bank loans HIBITER 331,481 214,730
Repayment of bank loans BEIETER (273,949) (163,775)
Capital injection from non-controlling i & 2 &) 3F 2 f% A%
shareholders of subsidiaries A E 3,200 100
Acquisition of a non-controlling W B8 — [ FE 4 AR
shareholder % 3 — (982)
Disposal of partial equity in a HE—RHBARN
subsidiary BB A% HE 163 .
Principal portion of lease payment HENTH ARSI 15 (23,882) (24,674)
Dividends paid to non-controlling XA FIHEERBRER
shareholders % & (11,977) (4,309)
Dividends paid B B — (3,703)
Interest paid B F A (16,117) (14,859)
Net cash flows from financing MEEBMEREAE
activities F R 8,919 2,528
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
REReRER (B)

Year ended 31 December 2024 202412 A318 ILEE

2023
20234
Notes RMB'000
o3 AR®EF T
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH & MBS ZEWigin,/
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OB ) 58 14,358 (32,156)
Cash and cash equivalents FRe kB
at beginning of year ZEY 139,674 171,818
Effect of foreign exchange EEEEHTE
rate change, net )= (450) 12
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREeEAS
AT END OF YEAR EED 153,582 139,674
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BehBEeZEBYHER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS VAl
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RensXkMTiRak
in the statement of cash flows BEEEWY 27 153,582 139,674
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business is located at 14th Floor, Jiushi
Tower, 28 South Zhongshan Road, Shanghai, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the business of property management services
and environmental sanitary services in the PRC.

In the opinion of the Company's directors, the
holding company of the Company is Partner Summit
Holdings Limited (the “Parent”) and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Vital Kingdom
Investments Limited (the “Ultimate parent”),
which was established in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). The ultimate controlling shareholders of
the Company are Mr. Xiao Xing Tao, Mr. Fu Qi
Chang and Mr. Chen Yao (together the “Controlling
Shareholders”).

BA RS IR AR B RE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H
AAREBEH

HIFEZERBRAR(ARRR]DIRE
FERSAREZERERSTMMA L
RERRBRAF - AAFRHEMME
B& #b 3 A& Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands - = 2 & it B R
FEARIME(HE]) LB FILEEK28
JAEKREILE -

AREIMENBAR(SEIANEE]) X
PETENREMEEERBRRRFE
AR 75 S 7%

ARAEERR ARANERRARR
ERERERARTE QAN RART
RERERARBSEHMREARAA (&
BRERAD ARERBRIXES(XRE
BREEEDKINAT o RRFH R K
ERERAEEBELE BEEXRER
L (EREMERBRRD -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. ARARKEEER (&)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries ERMBLARMNESR
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries KRR T EMBARMGFRBRT
are as follows:
Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
Place and date of registered  Percentage of equity
incorporations/ share capital attributable to
registration and BRI the Company
place of operation LER/ ADAEGEREEAIM
Name HMEBY /A8 RESITEN Direct  Indirect Principal activities
28 REBREXHS WEE ER BE TEEH
Sino Ease Global Limited BVI Us$100 100% —  Investment holding
16 June 2016
PRRRERAA RERABE 100% 7T RE R
2016F6A16A
Leading Way Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$68,431,000 = 100%  Investment holding
20 May 2016
IREEERAHF i 68,431,000/ 7T RERKR
2016954208
Shanghai Pujiang Pan Urban PRC/Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 — 100%  Operating management
Operation Management Co., Ltd. Shanghai services
6 February 2024
TBRIRATELERER ER,/RE ST ARE E2ERRB
2024%2 A6R 10,000,0007T
Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China, RMB50,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Shanghai
2 December 2002
FEBRIDERRAF hEAS/E LT AR% BHEEERE
2002F 12428 50,000,0007C
Shanghai Jiu Yi Property PRC/Mainland China, RMB5,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Shanghai
1 April 1996
TBARDEERERAA mEML,/ PE BT AR® BHEERRE
19964 A1H 5,000,0007T
Shanghai Bund Green Construction  PRC/Mainland China, RMB500,000 — 67%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
10 August 2004
LENERICRRERAT A,/ E LT AR% B EE R RS
200487108 500,0007T
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CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
APEIREBER (&)

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

FENMBARANER (&)

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
Place and date of registered  Percentage of equity
incorporations/ share capital attributable to
registration and BRI the Company
place of operation LAER,/ FOREGERELML
Name BERRY/ B EEfRE Direct  Indirect Principal activities
8 REBRE£LE WEE ER BE TEEH
Shanghai Hongji Property PRC/Mainland China, RMB3,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Shanghai
18 March 2016
TRIENEERARRA PEAM,/PELET N FHEERRE
2016%3A18H 3,000,0007C
Shanghai Jiegu Technology Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China, RMBS5,000,000 — 100%  Technology research services
Shanghai
3 May 2016
FENARBARRA mERY,/ HE LT AR BRI R
20165 A3H 5,000,0007c
Shanghai Pujiang Ruizheng Property  PRC/Mainland China, RMB50,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
8 January 2004
TERIRENZERRA ER,/HE 8T AR% FHEEERE
200451H8H 50,000,0007C
Anhui Pujing Property Management ~ PRC/Mainland China, RMB6,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Hefei
10 May 2017
RHRRYEBRAA mERN,/ TEEE ARE EHEEERS
2017454108 6,000,0007c
Shanghai Aidepu Trading Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China, RMB200,000 - 100%  Hardware wholesale
Shanghai
23 November 2006
FENGEREARAR wER,/HE EET AR% B
2006114230 200,0007T
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering PRC/Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 — 97%  Engineering management
Management Company Ltd. Shanghai services
30 November 2004
TENERBIRERGRAR HER/FELET AR IRERRE
2004F11A308 10,000,0007c
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. ARAREEER (&)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EEMBARMNESR (&)
Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
Place and date of registered  Percentage of equity
incorporations/ share capital attributable to
registration and BRI the Company
place of operation LER,/ FOREGEZEELML
Name BERRY/ B EEfRE Direct  Indirect Principal activities
28 REBREXLE WEE ER BE TEEH
Qidong Xingiao Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Jiangsu
15 July 2020
BRABWERBERLDA R,/ ELE AR% BHEERRE
2020%7R15H 10,000,0007C
Nantong PuSheng Intelligent Property - PRC/Mainland China, RMB6,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Jiangsu
18 October 2017
HRBREENEERRA E M,/ P ETE AR% EHEERRE
20174107 18H 6,000,0007c
Hong Xin Environmental Group PRC/Mainland China, RMB57,240,245 — 51%  Environmental sanitary
Co., Ltd. Fujian services
05 July 2000
AMRERERR R A mEMY/ PEER N RREERY
2000%7A58 57,240,2457C
Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company ~ PRC/Mainland China, RMBS5,000,000 — 58%  Property management services
Limited Anhui
13 September 2004
ERTERNEERAT AN,/ PEEH AR% FHEEERK
2004497130 5,000,0007%
Hebei Puhehang Property PRC/Mainland China, RMBS5,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Hebei
16 March 2021
AABMITNRERBR PEIA M,/ R E T N FHEERRE
BRG] 2021%3A168 5,000,0007C
Shanghai Chenzhao Human Resources  PRC/Mainland China, RMB1,000,000 — 100%  Job intermediary activity
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
29 September 2022
TRRBANERERAR BN,/ PE AT AR% BEFNED
2022F9A29R 1,000,0007t

114 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
2EIREBER (&)

FRMBEATNESR (&)

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
Place and date of registered  Percentage of equity
incorporations/ share capital attributable to
registration and BRI the Company
place of operation LAER,/ FOREGERELML
Name BERRY/ B EEfRE Direct  Indirect Principal activities
8 REBRE£LE WEE ER BE TEEH
Shanghai Xingyunhao Catering Service PRC/Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Catering services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
23 November 2022
LBREFERRBARAA - wERM/PELED AR Z2RRH
20224114238 10,000,0007C
& Shanghai Pujiang Pan Urban Operation Management Co., L FBBEIZHATELERBRAARES

Ltd. is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
under PRC law.

**  These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability
companies under PRC law.

Shanghai Xingyunhao Catering Service Co., Ltd. was
indirectly wholly owned by the Company, of which 100%
equity interests were held on trust by an independent
third party for the Group as the beneficiary.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

BUEZREMAIEBEDLE -

> ZEWBRRDBREBEPEEZIMARIL
EREMERA -

LR EREERRBEAR QA BHAARME
BE2EHER HA100%KRERBLE=ZH
DNEXFAREAEBIEASEZARTH -

EERR LRI ARENE QT
BEREAFERXRALABUNAERE

EFEIIERD EERARIHEM

MEBARZHFBRSREARITE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.
2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for certain equity
investments designed at fair value through other
comprehensive income and investment properties
which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority
of voting rights results in control. When the
Company has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(¢) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

BA RS IR AR B RE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.
2.1

2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the
current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabillties as Current or
Non-current (the "2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use
it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate occurring from the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as current
or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to
defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement. The amendments
also clarify that a liability can be settled in
its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January
2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
clarify the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As
the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not
have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards,
if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements’

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures’

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-cependent
HKFRS 7 Flectricity

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKAS 28 Investor and fts Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeabillty'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS — Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Accounting Standards HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
— Volume 11

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited
changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit
or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing,
financing, income taxes and discontinued operations
and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note
and introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the
location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group
is currently analysing the new requirements
and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period,
an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot
have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which
comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company's subsidiaries are
considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their
specified financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and
can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify
the application of the "“own-use” requirements
for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The
amendments also include additional disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to understand
the effects these contracts have on an entity’s
financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall
be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. The amendments
relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships
designated on or after the date of initial application.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the
same time. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date
when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance
on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
The amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and
paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the
standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in
the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The
amendments clarify that when a lessee has
determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9,
the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of
HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is
just one example of various relationships
that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the
investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of
HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of
“cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

joint venture.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statements
of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other case, upon loss
of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

transferred,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates.
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where the recoverable amount

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities

Level 2

based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3

based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;

or

(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties (continued)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

11.82% to 63.16%
19% to 33.33%
9.5% to0 31.67%
9.5% to0 31.67%

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties, the deemed cost of a property
for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the
date of change in use. If a property occupied by the
Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
for owned property and/or accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as
a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 2 to 5
years.

Customer relationship

Client relationship has an amortisation period of
nine years based on estimated beneficial period
considering industry experience, customer retention
rate and others.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(continued)

Research and development costs (continued)
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years

Stores 3.4 to 8.5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured
modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FIBEGE
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEBERM®E)

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment that is
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease term and is included in revenue in
the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease
payments and related payments (including the initial
direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the
lease is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return
over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a
sublease is classified as a finance lease or operating
lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-
term lease to which the Group applies the on-
balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial
assets depends on their classification as follows:
(continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

150 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2.4

gt BEE)
EXRSFEHEE

REREMEBMEE (B)

HEGEB(E
EREZMEENERTERTUTOE
miE : (8&)

FEE # 2 F (B A B b £ E K a5 89 £ 3
EE(KERE)
RUPHERE RSB EERBRER
BNEAEB BT EREN2RH LA
EHFATHEREEEEYFFBIEESR
B SERERETSATREM D R AE
EERAFEFAREMCEZERENRER
B pBENDBRENIAEEEF -

ZEETREENERKETEORER
mAT - EREXMNER  BREERRD
RPERR/EMUA - BRIEAKE I
BRERERED  FR—Bo0EK
TREERADN  RZBAT » FEWE
ARGFAELEEKE - HER R FE
FAAHMEZENENREREBARR
B AE T



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement,
what extent,
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.

it evaluates if, and to
it has retained the risk and rewards

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred assets is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

2.4

BA RS IR AR B RE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

gt EEE)
EXRSFEHEE

RIEBIAETRMEE
TREECGMER —BEREEDN
—MoR—HELUSMEEN — D)
TZ2ETIHNBERTHRULERENER
SESREHHRM KB

s WHMEEMRF
A JE 3K

ReRENENE

e AKBEEZRHWMEEMBR

ERENEN - HRE-AE N
T ERBERETENBERT

EAEHAKRBEEREZBR N
?%:EMTE'&m$%@E%
BRERENRBABYRR KB -
i@$%ll*%%j%ﬁaﬁ
BENBAMOARNEE®R B2
BREZAEENIEH E -

EARBEERENNEEMSR S
MEMBENIEEXREN L - BIFFH&

HEEBRBZEEMBENRR & E R

RERE FIARERARELZEEN
BAHOERNO®K  TAEBEZEE
ENENE AEESAAEERFES
HEERREBRIAMEREE - &
EREAT AKET SRR —REH
BE-CEREEMBBRABENRER
MASEDRBOERN R T THOEEL

s °

SEYREASERCEREE(FLN
—HRE EZRREENRE@EEAN
SEXABENRSRENREESE -

SEITHREERARAR £22024 151



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 60 days past due.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables which applies the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

2

1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and

Stage 1 —

for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to

12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit

risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 —

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that does not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and
borrowings is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group
are those contracts that require a payment to
be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make
a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set
; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,

out in “Impairment of financial assets”
the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and
held by the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost and recorded under
“Shares held for the share award scheme”. No gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on the
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in administrative expenses in profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

158 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2.4

gt BEE)
EXRSFEHEE

MR T EBER > AERRENEE
REMBETEEMERER N HwEH
AWMBEE- - BRBAEESEEmMEN S
Bt ABSTHTERAX -

FRriEH

SR ERAEMELERIE - FASHN
BREBRAINERNIER  HEESR
ShEERR  MEHEMEmR S ERAERE

MR BEEERBEDRENRBREHAR
ERHREE LEBEMBOHE(RBOX) -
TERAEEREXRHAEBRRNIRT
RENES  REHASERBHERD
IXMTFHEEBANSETE -

ERXEREDNRBEHREERAED
MEEEEREREAENREE M
MAFAERZRE  REREXELEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. I BEGE
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEBERM®E)

(continued)

Income tax (continued) Fir 18 B (&)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable EEMEEERMERANEREZRT
temporary differences, except: AFER - A TE SRR :

when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax

assets are only recognised to the extent that it

is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer.
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

The variable consideration is

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Provision of property management services
Revenue from the provision of property
management services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because
the customer simultaneously receives the benefits
provided by the Group. Like the previous year,
revenue from the lump sum basis are recognised on
a gross basis, and revenue from fixed remuneration
contracts are recognised on a net basis.

Provision of urban sanitary services

Revenue from the provision of urban sanitary
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives the benefits provided by the
Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income arising from operating leases on
investment properties is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.

Revenue from catering is recognised when catering
services have been provided to customers.

Revenue from event planning and management
is recognised over the event period of a project
as customers have simultaneously received and
consumed the benefits provided by the Group’s
services. Revenue is recognised using a straight-line
basis over the term of the contract.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is measured at the market value of the shares (less
subscription price, if any), adjusted for the exclusion
of expected dividends to be received in the vesting
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and
service conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not
met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding non-vested
ordinary shares is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentages of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated
outside Mainland China use Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") as their functional currencies, respectively.
The functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries is
RMB. As the Group mainly operates in Mainland
China, RMB is used as the presentation currency
of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to
the extent that the differences are attributable to
non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as
lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property
leases on its investment property portfolio. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of
the economic life of the commercial property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the commercial property, that it retains substantially
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the
lease term of contracts with renewal options
The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating whether or not to
exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to
terminate the lease.

The Group includes the renewal period as part of
the lease term for leases of plant and machineries
and motor vehicles due to the significance of
these assets to its operations. These leases have
a short non-cancellable period and there will be
a significant negative effect on production if a
replacement is not readily available.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties
and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed
criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by
the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that
is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
and another portion that is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a
finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on
an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property
does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the
appraised market value by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market
for similar properties and uses assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active
market for similar properties, the Group considers
information from a variety of sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for
properties of a different nature, condition or
location or subject to different leases or other
contracts, adjusted to reflect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since
the dates of the transactions that occurred at
those prices; and

() discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts and (when possible) by
external evidence such as current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was
RMB12,771,000 (2023: RMB25,901,000). Further
details are given in note 16.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses and deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying
value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
deductible temporary differences and tax losses
at 31 December 2024 was RMB19,345,000 (2023:
RMB18,864,000). The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2024 was RMB115,657,000
(2023: RMB68,636,000). Further details are
contained in note 31 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on invoice date for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
property management services sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 24 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets
(including the right-of-use assets) at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The impairment loss recognised
for other intangible assets during the year
amounted to RMB2,616,000. Further details are
contained in note 18 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their services and has
five reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) Property management services;
(b)  Urban sanitary services;
(c) Catering services;

(d) Sublease services from investment properties;
and

(e) Other.

The sublease services from investment properties
segment invests in prime commercial space for its
rental income potential.

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that interest income, share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates, non-lease-
related finance costs, other unallocated income and
gains as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating segment is disclosed as it is not regularly
provided to the chief operating decision-maker for
review.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

REsHER (@)

Property Urban
management sanitary  Catering  Sublease
services services services services Other Total
Year ended 31 December B 220245128318 kS HE
2024 LEE EERE RERE EHRE BEER Efh #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETn ARETn ARETR AR%Tn ARETR AR%T:n
Segment revenue (note 5) AHWE (K &E5)
Service provided to external MAMBE PR
customers R 690,707 232,440 20,106 10,831 12,732 966,816
Segment results ITHEE 57,440 19,726 (9,399) (8,648) 1,583 60,702
Recondiliation: 5%
Interest income MERA 1,786
Share of profits and losses of: BIEUATARIES:
Joint ventures RELE 1,645
Associates HELE 13,818
Other unallocated income EfhRAEHA
and gains Rz 9,284
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R Eft A2
expenses Y (123,326)
Finance costs (other than interest BRI K (BEBE
on lease liabilities) BRI (8,423)
Loss before tax BRHMER (44,514)
Other segment information ~ Ef 2 HEH
Impairment losses recognised in ~~ NEFRHER
the statement of profitor loss ~ JHEEE - 15,746 6,341 - - 22,087
Depreciation and amortisation 7 % 1 # 7,336 16,745 13715 4,068 - 35,524
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

REesHER (@)

Property Urhan
management sanitary Catering Sublease
services services services services Total
Year ended 31 December HZE2023F128318 nx i
2023 L5 EERE RERB ERRH ERRE i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARBTI  ARETT ARET:R
Segment revenue (note 5) 28 s (B &5)
Service provided to external RN PR
customers R 686,535 226,468 6,174 507 919,684
Segment results ITHRE 53,467 5,081 (7,516) (13,816) 37,216
Reconciliation: E:
Interest income Y ON 2,159
Share of profits and losses of: EENTATES:
Joint ventures REL% (3,227)
Associates Bats 9,062
Other unallocated income and gains £t & A B A Rl & 24,512
Corporate and other unallocated P EREM KL E
expenses 5 (166,897)
Finance costs (other than intereston BEMKA(REARE
lease liabilities) il 85N (6,183)
Loss before tax BRAER (103,358)
Other segment information Ethp HEH
Impairment losses recognised in the  RIER KR 2
statement of profit o loss HEER = 25,500 = = 25,500
Depreciation and amortisation mENEH 11,647 22,904 1,113 = 35,664
Geographical information EER

Since all of the Group’s revenue was generated
from its operations in Mainland China and all of
the Group’s non-current assets were located in

Mainland China, no geographical information in
accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is

presented.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BRESHBER(E)

(continued)

Information about major customers EBRXTEEZEFNESR

Since none of the Group's sales to a single customer HRAEERE-FFEENEESR
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total FEANAEBBRRAI10%3 A £ - BRI
revenue, no information about major customers in EREBREBVBERELELNFESHAZL S
accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is HE2HNETEEFER -

presented.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. z=E - HEtlr A Rl =

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WD

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt NG R

Revenue from contracts with customers 8% F & #7689 H 25
Property management services income £ % &l %) % & 312 R 1%

on the lump sum basis A 689,313 685,049
Property management services income Bl & I ¥ % & 12 IR 7%
on the fixed remuneration basis A 1,394 1,486
Catering services income Z 8RR S U A 20,106 6,174
Urban sanitary services income Yk B IR BT AR T M A 232,440 226,468
Other Eifb 12,732 —
Revenue from other sources E i KR 89 40 7
Gross rental income from sublease REREUHEHWED
services from investment properties EMHRBAEES
WA 4R 10,831 507
Total HBEt 966,816 919,684
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. =& - HttWw A R = (&)
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHNKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) sEWEER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T N

Timing of revenue recognition U i 7 32 B [

Services transferred over time BE B R 8 % RS
Property management services M EERBERA

income 690,707 686,535
Urban sanitary services income Sk 88 IR 87 AR 75 A 232,440 226,468
Other Hh 12,732 —

935,879 913,003

At a point in time R
Catering services income BRRB KA 20,106 6,174
Total I 955,985 919,177
The following table shows the amount of T3RR3R E B R A A
revenue recognised in the current reporting T ZEWREARIIERSH
period that was included in the contract MNEY & X B E IR LA <X
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting WBEAEETER TAER:

period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

Revenue recognised that was RBEHINFAAGHNER
included in contract liabilities at 2 BRI
the beginning of the reporting
period:
Provision of property management 124 #) % & 12 R 7%
services 12,200 12,987
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz HMbW A RWE (&)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHMHMKE(E)

(continued)

(b) Performance obligation (b) BREE

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Property management services and urban
sanitary services

The performance obligation is satisfied over
time as services are rendered. Management
service contracts are for periods of one to
eight years and are billed based on the time
incurred.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December are as follows:

BRAEEMNESELE R
T

Y B FE R 7R M 3R R 1 IR

BHOEEBREHERBOKETX -
EERBAONE —ZENFNF
RIS - WIRELWBHERK -

R12A31H "EEEH%TRERAHEE
(REKIHBLPER)NRZERE
LI N

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE Tt NS R

Amounts expected to be TEER R R B U A B

recognised as revenue: ®H:

Within one year —F R 771,776 692,162
After one year BiE—F 598,591 687,841
Total st 1,370,367 1,380,003

SEITHREERARAR £252024 183
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz HMbW A RWE (8

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEAMK R (&)

(continued)

(b) Performance obligation (continued) (b) BABEFEE)
Property management services and urban Y% E R R W R IR R % ()
sanitary services (continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to EHER -—FEERAKRZND
the remaining performance obligations which REHRTENEBEENRSEREE
are expected to be recognised as revenue B B B )\ A KR ) 3 B IR AR
after one year relate to property management BRBERERSE HEEZHT
services and urban sanitary services, of which BHRHEINMBEAMRSEBRERE
the performance obligations are to be satisfied BHER-—FABRR RN E - £
within eight years. All the other amounts of NEENEBLTEEXRG
transaction prices allocated to the remaining ATEERE -

performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T AREF T
Other income H fth Uy 25
Interest income LB U A 1,786 2,159
Government grants* X 8 B 6,233 4,892
Interest income from finance lease & & T & & I F| &
receivables A 422 241
Others HAi 2,629 4,022
11,070 11,314
Gains W 8
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — A B B A A = — 15,357
Total P 11,070 26,671
e Government grants include various subsidies * I T 78 BE B 45 A 5% B 4 AE A BT A A
received by the Group from the relevant government BISNZREMHY - HMEFBZEMY
bodies. There are no unfulfilled conditions or HRERIGFSBEE -

contingencies relating to these grants.
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

BA RS IR AR B RE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

R B A0 & 1B
A& BB BATE BB GEA) T3
SEEEL

Cost of services provided

Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use

assets

Amortisation of other intangible

assets*

Research and development costs

Employee benefit expense
(excluding directors’ and

chief executive’s remuneration

(note 8)):
Wages and salaries

Pension scheme contributions
Lease payments not included
in the measurement of lease

liabilities
Auditor’s remuneration

Impairment of trade receivables

and other receivables

Remeasurement of financial

guarantee contracts

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Fair value loss on investment

properties
Loss on disposal of
an associate
Interest income

Impairment of other intangible

assets**

Impairment of property, plant

and equipment**
Impairment of right-of-use
assets**
Impairment of goodwill**
Government grants

12 AR %5 A AR
M WER&E
e
FREEE
e
EmEREE
B~
Tt 8 B A
EERAMAL
(TBEEER
FETHRAEMS
(Bt 5£8)) -
TERF®
RIKREE I
Kt ATHEAE
FFTEMEE
IR
% ED BN &
BESEW AR EAME
W R IE R 1B
BT EMEER
=N
HE—REH B AR K=
HEME - BER&KE
HEMEE
HEHEEWENRFE
&8
HE—HBELPEN
& 18
B WA
EmEREE
B
A
B
FRESEE
A **
7B R B+
5 T #78 B

2024 2023

2024 20234

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
g ARE T N
851,554 845,540

13 17,251 18,209
15 13,005 8,972
18 5,268 8,483
4,865 5,717

264,502 287,357

65,094 70,807

1,632 2,696

1,900 2,050

24,25 11,759 6,912
29 6,870 S
36 — (15,357)
13 1,235 178
12,430 48,344

— 102

5 (1,786) (2,159)
18 2,616 25,500
13 1,061 —
15 5,280 —
16 13,130 =
5 (6,233) (4,892)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBIAIE (S
The amortisation of other intangible assets for the year is e REEEMERNEESETAGEREER
included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated RIMfTERA] -

statement of profit or loss.

**  The impairments of other intangible assets, property, o HMEEEE WE BRERZXE -EA
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and goodwill are BEERBENREFAGREGERZRNIT
included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated HAZ] -

statement of profit or loss.

7. INTEREST EXPENSES 7. MEMX

An analysis of interest expenses is as follows: MERZHTAOT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE Tt N

Interest expenses on bank loans and RITER R EAMERFE

other borrowings ] 32 8,423 6,183
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENES 7,694 8,676
Total st 16,117 14,859
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFTEMTHAEMS
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for BIE LML BEQAEH 5E383(1)
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, @- b ORMEARAR(BEEES
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong FlemERD RO FE2BETEENFARNE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies ERFETRAENMEHT:
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG R
Fees we 333 321
Other emoluments: B e :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EUENKEWD
in kind & 7l 2,722 2,722
Pension scheme contributions PSRN R 163 191
2,885 2,913
Total 4=t 3,218 3,234

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

(@) BYKHITES
FRNENBIFNTEENHEE N
T

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB"000

AR®E Tt N

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence HERLAE 111 107
Mr. Cheng Dong BRELE 111 107
Mr. Weng Guogiang SEEEE 111 107
Total Bt 333 321

There were no other emoluments payable
to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2023: Nil).

FA - BMEERNTEILFERTES
B E b B & (20234 : &) ©
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFTETHAEMES(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive

director and the chief executive FETHAE

Year ended 31 December 2024

(b) BITES  —BIITESER

BENUFENRNALEE
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Pension  share award
and benefits scheme scheme Total
inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
NEREE
5 2ER e MRGRE
e ENER AEfR B 1B Hess
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETTR
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao HERLE - 929 - - 929
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BHERAE - 703 - - 703
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao'! EReyal - 590 151 = ™
Ms. Wang Hui TErt - 500 12 - 512
- 2,722 163 - 2,885
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Zhang Yong Jun FHELE - - - - -
Total i - 2,722 163 - 2,885
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFEMTHAEME(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) MITEE —BEHTEER
director and the chief executive FETHABRE)
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

BRBENANALER
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Pension share award
and benefits scheme scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
WEHER

Ft 2HR Bfie  WRHER
B ENEH AR ERAX HesE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Executive directors: HrES:

Mr. Xiao Xing Tao HEBLE - 929 - - 929

Mr. Fu Qi Chang BAB%E - 703 - - 703

Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao" Ryl - 590 123 - 713

Ms. Wang Hui 184+ - 500 68 = 568

- 2722 191 - 2913
Non-executive director: FHTES:

Mr. Zhang Yong Jun REELL — — — — B
Total it - 2122 191 - 2913
(1) Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao is also the chief executive of the ) BYSXENMAEARARBEETHAE

Company.
There was no arrangement under which a FA BECMNEFHEETHR
director or the chief executive waived or ABERBEXRAEREETMMEH
agreed to waive any remuneration during the ZH o
year.
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year
included two directors including the chief executive
(2023: three directors including the chief executive),
details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining three (2023: two) highest
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

TEBE%HER

FR IEESFEEREMEBEER
BRoTHRABQO3F =FEF B
ERTBAR) RENMEFHHER
£ XM 8 - FRHT=%(20235F : W
BIFARBEZTRRSTRABNKR
BHEENFMFBLT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR Tt NG S

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & 2B X EWEF 2,472 1,986
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIH R 302 123
Total @t 2,774 2,109

The numbers of non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band are as

TN FATHENFEERIERSTT
BABSRSHEEAHNT:

follows:
Number of employees
BEAH
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Nil to RMB1,000,000 Tz AR %1,000,0007T 2 1
RMB1,000,000 to A R #1,000,000t &
RMB1,500,000 A R #1,500,0007T 1 1
Total et 3 2
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10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the tax
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operate. The Group and the Company
are not liable for income tax in Hong Kong as they
did not have assessable income sourced from Hong
Kong during the year.

The Company is a tax-exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Except for certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
qualified as Small Low-profit Enterprises and thus
are entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
2.5% and 5%, PRC income tax has been provided at
the applicable income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%)
on the assessable profits of the PRC subsidiaries.

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

. ECE
AEBEANERELERAEBEKER
J‘E"Eafﬂﬁ&i«‘%Fﬁ&?i%liﬁﬁ?i&
SEENXMABER - AEBRAR
Tﬂ/,\f”%ﬂl MBEBAEHR BRERFA
WEIREEBOERBTIA

ARARRASESEMKRINEHA
—JO

BRETHRENBRARFGAER AR
MAEE BUHEEZH25%K5%H)
BEFBHEN HPEMNE AR ER
i % M) 1% 8 F FT 15 B E25% (20234 -
25%)EITH TS BB o

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
Current — Mainland China B HA — A B A i

Charge for the year FAXMH 8,138 9,226
Over provision in prior years BEFEBRBEEE (1,124) (496)
Deferred tax (note 31) i FE 75 78 (M 35 31) (1,381) (31,138)

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FRAMBIL,(EHR)
48 A 5,633 (22,408)
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FIEHBAX(E)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable BARBIREARDBOMB AR MR,

to profit before tax at the statutory rate for the REEFTERIEEREZETEAENR

jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority MAIRMAEROMERBZER
of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate MEGENTERZHRAT

to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR%E Tt NG R
Loss before tax B B RS B (44,514) (103,358)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of BEEME2%FTER
25% I8 (11,129) (25,840)
Lower tax rates enacted by local 75 5B P 48 5 B BUE B R
authorities (306) (2,032)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods Fff & /3 48 1 Hi 6 #1855 18 (2,619) (98)
Profits and losses attributable to joint A& ¥ L E P EEL
ventures and associates (note (a)) A K 8 1B (M 5E () (3,866) (1,459)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of B fE HifS BN EAF5 1B 58 &
previous periods (1,124) (496)
Expenses not deductible for tax DIk A 1,609 1,939
Tax losses and temporary differences RERIEEE TR
not recognised ZH 23,068 5,578
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s BEAEEERMNEHEZ
effective rate MBS H(ER) 5,633 (22,408)

Note: B 3 -

(@) The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and (@) HE2024FNANBIEEE  DhEaE0 %
associates amounting to RMB5,754,000, for the year NoBe & ¥ 1B A K 5,754,000t (2023
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB5,056,000) is #F: AR#5,056,0007T) it ABREE R
included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures RKINDERELERBEREER] -

and associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

11. DIVIDENDS 11. K&
No dividend has been paid or declared by the RKRal R HEWEB AR RE E2024%F12 A
Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended BNHEFEYHERNHEIREMEKE -

31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BRAREBESBEEAEALAEBR
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 8
PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share REABNEB DR AR L HEE
amount is based on the loss for the year attributable AR AABRBLMFEFABBELRFRNDELT
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the 396,782,000 % (20234 : 396,782,000/% )
weighted average number of ordinary shares of TERMETHEGE -
396,782,000 (2023: 396,782,000) outstanding
during the year.
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary H £2024F K2023F12A318 L F & -
shares in issue during the year ended 31 December AEBYEEBEESCETEAR -
2024 and 2023.
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per EREAREERNDNIEATEIRGE -
share are based on:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® Tt N R
Loss Bia
Loss attributable to ordinary equity BAREBRERFTEEA
holders of the parent FE1E & 18 (50,342) (74,464)
Number of shares
R % & 8
2024 2023
20244 20234
Shares Bz
Weighted average number of ordinary ZAFEE#HTEBERHN
shares outstanding during the year hn i T & 396,782,000 396,782,000
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAXR#EEARE) (0.13) (0.19)
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. % -BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
improvements ~ machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress
BE BER B kR
E$3 Ke R&E HE IR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
AE¥TR  ARMTR  AR¥Tn  ARMTR  ARETR  AR¥T:R
31 December 2024 2004512531R
At 1 January 2024: B0UEIFIR:
Cost KA 9,280 14,673 4,197 89,081 10,120 128,551
Accumulated depreciation 2itME (4,89) (9,720) (2,256) (57,468) - (74,336)
Net carrying amount FHAE 4,388 4,953 2,54 2213 10,120 54,215
At 1 January 2024, net of BM0AEIRE HB 5
accumulated depreciation ik 4,388 4,953 2,54 32213 10,120 54,215
Additions hE 5,031 310 349 8,305 12,368 26,423
Disposals hE - (84) (50) (1,230) = (1,364)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERTE& & (4,986) (1,797) (465) (10,003) - (17,251)
Impairment W (847) (188) (26) = = (1,061)
Transfers g5 18,348 4,140 - = (22,488) =
At 31 December 2024, net of R0uFNANE 1K
accumulated depreciation 2ifhE 21,934 7,39 2,349 29,285 - 60,962
At 31 December 2024: N0UE12A3NR:
Cost WA 32,659 18,366 41m 90,976 - 146,773
Accumulated depreciation 2iHER
and impairment HE (10,725) (10972) (2423) (61,691) - (85.811)
Net carrying amount FERE 21934 739 2349 29285 - 60,962
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
13. ¥ BEERRXE®E)

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
il BER B g
NE%6 BE RkE ot Ik st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®Tn  ARETn  ARETn  AR%Tn  ARETR  ARETR
31 December 2023 2023512531R
At 1 January 2023; RuEIfIA:
Cost AE 2,863 12,046 4589 86,046 - 105,544
Accumulated depreciation 2ithhE (2,283) (9,305) (2,635) (51,390) — (65,613)
Net carrying amount ROE 580 2,14 1,954 34,65 - 39,931
At 1 January 2023, net of ROBEIRA1R AR ZH
accumulated depreciation hE 580 274 1,954 34,656 = 39,931
Additions RE 6,417 3,182 746 13,128 10,120 34,193
Disposals e - (241) ) (1383) - (1593)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHELT - (25) (18) (64) = (107)
Depreciation provided during the year AT E& & (2,609) (1304) (132) (14,164) = (18,209)
At 31 December 2023, net of R0BENANA - 1k
accumulated depreciation ZihE 4388 4953 2,541 3213 10,120 54,215
At 31 December 2023: R2023%128318:
Cost WA 9,280 14,673 4797 89,681 10,120 128,551
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (4,892) (9,720 (2,256) (57,468) = (74,336)
Net carrying amount EOAE 4388 4,953 2,541 0213 10,120 54,215

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’'s
motor vehicles with a net carrying amount
of approximately RMB13,840,000 (2023:
RMB16,222,000) were pledged to secure certain of
the other borrowings (note 30).

MR2024F12A31H  AEBEREFELD
A A R #13,840,0007T (2023F : AR ¥
16,222,0007T) B )R E E B E R H
Bz R EE30) -
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 4. REMEEHME

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB"000

AR% Tt N R

Carrying amount at 1 January MATEMEREE 148,000 159,900

Transfer from finance lease receivables  f& Ut §t & 70 & 7k 1A 4% #& — 36,444

Transfer to right-of-use assets BRECRAEEE (35,570) —
Net loss from a fair value AFEERABEEENEE

adjustment FEE (12,430) (48,344)

Carrying amount at 31 December R1I2A3MEEREE 100,000 148,000

The Group’s investment properties consist of
certain commercial properties in Shanghai. The
directors of the Company have determined that
the investment properties consist of one class
of asset, i.e., commercial, based on the nature,
characteristic and risk of the property. The Group's
investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2024 based on valuations performed
by independent professionally qualified valuers,
at RMB100,000,000. Each year, the Group’'s
property manager and the chief financial officer
select external valuers to perform valuation of
the Group's properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained. The
Group's property manager and the chief financial
officer have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed for annual financial
reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 15 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The recurring fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2024 is Level 3 which required significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair
value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment
properties:

Significant
Valuation technique

unobservable inputs

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

14. REMEHE &)

R o 19 4 5 4 7 202412 318
MEEHATEHESRAE=M K
ATEHEFEEAEATTHRERA
B -

RER F-—RRE_HKZBELEQF
B EEE  TEAFEFESAFE
HE=H -

ATARRENFEHEGMEMAMGBET X
LEARBABIENHRE:

Range or Range or
weighted weighted
average average

fhE &M BEATABREAME EERMNETY EIEERIE RS
2024 2023
2024%F 2023F
Commercial Discounted cash flow Estimated rental value 0.15-0.93 0.17-1.03
properties method (per sg.m. per month)
Ehik/ES BEFREREE BEHERE
(BEAREFA)
Rent growth (p.a.) 3.12% 3.35%
MeBRE(FF)
Long term vacancy rate 6.84% 6.69%
REZEEX
Discount rate 7.00% 7.00%
B %

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value
is estimated using assumptions regarding the
benefits and liabilities of ownership over the asset’s
life including an exit or terminal value. This method
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on
a property interest. A market-derived discount rate
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to
establish the present value of the income stream
associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount
rate.

REFRAREREE RFEDLKRA
FHEESTAMARKE RABEMHNR
FETH (BERELEEINRKER) -
AITESR M ERERN - ERE SR
EMMEB - MHITENEREXERRNA
AREeREUNBELEEEFBHOK
BRRE  RAREXBERERE
EHABRINEEREE -
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

14.

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The duration of the cash flows and the specific
timing of inflows and outflows are determined
by events such as rent reviews, lease renewal and
related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of
property. The periodic cash flow is estimated
as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives,
maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and
other operating and management expenses. The
series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the
end of the projection period, is then discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated
rental value and the market rent growth rate per
annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and
the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties. Generally, a change in
the assumption made for the estimated rental value
is accompanied by a directionally similar change in
the rent growth per annum and the discount rate
and an opposite change in the long term vacancy
rate.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for store, office
premises and plant and equipment. Leases of the
store and office premises generally have lease
terms between 2 and 5 years, while plant and
equipment have lease terms of 3 years. Other rental
agreements generally have lease terms of 12 months
or less and are individually of low value.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-
use assets and the movements during the year
are as follows:

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

15. &)
REBEHAEANGE
() ERAEEE
AEEERBEENKRAELER
FRFENZESHBEROT:

Office
Store premises Total
JE 8 WD IE T #Et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTET ARBETRT ARETE

As at 1 January 2023 #A2023%F181H — 10,355 10,355
Additions NE 10,241 3,896 14,137
Depreciation charge (note 6) T E X I (M 5E6) (4,898) (4,074) (8,972)
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H

and 1 January 2024 % 202451818 5,343 10,177 15,520
Additions NE 2,645 2,125 4,770
Transfer from investment EHEAKREM

properties B i &= 35,570 — 35,570
Disposal EE - (2,059) (2,059)
Depreciation charge (note 6) e it (B sE6) (9,407) (3,598) (13,005)
Impairment BB (5,280) = (5,280)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512A31H 28,871 6,645 35,516
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) REBERAHEAGE
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRNHEEAENEEELREYIS
movements during the year are as follows: ST
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T N R
Carrying amount at 1 January MATEREREE 179,653 190,190
New leases MAEE 4,770 14,137
Accretion of interest recognised FAE RN EEM
during the year 7,694 8,676
Disposal BE (2,344) =
Payments (NN (31,576) (33,350)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31HM R EE 158,197 179,653
Analysed into: AR iv=2
Current B 5 20,695 25,025
Non-current 3k BN &1
— in the second year —F-F 17,286 17,957
— in the third to fifth years, —E=F=RHF
inclusive (BIEEEWF) 57,164 54,014
— beyond five years — RFMU E 63,052 82,657
Sub-total for non-current FEBDER /N 137,502 154,628
Total lease liabilities HEAEBERRE 158,197 179,653
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities HEARNIHIMRNEBHRE
is disclosed in note 43 to the financial B 5E433 5& -
statements.
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15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in
relation to leases are as follows:

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

15. &)

rEBEREBEAE)
() RExEREHEFEN BN
N

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’'000 RMB"000
AR% Tt NS R
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEGERNA 7,694 8,676
Depreciation charge of right-of-use £ F# & E T &
assets X i 13,005 8,972
Expense relating to short-term HEHBEERKEE
leases and leases of low-value BEEMEEHRH
assets i X 1,632 2,696
Total amount recognised in profit R IB R K
or loss 1A% 22,331 20,344

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in
note 36(c) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note
14) consisting of commercial properties in Shanghai
under operating lease arrangements. The terms
of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions. Rental income recognised by the
Group during the year was RMB10,831,000 (2023:
RMB507,000), details of which are included in note
5 to the financial statements.

(d HENRERELABRRERMK
WK FE36(C) ©

AEBEALERAA

AEEREBEKEHELHEBAERE
EE K14 BELENEIAED
X - ZSHENBKBR—REKEAPLX
MRES TANTHREERLTER
EFHMSBERAAZRES - AEBREFER
ERHOE WA R A KKI0,831,0007T
(20234 : A R¥507,0007T) BB
B B R 3R BT RS o
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEEREEANE)
At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease 72024512 A31H » A & B 7 & 3K 8 [
payments receivable by the Group in future periods BEAEAFPHTAIRELERER R
under non-cancellable operating leases with its BREMEWEENRET:

tenants are as follows:

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB"000

AR% Tt NS R

Within one year —F R 17,177 12,217
After one year but within two years —FRHRERMFEA 18,647 13,917
After two years but within three years MWERBR=FR 17,122 14,467
After three years but within four years ZF#&EBRMNFR 19,968 14,403
After four years but within five years NFEZERAEFR 11,385 12,433
After five years HF%E 59,607 62,624
Total HBEt 143,906 130,061
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16. GOODWILL

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

16. BHE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG R
At 1 January: R1A18 :
Cost X 7R 25,901 25,901
Accumulated impairment ZERE — —
Net carrying amount BREF 58 25,901 25,901
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated 1A THHEK A - Mk 25
impairment B 25,901 25,901
Impairment during the year FANRE (13,130) —
At 31 December ®12A318 12,771 25,901
At 31 December: M12A318 :
Cost X AR 25,901 25,901
Accumulated impairment 2 RE (13,130) =
Net carrying amount BREF R 12,771 25,901

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Hong Xin Environmental Group Co.,
Ltd. cash generating unit (“Hong Xin CGU").

B R E R A

Carrying amount of goodwill

BERAEE

BREEAHRBENBER D K E 5
MEREEERAR R ELFEM (5
MRECELEEM]) -

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T N

12,771 25,901
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. B E (&)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The recoverable amount of Hong Xin CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 16.8% (2023:
17.7%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows beyond the five-year period is 2.0%
(2023: 2.0%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use
calculation of Hong Xin CGU for 31 December
2024 and 2023. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.

Annual revenue growth rate for the 5-year period
— The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the annual revenue growth rate is the average
annual revenue growth rate achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
units.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal
growth rate is based on senior management’s
expectations and does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the industry relevant to
Hong Xin CGU.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. GOODWILL (continued)

17.

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The carrying amount of goodwill was written down
by RMB13,130,000. The impairment loss recognised
was included in “Administrative expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The
impairment was attributable to the slowdown of
macroeconomic environment and the reduction of
government expenditure, which led to a decrease in
revenue growth rates.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on
market development of urban sanitary service
income and the discount rate are consistent with
external information sources.

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

16. BE (&)

EERENR(E)

72 1Y B T 1B MO A R 613,130,000 ©
EREAREEBEBRFAGEBERAMNMT
BEAXZ] - RETTHEREZBEERENR
BEERBRIRD  BHPRERET

B o

DIRRRERBWATIZIERIA KB
EOBERERBOEE - BINEERKIR
— B o

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 17. B ERERE
The carrying amount of the Group's finance lease AEEREKMEEERENEREERERR
receivables and the movements during the year are ERFENEHBROT
as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR% Tt NS R
Carrying amount at 1 January RITATBEREE 9,987 46,489
Accretion of interest recognised FRNEHERN A
during the year # 0 422 241
Receipts Wk (546) (299)
Rent concessions to lessees mAHAAREOEES R E (873) —
Transfer to investment properties* EEREREHREHE — (36,444)
8,990 9,987
Analysed into: DT
Current portion BN AR &8 815 768
Non-current portion FEENEAH 8,175 9,219
BIREERERAT €5 2024 205



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318
17. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EWmERERE(E)

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, 2024512 H31H % 2023F12H31H " &
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. BERET UGB
* Due to early termination of tenant of finance lease e HRBMEEERKRENHEHPLPREKL
receivables, the related finance lease receivables were AR ERERKREREEERENLR
transferred to investment properties. L EE o
18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HthEFL EE

Customer
relationship Software Total
EFE# g A st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARB TR ARB TR

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Cost at 1 January 2024, netof ~ #2024F 1818 # A

accumulated amortisation A B REH 5,000 7,311 12,311
Additions NE — 1,410 1,410
Impairment BE (2,616) — (2,616)
Amortisation provided during FRNEHEE

the year (note 6) (P 5E6) (984) (4,284) (5,268)
At 31 December 2024 20244128318 1,400 4,437 5,837
At 31 December 2024: 2024128318 ¢

Cost [N 54,000 14,790 68,790

Accumulated amortisation BETH# Y (24,484) (10,353) (34,837)

Impairment B (28,116) — (28,116)

Net carrying amount BREFE 1,400 4,437 5,837
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

8. HthEL & E (&)

Customer
relationship Software Total
BF#IE B Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBEF T ARBETF T
31 December 2023 2023%12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of M2023FE1 1B M Ak
accumulated amortisation AN B REH 36,500 548 37,048
Additions NE — 9,246 9,246
Impairment BE (25,500) = (25,500)
Amortisation provided during FR% A A (M e)
the year (note 6) (6,000) (2,483) (8,483)
At 31 December 2023 72023%12A31H 5,000 7,311 12,311
At 31 December 2023: 2023128318 ¢
Cost DN 54,000 14,211 68,211
Accumulated amortisation g3 (23,500) (6,900) (30,400)
Impairment BE (25,500) — (25,500)
Net carrying amount BREF R 5,000 7,311 12,311

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies,
each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated
annually at the end of the reporting period to
determine whether there are any indicators of
impairment. The Group concluded that impairment
indicators existed due to the substantial decrease
in revenue and gross profit of the urban sanitary
service segment of the Group in 2024 resulting
from the poor post-pandemic macroeconomic
environment and the reduction of government
expenditure.

REAEENGHABER BREEXRA
TELABEUBFRBEHARETHMG
NEBEERTAEMRENR - AEER
B ARERBRZBREERRENENRK
RSO D - BN & B E R AR
7 BRR20244F Y WA R R KR T BE -
Rt F AR ETR
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment
of RMB2,616,000 (2023: RMB25,500,000) was
provided in respect of customer relationships. By
considering the fact that the customer relationships
would not be economically viable for their remaining
life and there was no identified alternative usage,
the Group assessed their recoverable amount to be
RMB1,400,000 based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections and impairment
provision of RMB2,616,000 was made on their
carrying values.

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

. R

8. HthEL & E (&)

HE204FNRA3BLEFE  BEF#
FEEHERE A R¥2,616,0007T (20234 :
A R¥25,500,00070) - EEHZERF
FEREFI R FIAELE LW AT -
BYEAJFENOBERALE  A5ERE
FRAReREBAFTENERAEET
HHENTRESEAAR,400,000
T WHERAEELREREBEARE
2,616,0007T ©

Share of net assets

BIEEEFR

EELERE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt NG S
27,089 23,438

The investments in joint ventures are indirectly held
by the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate
financial information of the Group’s joint ventures
that are not individually material:

BELENREHARRIBEITA °

TRINRASEEAIFEERAGERFD
BHMBER:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB"000
ARE T N R
Share of the joint ventures’ profit FRANDEEEDLEN
for the year and total A & 2R A
comprehensive income 4858 1,645 (3,227)
Aggregate carrying amount REEREGEDE
of the Group’s investment RENKREE
in the joint ventures K] 27,089 23,438
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

RBELRERE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARE Tt NG R

Share of net assets JEihE E TR 84,397 76,435
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEL 7 HE 19,530 19,530
Total st 103,927 95,965

The investments in associates are indirectly held by
the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate
financial information of the Group’s associates that
are not individually material:

BERNRMNREARARAHEERE -

TRIWNRASEBERFEABE LR
& GRS E R

Share of the associates’ profit for the
year and total comprehensive income

Aggregate carrying amount of the
Group’s investments in the associates

o6 F R B E X8 M &
e G

AREERBELEREN
FREE &5

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T N
13,818 9,062
103,927 95,965
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

21. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 21. EERLDFEFAEMMEZE RS
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER MRERE

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt N R

Equity investments designated EERAFEFAEMES

at fair value through other HRENRERE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, FLEMRERE  BAYF
at fair value BE&t
Jiangcheng Hujiang Lianfeng IV B LEE B ER
Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd. BRAA] 700 700
Shanghai Guotao Real Estate LEERERMERR
Co., Ltd.* NEI — 1,500
Impairment BB — (1,500)
700 700
Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ FTRERE - B AF
BE&t
Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. Roiserv Lifestyle Services
Co., Ltd. 1,336 1,150

Total Bt 2,036 1,850

The above equity investments were irrevocably LR EREE A HEMIEERA T

designated at fair value through other Bt AEMEZEKZ  REEAEER

comprehensive income as the Group considers these RZEKREBRBMEE -

investments to be strategic in nature.

* Shanghai Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd. did not generate g LEEBREMEAR AR & E A F AR
any revenue and it had ceased to operate any business EE0I0FRIEEETMNER (REDEE
including property management services since 2010. As BR®) . At - EEH2ERE - ZRA
such, full impairment had been made. The company was B R2024 8 A sE &1 M -

deregistered as of August 2024.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 22. EMERBHEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG R
Deposits & 9,940 13,786
23. INVENTORIES 23. &
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG S
Consumables H R oA 260 100
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. ESEWRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG S
Trade receivables 2 5 e W18 270,746 249,727
Impairment B (17,488) (14,256)
Total 4=t 253,258 235,471

SETHREERARAR F52024211



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s credit terms with its customers are
mainly on credit. The credit period is generally 10
to 60 days, extending up to three months for major
customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are
amounts due from the Group’s joint ventures and
associates of RMB224,000 (2023: RMB23,000) and
RMB4,786,000 (2023: RMB5,864,000), respectively,
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to the major customers of the Group.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged trade
receivables of approximately RMB17,795,000 (2023:
RMB37,445,000) to secure certain of the bank and
other borrowings (note 30).

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

24. EZ WA (E)

AEBEEREFNEEGRRIEREE -
EEH-—MARIVEOKR  TEXFRZ
EERE=EA AEERIBEREEH
AU E ) FE U R IE - R E RR A (E B E
MPIAREREEERR -SRERE
EHENBYESR ENNUN LA R
HRARENEZREFKBE SR KET
REF FAhIFTFaEEERRSES
TEER c AEEY ELE 5 E KR
R AENERRIEBEEER -
B ZRWKIBNF S

AEBEBESREURFEBRFRERKASE
B2t ERBELERBBARYE
224,0007T (2023 : A R #23,0007T)
X A R #4,786,0007T (20234F : A R ¥
5,864,0007T) * B 15 B &5 Jh B [ &
SEXZERFAIEHEERS -

R2024F12A31H A& BEEEHFE S
fE UK 3% B 49 A R #17,795,0007T (2023
F: AR ¥37445,00070) AIERE T
8817 & EAth 5 5K (MF5E30) ©

RBEEHMR BEHZREFNERERAHY
THNEREBRBENRE DO :

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR Tt NG R

Within 1 year 1A 237,040 216,374
1 to 2 years 15224 12,327 17,993
2 to 3 years 2E3F 3,891 1,104
Total B 253,258 235,471
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for
impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

24. EZRWFHEA(E)

BHRWKRBEREBEREEHNOT

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB"000

AR% Tt NS R

At beginning of year E/\\ﬁ?ﬂ 14,256 8,596
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 EWRIERE

(note 6) (Kt 5£6) 3,232 5,660

At end of year RE R 17,488 14,256

An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using
a provision matrix based on the invoice date:

RERSHHRABBEEREETHRED
- UEEEHEEEBE BEXDE
REEHEUEBBERAXN(AIREFPER R
HARES)NEZEERRE D EHE R A8
HEETE - ZatE R KARINELS

R ERHASEHNERBESEE

R R KRR EGEGTER RS I RA] S
Bl —MmE - EHEWFKIE NG
B —F A TLAMEE - BBAXR RN R
HBMITIES -

TXEINIREZAMEEAAEE & A&
BEBENEZERUREMAINEER
[ B & #Y -

SETHREERARAR F8£2024213



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

24. ® 5 FE WK IE ()
R2024%12H31R

2024
20244
Expected Gross
credit carrying Expected
loss rate amount credit losses
BHEE BHEE
BE=R REAE & B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR
Within 1 year 16 A 0.74% 238,797 1,757
1 to 2 years 15224 38.83% 20,151 7,824
2 to 3 years 2E3F 56.50% 8,945 5,054
Over 3 years 8 B3F 100.00% 2,853 2,853
Total et 270,746 17,488
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H
2023
20234
Expected Gross
credit carrying Expected
loss rate amount credit losses
EHES EHEE
BEX FRTE (8 & 18
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®T
Within 1 year 1R 0.50% 217,466 1,092
1 to 2 years 18226 31.00% 26,076 8,083
2 to 3 years 2E3F 71.33% 3,851 2,747
Over 3 years HBiE3E 100.00% 2,334 2,334
Total e Et 249,727 14,256
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

25. A RER HE At B WK H

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE Tt NS R
Prepayments to suppliers TR T AR I 17,639 16,557
Payments on behalf of residents REEBERXNRE
(note (a)) (M 7 (a) 53,832 42,917
Due from a non-controlling shareholder & W — iz JF #75° A% A% 38 5K 18
(note (b)) (Bt 5% (b)) 250 3,565
Cash in advance BB 5,695 3,613
Deposits B 20,052 10,597
Prepaid expenses BRRX 1,094 904
Amount due from related parties JiE Y 8 Bt 5 3R I8
(note 39(c)) (B 5%39(c)) 19,486 17,250
Loan provided to a third party REFE=ZFHNER
(note (c)) (Ff £ () 6,787 6,525
Dividends receivable JE Ui i% B — 2,970
VAT recoverable A] Y 3] 18 (F FR 4,749 3,244
Others H 3,077 2,725
132,661 110,867
Impairment allowance VAR (10,027) (1,500)
122,634 109,367
Notes: B 3

(a) The balance represents payments for property
management services and urban sanitary services on
behalf of residents.

(b)  The balance mainly represents the advance to the non-
controlling shareholder of Hong Xin Environmental Group
Company Limited.

(0) The balance represents the loan to a third-party URF
Holding Group Limited.

(a)

(0

ZHEBERRERADEEERE R A
RERB XA HOHIEA -

HBRIEEBNTAMREEEERAT
R R 2 FRIE -

% K #2545 T 8 = 75 URF Holding Group
Limited 2 B 5k °

SETHREERARAR F82024215



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

25. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Considering the amounts due from an associate are
already past due, the credit risk of it has increased
significantly since initial recognition. Expected credit
loss is estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied
to the amounts due from an associate as at 31
December 2024 was 54.0%.

The remaining financial assets included in the
prepayments and other receivables relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to
be minimal.

26. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

25. N RE K H A B WK E ()

ZRIERBmMECENOREC S H
EERBEBVIFERIARD RIIBBEM -
HHEEBEAB2RASENBA
BRI RABBEEAME - BB
XETEHEBRATELAE  URBE
ATER B AREEERTOIBA - B
2024 12R31H - IE AR FE Y HE & > ¥
HIEHEBER54.0% °

ABNREREMEKRRENSR TS
BMEEMNBYEEN A BRIER
Ry FE W SRIBFE B o 7R20244F 2 20234F
12A318 - BEEEBTUATEA/EM -

26. Z[RHIR 1T 48R

Restricted bank balances received from
residents for property management
services and urban sanitary services

BERKBARY X
BERBEMBRE
AR5 80 X BR 1 $R 17 45 &R

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE Tt NG R
20,701 27,105

Restricted bank balances earn interest at interest
rates stipulated by the respective financial
institutions.

The restricted bank balances are deposited with

creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. REeRBSEEY
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE T N R
Cash and bank balance Re RRITEH

Cash and cash equivalents ReERREFEEY 153,582 139,674
At the end of the reporting period, the cash RBEHR AEBEUAREHEY
and bank balances of the Group denominated e RVITEBR R A K151,044,0007T
in RMB amounted to RMB151,044,000 (2023: (20234 : A R #137,842,0007T) - A BB
RMB137,842,000). The RMB is not freely convertible BT eeEmEBmAHMER - A 1R
into other currencies, however, under Mainland BB A EINE B BIEH R EE - &
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and ERMEBTERE  ANEEAFRER
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment EEENEEBNRTBEARBLI R A

of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is Hith 5 # o

permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based EHRRBTHRSKREARTHERME
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are HZBFIRBEF B - I(RITERTITFEMN
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent EEERMFEEIRBERCHEARIT -

history of default.

SETHREERARAR F82024217



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

28. TRADE PAYABLES 28.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the
end of the reporting periods, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

B S EARE
RBEYR BHRENRBREZEH
H AR AT T

2024 2023

20244 20234

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

ioza ARE Tt NG S

Within 3 months 3@ A A 126,818 121,143
3 to 12 months 3Z121E A 3,017 2,882
Over 1 year BiE1F 3,022 2,887
Total 45 132,857 126,912

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of 5 to 90 days.

Included in the Group’s trade payables are amounts
due to Group’s associates of RMB1,205,000, which
are repayable on credit terms similar to those
granted by the major vendors of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

29. HttEN KB REFER

2024 2023
202445 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Ht iF AR% Tt NS R
Contract liabilities EHEaE (a) 19,042 12,200
Advances received from sublease ¢ & 8 R 75 U 2| &Y
service B3R 410 .
Staff payroll and welfare payables B T T & & 18 Fl
JE 1~ 5K IR 32,597 32,131
Deposits received Bk E 23,251 23,469
Receipts on behalf of residents KX &R KK (b) 41,643 36,653
Other tax payables H i & 5 B 18 22,861 18,027
Other payables H b JE < 5 IE (© 4,401 3,625
Financial guarantee contracts MBERER (d) 6,870 —
As at 31 December 2024 MR2024%12 A318 151,075 126,105
Notes: B 5

(a)

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Short-term advances received I==R-Y=V ¢:/¢:0]
from customers VBT
Property management services 7% E B RS

(a)

31 Dec

BHABEBEFBHOT:

ember 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023

20245 20234 20234
12831H 12A318 1A18
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR

i3 i AR¥ET T ARBT T

19,042 12,200 12,987

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
deliver property management services.

The balance represents receipts from building residents to
settle utilities, bills, and maintenance and repair fees on
behalf of them. Included in the Group’s other payables and
accruals are amounts due to the Group’s joint ventures
and associates of RMB448,000 and RMB3,068,000,
respectively.

EHAEREEHEHRYEEE RS KR
B RE H B o

HEHREABTFERUBOREANLRES
HERARRE RE - REREECER-
AEBEMENRBAREAERTRER
NAKBEEGLLERBECEXNRE 2
Bl & A K #448,0007T & A K #3,068,000
TR G

SEITHREERARAR £82024219



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(0

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees
given by a subsidiary of the Group to banks and a
financial institution in the PRC in connection with facilities
granted to an associate. The associate’s facilities granted
by banks and a financial institution were RMB20,022,000
(2023: RMB15,000,000), of which RMB12,722,000 (2023:
RMB10,606,000) was utilised by the associate. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over the guarantees.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except
for limited circumstances. All guarantees are approved by
the chief executive of the Company.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the
higher of the ECL allowance and the amount initially
recognised less the cumulative amount of income
recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by estimating
the cash shortfalls, which are based on the expected
payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the banks) for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the debtor (i.e., the associate).
During the year ended 31 December 2024, an additional
ECL allowance of RMB6,870,000 (2023: Nil) was provided.

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts is
classified as stage 2. During the year, financial guarantees
of RMB6,870,000 were transferred from stage 1 to stage
2 (2023: Nil).
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29. HttENREAREFER (B

M aE: (&)

(0

(d)

HENRELEFERARERARE
KEFEE -

VHEERABREAEB —HWBRARAKE
F-EBECENBREMAFRBENRITR
—EeRmEBEMIERNER - BITER—H
CREERTRBEELENREARARYE
20,022,0007T (20234 : A R %15,000,000
JT) - H B A R #12,722,0007T (20234 : A
R #10,606,0007T) B E Z B & AR 8H -
AEBTERZSERBFEAMNERD K
Hib{z B4R -

BRERERI  REBETREFEMBER -
MEEROEESARATIZTHAEH]
I

VHEERGHVEEHEEEBRRBRERNS
HRCBREERURAZ RS EUUAR
SEABFE BHEEEBBIIERS
RRzZEFHE ERBHESEAGIR
TRAEAEEBEZEHRE  BREM
AEBEERREBABELELE)RRZ
RS REFTHE - REE2024F12A31HLEF
E ERENTRERCGEEREBEARE
6,870,0007T (20234 : #&)

HHEERAANEERRFEAS B -
RER ARME,870,000t W BERE
B RBEBEE _EEQ023F &) -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND 30. IEMITERKRHMMER
OTHER BORROWINGS

2024
2024
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BRAE
(%) RN ARETR
Current BN 58
Bank loans — unsecured and RITER — BEAR
unguaranteed EER 3.30-3.65 20254 30,000
Bank loans — guaranteed RITER — BER
(note a) CGET) 3.45-3.95 20254 150,744
Current portion of long term H & HA & 5K 6 AN A
other borrowings — secured BH —FEARE
and guaranteed (note b) ¥ R (B 51 b) 0-9.00 20255 30,000
210,744
Non-current FEENHR
Other borrowings — secured HinfEm — BEAR
and guaranteed (note b) BER (D) 0-9.00 2027F 46,636
Total st 257,380

SETHREERARAR F4§2024221



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND 30. SFERITERRHMERGE)

OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

2023
20234
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRI =
(%) 388 ARBFT
Current B 5
Bank loans — unsecured and RITER — BHEAR
unguaranteed EER 3.65-4.14 20245 37,043
Bank loans — guaranteed (note a) RTE K — BER
GET) 3.50-4.10 20244 133,608
Current portion of long term H & HA 6 5K & BN AR
other borrowings — secured BH —FEARE
and guaranteed (note b) ¥ R (Pt 53 b) 0-5.30 20244 15,634
186,285
Non-current 3k B 5
Other borrowings — secured HinfEm — BEAR
and guaranteed (note b) BER D) 0-4.20 20264 13,563
Total st 199,848
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND

OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

30.

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

FFRBITE R R E 4 AR

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE Tt N B
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: EEERITER:
Within one year or on demand R —FARIZEKX 180,744 170,651
Other borrowings repayable: EEEHMMER:
Within one year or on demand ER—FARZEEK 30,000 15,634
In the second year B4 46,636 13,563
76,636 29,197
Total ast 257,380 199,848
Notes: P 5E -
Except for unsecured and unguaranteed bank loans, all bank BRAERRKREFRZBITERUIN  ERITE

loans and other borrowings are granted to Hong Xin, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, and guaranteed or

secured by:

(a) Certain of these bank loans amounting to RMB37,000,000 (a)
are guaranteed by Ms. Wang Hui, Mr. Kou Liang and

Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd.

(b) Details of long-term other borrowings are as below: (b)

e A

ERURBTRAEEZIZEMBEA
AIBAAR - 30 A AR HE AR SR AR

L HE A ARB37,000,000THE TZEHRT
EXHTELXT RBRREERLEERID
E¥ERARIREER-

Hi R B\EROFBOT:

0)

(if)

Certain of the Group's other borrowings amounting
to RMB43,740,000 (2023: nil) are guaranteed by
Ms. Wang Hui and Mr. Kou Liang.

Certain of these other borrowings amounting
to RMB6,380,000 (2023: RMB24,960,000) are
secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s
motor vehicles with a net carrying amount of
RMB13,840,000 (2023: RMB16,222,000).

(i) & %8 A AR %43,740,0007T (20234 :
DIMASEEETEMERETEX
TRERAEEREER -

(i = #8 A A R ¥6,380,0007(2023
£ N R #24,960,0007T) W & T %
SHMERBAAEBEBFEAA
R #13,840,0007T(2023F : A R ¥
16,222,0007T) &) & )9 = & 17 1F ¥
R o

SETHREERARAR F482024223



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318
31. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets
during the year are as follows:

31. i fE IR
FREEHAABEREELSBERANT

Deferred tax liabilities

2024
20245
Investment Custom Right-of-use
property relationship assets Total
REM
EiE EFB%F FHREEE @t
RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%®Tr AR¥Tn AR%Tx
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H 39,497 1,250 2,544 43,291
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FRFTA /(1K H)
statement of profit or loss during Bak ERHE
the year (note 10) (H3E10) (12,249) (900) 6,994 (6,155)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 1202412 A318 1
31 December 2024 ERHARELEE 27,248 350 9,538 37,136
Deferred tax assets EEMEEE

2024
20245
Lease Unutilized
Liabilities Impairment  tax losses Total
ABA
HEERE A REFE @t
RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%®Tn AR%®Tx AR%Tx
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12 4318 43,541 3,939 13,425 60,905
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FRTA /(MK H)
statement of profit or loss during BRxZETEHE
the year (note 10) (P 7E10) (4,653) 4,657 (4,778) (4,774)
Gross deferred tax assets at R2024%12 A31H K
31 December 2024 ERHBEERE 38,888 8,596 8,647 56,131
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. IEEFE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities E HAE
2023
2023%F
Investment Custom  Right-of-use
property  relationship assets Total
REN
B E XFBE GREEE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTR ARBT:R

At 31 December 2022 720229128318 5,949 9,125 = 15,074
Effect of adoption of amendments to M E B & 8 E
HKAS 12 EACHEPA
2 45,648 = 1,827 47,475
At 1 January 2023 M2023F171H
(restated) (&) 51,597 9,125 1,827 62,549

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FR A /(1K H)
statement of profit or loss during BRRZELEHE

the year(restated) (note 10) (& & 51) (M 5510) (12,100) (7,875) 717 (19,258)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at K2023F12 4318 H)
31 December 2023 ERHBEELES
(restated) (L&) 39,497 1,250 2,544 43,291
Deferred tax assets EEBBEBEE
2023
20234
Lease Unutilized
Liabilities Impairment tax losses Total
| xR |
HE&RE RE! HIE & A @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT ARETT ARETRI

At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 4318 73 1,477 — 1,550
Effect of adoption of BB AT
amendments to HKAS 12 F12% (BT K)
2 47,475 — - 47,475
At 1 January 2023 7202351718
(restated) (&) 47,548 1,477 — 49,025

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FR A /(MK EH)
statement of profit or loss during BarkETEHE

the year(restated) (note 10) (& & 51)(M 5510) (4,007) 2,462 13,425 11,880
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R2023F12 A31HH
31 December 2023 (restated) EERBEAERR
(BEH) 43,541 3,939 13,425 60,905

SETHREZERARAR F4§2024225



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax assets (continued)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset in the
statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group
for financial reporting purposes:

31.

i #IE Bt I8 (48)

EEHRIREE (B)

RENME ETELEHRREERARE
ERBMBHRRRIEE - MMBHREMS
AEBECHAGHRITWT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB"000

AR% Tt N R
Net deferred tax assets recognised &R & TR R &
in the consolidated statement of MRZELHIEA

financial position EEFE 19,345 18,864
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised &R & B AR R &

in the consolidated statement of BRIELHIEBBAE
financial position F R 350 1,250

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB28,493,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB26,876,000) that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of RMB121,752,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB95,460,000), that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits.

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of these losses though they have arisen
from subsidiaries that have been loss-making but
it is considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.
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R2024F12A31H  AEBREBEL
B IE & 18 A AR #28,493,0007T (2023
F: AR #26,876,0007T) © Al R # A
ERHEELEBBRARMNRKERY &
A e

R2024F12A318  AEEBREFEH R
b EE A TR TH B 1B A R %121,752,0007T
(20234 : AR #95,460,0007T) * #H —
ZERFRIE  TRAREHERKERE
i Fl) e
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31.

32.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. IEEB A (E)
Deferred tax assets (continued) EEMEEE(H)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a BERBECEREHE - KRB R K
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared UHHINERLEASRAIIBEKREESIK
to foreign investors from the foreign investment B AR B E10% TEM B - Z 23k BH2008
enterprises established in Mainland China. The FIAVE R & I3 B R20075F12 4
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and BVHERELENEN - BHBRKREEMRSB
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A AEEREPBERNME R BHE - INE
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there KEEAEARAREENNE - iAEEH
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the e BAREAEI0% (20234F : 10%) °
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, Bt R HPEAMKIHZEMNER
the applicable rate is 10% (2023:10%). The Group is A Bt B2008F1A1HEBEENEF TS
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends KERE - REBAZMBN -
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.
At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been R2024F12A31M8 - W EF AR E B R
recognised for withholding taxes that would be REAMK KB RRRNREL&R
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject M ZEB A TEN TR E) MR A T8 5
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries RIELERH(Q023F : E\) - EER A -
established in Mainland China (2023: Nil). In the ZEWBARTAAIERA] TE R &K
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that DIKBBAEF o KR2024F12H318 -
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in AERELEHRBEEN NP E R H K
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of BAAKENHEBERZHESHLOAR
temporary differences associated with investments A K %188,312,0007T (2023F : A R ¥
in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred 112,535,0007T) °
tax liabilities have not been recognised was
approximately RMB188,312,000 at 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB112,535,000).
SHARE CAPITAL 32. B
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE Tt NS R
Authorised: ERE
8,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each  8,000,000,0000% & }i% [ &
(2023: 8,000,000,000 shares 0.0178 7T W % 15 (2023
of HK$0.01 each) £ : 8,000,000,000% &
AR T {E0.017 7T B IR 19 70,096 70,096
Issued and fully paid: BEETRHRE:
405,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each 405,000,000 &R EE
(2023: 405,000,000 shares 0.018 T W A% 15 (2023
of HK$0.01 each) £ 405,000,000 % & i%
[E {£0.017%8 7T 89 AR 1 3,391 3,391

SETHREZRRARAR F482024227
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

33. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

()

(ii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account
is governed by the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands. Under the constitutional
documents and the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that
the Company is able to pay its debts when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business
at the time the proposed dividend is to be
paid.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (1)
the difference between the consideration and
net assets acquired paid by the Controlling
Shareholders for the further acquisition of
non-controlling interests in subsidiaries; (2)
the difference between the consideration
received by the Controlling Shareholders and
the net assets disposed of for the partial
disposal of certain subsidiaries; and (3) the
difference between the consideration received
by the Controlling Shareholders and net
assets acquired under common control for the
acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries.

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and
prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RESERVES (continued)
(iii) Merger reserve

(iv)

The merger reserve of the Group represents
the capital contributions from the equity
holders of the subsidiaries. The addition
during the year represents (1) the injections
of additional paid-in capital by the equity
holders of the subsidiaries to the respective
companies; (2) the consideration paid by
the Controlling Shareholders for the further
acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries; and (3) the consideration paid by
the Controlling Shareholders for repayment of
the consideration received in the progress of
the corporate reorganisation of the Group in
preparation for the listing.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations and
the articles of association of the companies of
the Group, before distributing the net profit of
each year, companies of the Group registered
in the PRC are required to set aside 10% of
their statutory reserve net for the year after
offsetting any prior year’s losses as determined
under relevant PRC accounting standards
to the statutory surplus reserve fund. When
the balance of this reserve reaches 50% of
each company’s issued capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve fund is non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation.

Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to increase
issued capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital.

BA RS IR AR B RE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

33. f# (&)
(iii) & OF & 18

(iv)

AEENAHHEBIERENEB AR
REFAANLE - FRIZMEQ)
fHBARMBEERBEARABAR
BINEAE B A (2 AR
RE-—TRBHBARNERZR
AR E: R ERBEERS
EEAEEEHE LT METHRA
ElABREPRBNKER MR
= o

& E f#

REFBEDZRALRAKEETRAWN
HBERMAR - BFIRFNER
AEBEFBEEMN QB RIEIER
TEEFEMRERBEEFNE
B RAERESTEZEIEFRE
MI0%EEZERBATEES HEZ
EHEEEZERTRANS0%R1E
AEBEEREELIZERMEG -
EEBRBRABETIANIK  FRIFHE

B o

EHEBTRBEERNE TRERERT -
RBERMCENBEHRTIRNEME
RH25% @ BBOATE B AR B A B
BIAEINE AT -
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

33. RESERVES (continued)
(v) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to
record exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of the
subsidiaries with functional currencies other
than the RMB.

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests are set out below:

33.

34.

fi# fa ()

(v) EXRB A
EXRRDHEEANRCHBREI R
ERBARBUINE BN E QR
M BRRMEENELZRE -

BEERFEREZNEZEN
- N

AEBBEAERGFEREDNNE QA
AT

Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:
Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., Ltd.

Bt

AIMEREEEBRAA

IF 12 BUHE 25 P 15 A b

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to
non-controlling interests
Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., Ltd.

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of Hong Xin Environmental
Group Co., Ltd. @)

Accumulated balances of
non-controlling interests
at the reporting date:

Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., Ltd.
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AARERIREBBR QA

DEEFEREDNFR
M (B 1R)
AMRERIREBBR QA

XA TFAMREREEEER
INCIES Y Y X

SESS=NSEGE Sl F
Z REHEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
49% 49%

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt NG S
9,657 (7,051)
4,900 S
33,245 28,488
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B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 34. BEERFERESZNIEZTEM
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING B AT (&)
INTERESTS (continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised TR LAMBARTNMBEERNRE o
financial information of the above subsidiaries. The FFEReRAsNBRERNARIBEHERZ
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company ok C i
eliminations:

Hong Xin
Environmental
Group Co., Ltd.

53k FRER 15
EEEBERALT
RMB'000
AR® T

2024 20244
Revenue g = 188,287
Total expenses i 2 42 %B (168,579)
Profit for the year F Nk A 19,708
Total comprehensive profit for the year FANE2HEENBRE 19,708
Current assets MBEE 107,119
Non-current assets ERBEE 85,836
Current liabilities mBAaE (63,561)
Non-current liabilities EREBAE (61,548)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEEFRREREFH (42,660)
Net cash flows used in investing activities HEEZHMAREREFHE (8,250)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEFTHMARESREFE 31,603
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents Re kB EZEMRLER (19,307)

SETHREERARAR F22024 231
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. REREREBERWE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a)
During the year, the Group had non-
cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB40,340,000 (2023:
RMB14,137,000) and RMB4,770,000 (2023:
RMB14,137,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for office premises.

FEFRERS

FA BHRAMENHELHM
EAKSENTAREEREE
BEMNFERSEMDINAEAR
#40,340,0007C (2023F : A R #
14,137,0007T) & A R#4,770,0007T
(20234 : AR #14,137,0007T) °

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) METHELENEBE
financing activities
2024 20244
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
and other
borrowings Lease
and interest liabilities
SRR IT
ERKRHA
BERRERAE HEESE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR¥TxR
At 1 January 2024 2024 1H1H 199,848 179,653
Changes from financing cash flows E &R & i = & 57,532 (31,576)
New leases FHEE — 4,770
Interest expense B X — 7,694
Revision of a lease term TR HEEESRE
arising from a change in the BEZEIEE]
non-cancellable period of a lease 70 & Hf — (2,344)
At 31 December 2024 72024512 A318 257,380 158,197
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B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. RERERBERWE (A

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEZBHEENEGEE B (H)
financing activities (continued)
2023 2023 %
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
and other
borrowings Lease
and interest liabilities
SFERTT
B R EHAM
CE &N, HEBE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTET
At 1 January 2023 M2023F 1818 158,833 190,190
Changes from financing cash flows & R ¢ 7 £ & 50,955 (33,350)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FMBAA (9,940) .
New leases e — 14,137
Interest expense B X — 8,676
At 31 December 2023 7202312 H31H 199,848 179,653

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in

(c)

HEREREAR

HenEREENEHERES AL

the statement of cash flows is as follows: WEEWNT -
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt INGE R
Within operating activities LEIEEA 1,632 2,696
Within financing activities BMEEHA 31,576 33,350
Total &5t 33,208 36,046

SETHREERARAR F4§2024233
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. EEE
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group RIBERAR  AEEWESRKAEE -

had no significant contingent liabilities.

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 37. EEEH#H
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the HAEEEMEREEFRNELEEREE
Group’s other borrowings are included in notes HEHN B RKRM T3 - 24%30 °

13,24 and 30 to the financial statements.

38. COMMITMENTS 38. A&
The Group had the following capital commitments RB|MEBRR REEBUATERALE:
at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR% Tt N R
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEREE T
Property, plant and equipment ME - - BMEREZHE 3,506 14,591
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Particulars of the related parties which entered
into material transactions with the Group are
as follows:

Name

1

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

39. BB AR S
@ RAEETIEARDOBYS
HEWT

Referred to as

LE:

Relationship
B#&

Shanghai Boying Parking Management Service Co., Ltd. (formerly
named Shanghai Gaoze Information Technology Co., Ltd.)*

LERERREERRBAERRARA(RLERER

Nanjing Songzhu Property Management Company Limited.

HRIEMYEERERAA

Shanghai Dongfang Xindi Business Service Co., Ltd.

TRRAMERBREERAT

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Co., Ltd.

LERENERRAF

Anhui Jinshanjingmei Property Management Co., Ltd.

RBBEFXRNEEEARA

Anhui Xingpu Property Management Co., Ltd.

RHERNEERBRAT

Zhongmin Zhida (Shanghai) Information Technology Co., Ltd.

PREZ(LE)EEMRARAT

Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd.

LERIENEERRA

Anhui Yujiang Property Co., Ltd.

RBBRINEEARAA

Anhui Yupu Property Co., Ltd.

RHBBNEERAT

Hefei Zhengwen Waitan Property Management Co., Ltd

AETHXNENEERERAA

Guzhen Guxin service Co., Ltd

BEZEEREERAT

Anhui Pubang City Management Service Group Co., Ltd

REBRANEEREEERGERAA

Shanghai Yancheng Catering Management Co., Ltd.
TEERERERARR

Shanghai Chaoyunhao Catenng Management Co., Ltd.
HERZEREZRERERA

Shanghai Mishiji Catering Management Co., Ltd.
iRsL @H#uagﬁ)\ Eﬁﬁlﬂ e/

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Security Serwces Co., Ltd.

ERRERZREARAA]

* Shanghai Gaoze Information Technology Co., Ltd.
has changed its name to Shanghai Boying Parking
Management Service Co., Ltd. on 21 June 2022.

BRBARD

Controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders

Shanghai Boying

A)* mERR R tERE
Associate Nanjing Songzhu
BERE N
Associate Dongfang Xindi
BERE RO
Associate Shanghai Qiang Sheng
HERR rERE
Joint venture Anhui Jinshanjingmei
RERR ZHBEEFE
Associate Anhui Xingpu
BElR ZHER
Joint venture Zhongmin Zhida
RELE TREE
Associate Shanghai Bund
% LENE
Associate Anhui Yujiang
BERE ZHAIL
Joint venture Anhui Yupu
AELE RHBR
Joint venture Hefei Zhengwen
RELR alEmx
Associate Guzhen Guxin
BERE B Bl 5
Associate Anhui Pubang
Beldx RHEBH
Associate Shanghai Yancheng
e X LEER
Joint venture Shanghai Chaoyunhao
RERR TEBRER
Associate Shanghai Mishiji
BERE HERET
Associate Shanghai Qiang Sheng

Security
BELE LERERT

* EEHRZEEERINARATN2022F
6A2IHER A LB RBEFEEEER
BAERRE

SEITHREERARAR F42024235
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties, other than
those already disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, are as follows:

Notes

g3

Property management #J¥EERKE WA
service income

Shanghai Bund LN
Shanghai Qiang Sheng FBEA
Nanjing Songzhu R
Guzhen Guxin & # & 15
Dongfang Xindi RARE
Anhui Jinshanjingmei THREBEFE
Anhui Yupu ZREH
Anhui Pubang ZRBA
Lease income HEWA
Shanghai Yancheng LB EY
Shanghai Mishiji EemER
Shanghai Chaoyunhao LBBER
Interest income: FMEWA:
Zhongmin Zhida PREE
Shanghai Boying Bai=R P
Cost of property MEEERBERA:
management services:
Nanjing Songzhu R
Shanghai QiangSheng EBRERE
Security
Anhui Yupu ZHREH
Dongfang Xindi R RE
Hefei Zhengwen AR X
Zhongmin Zhida PREE
Shanghai Bund EENE

Cost of software service ¥ # R 7% BX &<
Zhongmin Zhida R E
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(i)
(i)
(i)

(iii)
(iii)

< < < <

30. BEE A R B (&)

AT RS (ERHBHHREE
BoWBERINDT :

2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T N

33,166 19,113

3,825 2,022

1,188 1,204

— 6

240 282

216 24

190 —

160 —

2,019 —

377 —

159 —

539 539

109 109

6,605 7,063

1,365 S

943 187

610 1,190

62 1,150

— 300

— 120

— 2,020
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(continued)

(b)

(@

0)

(iii)

The fees of services provided to related parties
were changed according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

The amounts due from Shanghai Boying, Zhongmin
Zhida are unsecured and with interest rates of
4.78% and 4.15% respectively, and have no fixed
payment terms.

The income from services provided by related
parties was made according to the published prices
and conditions offered to the major suppliers of the
Group.

Due from related parties:

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

30. B A R B (&)

(b) (#)

() AREBITRERBENEADRER
HEXERAIETPNEAHERR
GHey -

(i) ERESRR FREEFEDER
o FRD P AEL.78% K4.15% -+ HEE
TR -

(i) REBMIRERBASEADRIE
REGAKBAIEREANCAME
&R IR

(0 FEUREEE T FRIR

Zhongmin Zhida hREE
Shanghai Boying Bali=Rp
Shanghai Yancheng g
Shanghai Chaoyunhao FBBER
Shanghai Bund EgINE
Anhui Xingpu ZHER
Nanjing Songzhu R
Anhui Jinshanjingmei TRHEEFE
Shanghai Mishiji EEmEER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®E Tt N R
14,126 13,586
3,191 3,082
2,117 —
1,700 —
757 5,357

580 580

373 509

83 23

9 _

The carrying amounts of RMB2,117,000,
RMB1,700,000, RMB757,000, RMB580,000,
RMB373,000, RMB83,000 and RMB9,000
due from Shanghai Yancheng, Shanghai
Chaoyunhao, Shanghai Bund, Anhui Xingpu,
Nanjing Songzhu, Anhui Jinshanjingmei and
Shanghai Mishiji are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed payment terms.

The carrying amounts of RMB3,191,000 and
RMB14,126,000 due from Shanghai Boying and
Zhongmin Zhida are unsecured, with a fixed
interest rate of 4.78% and 4.15% and have no
fixed payment terms.

Bl ESEW - FEBERE - L8
SN RRER BRIMMT %
BESFER L ERELHRIE
WEEEE A A AKRK2117,000
JC - A R #1,700,0000T + A R ¥
757,0007T * A K %580,0007T * A
R #373,0007T + A K ¥83,0007T
M ARM000T ZEHREAE
KR - 2EREETERY -

R EBRABERPFREEREN
BRmE A A RM3191,000T & A
R ¥14,126,0007T * ZE R B A E
BH - BEMNEEL78%K%415% -
mETFEERD -
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(d)

(e)

Due to related parties:

30. BEE A R B (&)

(d)

JE& 1< B8 B 5 BROR

Anhui Xingpu ZHERM
Nanjing Songzhu MR
Anhui Yupu ZREH
Shanghai Mishiji FemER
Dongfang Xindi R
Hefei Zhengwen AREEX
Shanghai Bund EgoNE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R
2,075 1,934
1,690 1,245
381 124

346 .

161 188

110 131

— 182

The carrying amounts of RMB2,075,000,
RMB1,690,000, RMB381,000, RMB346,000,
RMB161,000 and RMB110,000 -
Anhui Xingpu, Nanjing Songzhu, Anhui Yupu,
Shanghai Mishiji, Dongfang Xindi and Hefei
Zhengwen are unsecured, interest-free and

due to

have no fixed payment terms.

As at 31 December 2024, Shanghai Pujiang
Property Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the company, provided guarantees
in respect of bank and other borrowing
facilities to its joint venture Zhong Min Zhi Da
(Shanghai) Information Technology Company
Limited of RMB10,702,000 and RMB2,020,000
in force.
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ENLZHER BRLAT ZHS
B LEBRER RAMAREE
BXFENEABESNAARKE
2,075,0007T * AK%1,690,0007T *
A R ¥381,0007T + A R #346,000
7T AR #161,000T & A B #&
110,000 - ZEFRE R EHKAF -
RERBEETEENRDY -

R2024F12A31H » AR A2 &K
BRI L BB IWEARAA®
HegrEPREE(LEBEER
B EAERAARRITREMERK
BE A R%10,702,000t B A R
2,020,000 Rt E M F R -
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31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BB AR B (&)
(continued)
(f) Compensation of key management personnel ) AXEEFTZEEBABHM:

of the Group:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE T N iR
Short term employee benefits EHEEREN 3,577 3,474
Post-employment benefits RIKERE T 592 473
Total compensation paid to key ENEZEEAEH
management personnel 4B EE 4,169 3,947
Further details of directors’ and the chief BEERARITHRABNH S E—
executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 THBERNTBERERN TS -

to the financial statements.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40. ZEEE 2 EMIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REBEHRR SENEeRITANKEE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting wm
period are as follows:
2024 20245
Financial assets TREE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
BATLERTA
Hin2E M &
MeEMEE
Financial
Equity assets at
investments amortised cost Total
REBHEBER
RERE FENSREE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARE TR ARE TR

Equity investments at fair value through R A FEFAEM2E

other comprehensive income W R ERE 2,036 = 2,036
Trade receivables B 5 MR — 253,258 253,258
Financial assets included in prepayments &f A ¥8ff %8 & H f f&

and other receivables WHENSREE — 99,152 99,152
Financial assets included in other non-  stAEMIERSEEH

current assets SREE — 9,940 9,940
Finance lease receivables EhmERENE — 8,990 8,990
Restricted bank balances XRHIRITER — 20,701 20,701
Cash and cash equivalents BekFEEEY — 153,582 153,582
Total @t 2,036 545,623 547,659
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40.
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows: (continued)

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
REEE ST A(E)
A

BERKR SR TANKEE
wmr ()

2024 20244
Financial liabilities cRARs
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
1288 AR AR
FTENESRAEE
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade payables 2B 5N RIA 132,857
Financial liabilities included in SAAERMENRIBERESTERN
other payables and accruals Gl =R 76,165
Interest-bearing bank loans and SAERITERKHM
other borrowings &K 257,380
Total 45t 466,402
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31 December 2024 2024412 318

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40. ZEEE &M I A(E)
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REBEHRR SENEeRITANKEE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting R (88)

period are as follows: (continued)

2023 20234
Financial assets EMEE

Financial assets

at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income
BATERGA
EttzENE
MemEE
Financial
Equity assets at
investments amortised cost Total
128 311N
BRERE ENEREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT ARETR

Equity investments at fair value through R A FEFAEM2E

other comprehensive income W RERE 1,850 = 1,850
Trade receivables B HE WA — 235,471 235,471
Financial assets included in prepayments &f A 81 %8 & H fh f&

and other receivables WHENERMEE — 88,662 88,662
Financial assets included in other non-  stAEMIEREEEH

current assets THEE = 13,786 13,786
Finance lease receivables ERmERENR — 9,987 9,987
Restricted bank balances X B3 %1 8R 17 4 84 = 27,105 27,105
Cash and cash equivalents BeRB2EED = 139,674 139,674
Total @t 1,850 514,685 516,535
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

41.

CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows: (continued)

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H
40. REEE eI A(H)
A

BERKR SR TANKEE
S

wmr (&)

2023 20234
Financial liabilities ol =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
TENERARE
RMB'000
ARET T
Trade payables g5 EN A 126,912
Financial liabilities included in AAEMBENRIEBERETERD
other payables and accruals TRAERE 63,747
Interest-bearing bank loans and AERITERKHM
other borrowings =R 199,848
Total #Et 390,507

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances,
trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments and other receivables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments.

M. EMIANLDFERLIFESER

EEEDHEREMREFEY IR
HlERTTHER  BHRNKKE  BEHEN
IR~ T A TR FRIR R B Al B UK IE EY
TRMEE  FAEMENKBENESE
Aoe®eaE BERE FERTE
RREMERNO QP EEELREERS -
TEHRZETAREHRNIS -
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 4. TRIANAFERLAFEER

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the
finance manager is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial
officer and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income,
management has estimated the potential effect of
using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to
the valuation model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable
input to the valuation of financial instruments
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at
31 December 2024 and 2023:

41.

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

(#&)

THMITENAFERAFEER

T & A R2024% K2023F12A318 & @t
TAFBEZEATHRG ARIKEER
StBRESTOBE:

Significant

Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair
technique input (level 3) value to the input
EXFTAEBE NFEHEAYE
fly {8 £ g WMARB(E=H) Z8RE
Equity investments at fair Valuation multiples Average EV/EBITDA 5% (2023: 5%)
value through other multiple of peers increase/decrease
comprehensive income in multiple

HEGE

GEINCIRS RS
&1 EBITDA
=R

would result in
increase/decrease
in fair value by
RMB35,000 (2023:
RMB35,000)

B8 T T ¥%5%
(20234 : 5%)
BEHRATE
&,

A R #35,0007T
(20234 :
A R #35,0007T)
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 41.

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

ETHMITENAFERAFEER

(&)

RFESER
TRIEAEBER T AN R FEFE
S

BRAFEAENEE:

R2024%12A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERTIEHETATENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RGBT 7 EXTEHE EAFTUHEE
MR E BARE BARE
(B—4) (B=4) (B=8) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERT
Equity investments designated TR A FEFTA
at fair value through other Hthz2EKEMD
comprehensive income RERE 1,336 — 700 2,036
As at 31 December 2023 R20235F12831H
Fair value measurement using
FEATIHSEETLATE;E
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NERMSE  BARBE EAMAEE
W {E BABE BABE
(5—4) (B=#) (B=4) @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TER
Equity investments designated TR A FEFTA
at fair value through other Htt2EREm
comprehensive income RERE 1,150 — 700 1,850
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41.

42.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 41.

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within
Level 3 during the year are as follows:

B I ER AR MR
31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
SRIBENLAFERAFESER
(&)

AFEZR

FA - FZRANAFEFEZPWT:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB"000
ARE T N R
Equity investments at fair value through & QA FEFAE M2 E K
other comprehensive income mHRERE
At 1 January M1A18 700 700
Total gains recognised in other E’\\,\ﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬂl R
comprehensive income W 25 42 — —
Disposals & — —
As at 31 December 2024 202412 A318 700 700

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
cash and bank balances, finance lease receivables,
bank loans and other borrowings. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no bank loans with floating
interest rate, there is no interest risk.

2. MEEAREEEERBE

AEENTESRMTABRERE RIRTT
e BMEMERKIE  RITERK
HtpfEX - BEZF R TANTIRA
MR AEBREEERNE - AEEH
BEIRUFERESENRBSZHM
ZReMEENMNBE HREAKEER
B4

Zli’il%%EIﬁﬂ\FEE’J?EEHBﬁ?%?l\IE
;f)f /}Ibgjjﬁééﬂ °§$

3 aTITﬁEﬁf@%JﬁtwﬂﬁMﬂjﬂﬂlkﬁﬁ
i (N

F = & &
HERAEBTEZBRERITER
EE R o

R4 K

SETHREERARAR F42024 247



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. B EBREERBEERBER®E)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland
China and nearly all transactions are conducted
in RMB. As nearly all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB, the subsidiaries
of the Company in Mainland China were not
subject to significant foreign currency risk. As at 31
December 2024, the Group's assets and liabilities
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar (“"HKD") were
mainly held by the Company and certain subsidiaries
incorporated outside Mainland China which had
HKD as their functional currency, and the Group did
not have material foreign currency transactions in
Mainland China during the year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer
credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end
staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk
for the financial guarantee contracts.
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42.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end

staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H
42 BERKREEEERKE(H)

2 B b BR B2 5 K B BR ()

R2024%12A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
2HEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
Z1RE FIRB EIRR e A & hH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Tn AR%Tn AR%TR AR%®Tn AR%Tx
Trade receivables* BHREKHIE - - — 270,746 270,746
Finance lease receivables EhBERERE
— Normal** — IER* 8,990 — — — 8,990
Financial assets included i~ st ATBHHE R
prepayments and other H A fE W SRR R
receivables tREE
— Normal** — EE* 58,597 — — — 58,597
— Doubtful** — Al RE* — 40,555 — — 40,555
Financial assets included in =~ STAEHMIEREEE
other non-current assets MEREE
— Normal** — ER* 9,940 — — — 9,940
Restricted bank balances XBHRITEL
— Not yet past due — HARBH 20,701 — - — 20,701
Cash and cash equivalents  BREREELSEY
— Not yet past due — R B 153,582 - — - 153,582
Guarantees given to banks in LI FHE S EH
connection with facilities BE MR RT
granted to an associate REER
— Facilities not yet drawn by — B & (> ¥ 5 R iR EN
an associate HE & — 7,300 — — 7,300
— Facilities drawn by an —BECEDRERA
associate BE
— Not yet past due —mABH — 12,722 - — 12,722
Total Ch 251,810 60,577 — 270746 583,133
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2024 2024412 318

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end
staging (continued)

42.

42. BEEREEERRBEE)

R B £ PR R K B BR (48)

As at 31 December 2023 "2023F12A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
EREERR PHRHBEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AN F2R B 3B BlLA%E @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR AR®Tn ARET:R
Trade receivables* BHEMTIE" — — — 249,727 249,727
Finance lease receivables FEWRERERE
— Normal** — ER* 9,987 — — — 9,987
Financial assets included in 5t A8 FU8 |
prepayments and other Hit IR
receivables tREE
— Normal** — ER* 88,662 — — — 88,662
Financial assets included in ~ sTAEMERBEE
other non-current assets MEREE
— Normal** — R 13,786 — — — 13,786
Restricted bank balances SHHRTES
— Not yet past due — R 8 H 27,105 — — — 27,105
Cash and cash equivalents  BE&RELSEY
— Not yet past due — HAREH 139,674 — — — 139,674
Total @t 279,214 — — 249,727 528,941

* %

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, finance lease
receivables and other non-current assets are considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end
staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral.
managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical
region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group's trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different sectors
and industries.

Concentrations of credit risk are

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This
tool considers the maturity of both its financial
instruments and financial assets and projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank loans, lease liabilities and
other interest-bearing loans.

42.

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H
BEERREEEERBE (S

B B £ PR R R B ER ()

FRAEBEZRWAKEMELANEE
REHiE—FTELEBIE  EYBEFRERN
243 = o

MR AEEERERARE E%m%
=R MABBHERENR -
RRETHEF/HFFRRLE KRR
TENHERE - HARAEEE ZRIR
BENEPEEZOMN AR D BRITE
AEBEERRBNETRELAEE -

I:l/\

AEEXRAEELERDESFE TA
ERHESHEROER - WL TEEEE

HeMTARERMEENIIHER - A
LRIEHREREXRHNRAETRE -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. REKREEEERBEX(HE)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBEERR(E)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial AEENESREBENRSEREARKRRE
liabilities as at the end of each reporting period, ARMBARFTENIHBERDOT
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is
as follows:

As at 31 December 2024
R2024%12H31H
On Less than 3 to Over

demand 3 months 12 months 1 year Total
BEX 3AA  3E12{8AR BB1EF st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®T:R

Lease liabilities HEEBE — 6,767 20,743 160,333 187,843
Interest-bearing bank loans & & B {TE 3 &

and other borrowings Hiv g% — 31,811 206,929 49,455 288,195
Trade payables BHEMNFKE 126,818 — 3,017 3,022 132,857

Financial liabilities included 5T A H b JE 1 7018
in other payables and RIETERM
accruals tHEE 76,165 — — — 76,165

Total @t 202,983 38,578 230,689 212,810 685,060

As at 31 December 2023

72023124318
oy Less than 3to Over
demand 3 months 12 months 1 year Total
REX AR 3ENEA BiBE st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT

Lease liabilities HEER — 8,328 24,634 200,803 233,765
Interest-bearing bank loans it B FTEH K

and other borrowings Hihfa — 18,247 170,855 14,341 203,443
Trade payables B5 R TE 108,463 12,680 2,882 2,887 126,912

Financial liabilities included 5T A H b & 738
in other payables and REFERN
accruals tHEE 63,747 = = = 63,747

Total @t 172,210 39,255 198,371 218,031 627,867
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42.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is total debt divided by total equity. Total
debt includes interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings. Total equity represents equity
attributable to owners of the parent.

B ISR AR B EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H

2. I BEAREEEERBKR(E)

EXEHE
AEBEREENTIZANRRELRE
ERFBELENRN  THFBROER
R BUAXBEXRBERBERSRR
BE -

AEEEKLERANEERBEEE
WEBREHREEEEAERBERIELSA
ABRERNFREORE MBREERESR
REFEITHRG ° 8 E2024F12 4318
K2023FN2A3MBLEFE BEELAN
BR - BMEXABREYELIRITMNES -

AEEEREEABRL R (BERK
NiagEm) S RER - BEBREFR
RITERREMER - BEFET QT
BEAANEIGRED -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T N

Interest-bearing bank loans and AERITERK
other borrowings H iR 257,380 199,848
Total debt BIETS 257,380 199,848
Total equity 4 HE S 152,286 202,910
Gearing ratio BEEAGBLX 169.01% 98.49%

43. HEWREH
202412 A3NAZ R KB EAREHE -
AEBEMEBEEANMRER -

43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report, there was no material
subsequent event undertaken by the Group.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44. = E B AR OR &
OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial ARG R BERROTE AN K ER A
position of the Company at the end of the reporting ™
period is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARE Tt NG B
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EFBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REHBERATNKE 59,535 59,535
Equity investment designated EEEAFBEFA
at fair value through other Hit 2 E WA
comprehensive income f& & & 1,622 1,630
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 61,157 61,165
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary NG E @] 43,155 48,726
Prepayments and other receivables TE A FTE K E Ath fE YRR TE 18,761 18,459
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMkIReZEEY 1,687 1,010
Total current assets mEEERLE 63,603 68,195
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Amount due to a subsidiary JETBT B A A R IE 1,275 1,275
Interest-bearing bank loans and FREBRITERK
other borrowings E AR — 3,647
Total current liabilities RBBaFELE 1,275 4,922
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEERE 62,328 63,273
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERT B
LIABILITIES £ i 123,485 124,438
Net assets BEEFE 123,485 124,438
EQUITY &
Share capital N 3,391 3,391
Reserves (note) & (P 5E) 120,094 121,047
Total equity PR 123,485 124,438
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31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44, RN F) B RO &R ()

45.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B 3
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARFMHEREDNT :
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
Exchange through other
Share fluctuation ~ Accumulated comprehensive
premium reserve income income Total
RAFEFA
Hit2EREN
tREEL
ROEEE EXRHHE Rt AYERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTL ARETT ARBFT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A18 151,079 (3,912) (19,866) (19) 127,282
Final 2022 dividend declared BER002FRERKE (3,703) — — — (3,703)
Total comprehensive income FAZENE
for the year iR — — 3,088 (452) 2,636
Exchange difference on translation of A EHEHENER
financial statement =8 = (5,168) = = (5,168)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A318 &
1 January 2024 202417818 147,376 (9,080) (16,778) a7 121,047
Final 2023 dividend declared BEIR023F KGR E
Total comprehensive loss FREHEER
for the year BE - - (2,187) 186 (2,001)
Exchange difference on translation of ~ B EHKHRNER
financial statement 8 — 1,048 — — 1,048
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A318 147,376 (8,032) (18,965) (285) 120,094

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

March 2025.

45, #LEF B ®E

M MRN20255F3ANBEEFT S #E
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFMBRE

OPERATING RESULTS

EEXE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INGL-ESA AR%Tr ARETT ARETFR AR®TrR
Revenue U 5 966,816 919,684 917,570 885,539 763,808
Gross Profit EHM 115,262 74,144 129,987 126,587 117,247
(Loss)/Profit for the year £ R (& 1),/
i 7l (50,147) (80,950) 24,763 52,987 36,968
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BEKER
As at 31 December
M12A318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INGLES ARETr ARETr ARETFR AR®ETx
Non-current assets ERBEE 385,598 419,069 434,402 457,904 277,844
Current assets THEE 551,250 512,485 582,283 492,769 378,385
Total assets EERE 936,848 931,554 1,016,685 950,673 656,229
Non-current liabilites  JEREEE 184,488 169,441 187,455 202,130 19,356
Current liabilities mEaRE 531,542 482,270 459,750 388,683 303,192
Total liabilities EERE 716,030 651,711 647,205 590,813 322,548
Net current assets REBEETFE 19,708 30,215 122,533 104,086 75,193
Total assets less EEHAER
current liabilities RBaE 405,306 449,284 556,935 561,990 353,037
Net assets BEERHE 220,818 279,843 369,480 359,860 333,681
Capital and reserves BAR &
Share capital Pz A< 3,391 3,391 3,391 3,391 3,391
Reserves @1 148,895 199,519 280,206 280,334 245,061
152,286 202,910 283,597 283,725 248,452
Non-controlling FERER
interests 68,532 76,933 85,883 76,135 85,229
Total equity R 220,818 279,843 369,480 359,860 333,681
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